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Corporate Information
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Chairman’s Statement

ETRE®E

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the "“Directors”) of
Lotus Horizon Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “"Group”), | am pleased to present the annual
report of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 (the “Year” or
"FY2022").

The FY2022 was a difficult year for the Group. Affected by the
high building material costs and persistent adverse impacts of the
COVID-19, the Group's gross profit margin decreased significantly to
approximately 1.1% for FY2022. We have already implemented certain
control measures to reduce the impacts of these issues. It is expected
that the gross profit margin will improve in coming years when building
material prices become relatively stable. We believe that the industry
will recover gradually in coming years when residential and commercial
developments projects in Hong Kong resume its momentum.

Under the persistent challenges brought by COVID-19 and
uncertainties in the global market, the Group keeps prudent approach
on bidding new projects throughout the Year. As at 31 March 2022, the
outstanding value of our projects on hand decreased to approximately
HK$355.4 million from approximately HK$569.2 million, our historic
high, as at 31 March 2021.

Despite of the decline from the historic high, our backlog was still
at relatively high value as compared with those prior to last year. It
is expected that new projects with reasonable profit margins will be
awarded in the coming year. We will review our backlog periodically
and proactively seek potential opportunities for expanding the
business.

| would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere thanks to

our shareholders, business partners and customers, as well as our
management and staff for their utmost support.

Chu Kwok Fun
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 28 June 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

We are a subcontractor engaged in the provision of design, supply,
and installation services for facade works and building metal finishing
works in Hong Kong.

The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were successfully listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
"Stock Exchange”) on 15 April 2020 (the “Listing Date”) by way of
Share Offer (as defined in the prospectus of the Company dated 30
March 2020 (the “Prospectus”)) (the “Listing”).

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had 15 projects in progress with a total
original contract sum of approximately HK$625.6 million. Total revenue
of approximately HK$224.0 million was recognised during the FY2022.

The prolonged impact of COVID-19 continued challenging the
business of the Group during the Year. Stringent control on project
costs has been implemented by property developers and owners
since the outbreak of COVID-19. Fierce competition in the markets of
facade works and building metal finishing works sustained. In order
to maintain the quality of our projects with reasonable gross profit
margins, the Group kept taking a more prudent approach on bidding
new projects during the Year.

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

Although the numbers of COVID-19 infection cases in Hong Kong and
many other regions decreased, the economic impact of COVID-19
pandemic adversely persists. Anxious economic issues, such as high
commodity prices, inflation and supply chain bottlenecks, keeps
restricting the recovery of the global economy. We expect that our
industry would still suffer from higher building material costs and
overhead costs for a certain period of time onwards.

The Group has already implemented certain control measures to
reduce the impact of these issues. We will closely monitor the trends of
these issues and maintain sufficient financial resources to tackle rapid
changes of the market.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

miﬂjﬁnj’nﬁﬂ& *ﬁ'

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue
The table below sets forth an analysis of our revenue by the types of
services provided for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021:

B35 ElRE

e
TRBIBE-T-—ER-FT-—F=f
=+ AL ERAR R AL SIS fs
S -

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$'000 % HK$'000 %
FHET % FHT %
Facade works HNETHE 194,218 86.7 189,735 85.9
Building metal finishing works RSB IR 29,773 13.3 31,053 14.1
Total #Et 223,991 100.0 220,788 100.0

The Group's revenue slightly increased by approximately HK$3.2
million or 1.5% from approximately HK$220.8 million for the year ended
31 March 2021 (the “Previous Year” or "FY2021") to approximately
HK$224.0 million for the Year. The slight increase in revenue
recognised was primarily attributed to three facade projects with
relatively high contract sums which kick start during the Year, while the
progress of some ongoing projects was delayed under the persistent
adverse impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.

The table below sets forth an analysis of our revenue by sectors for the
years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021:

AEBHKREHEBEE-_Z-_—F=fA=+—8
HEE(TE—EE | ZB=-—FHHREE])
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TREWNHEE T _—_FR_T_—F=A
—t+—BHItFERRRIEI DS DT

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—HLEFE

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F

HK$'000 % HK$'000 %

FET % FAT %

Residential properties FEWE 136,376 60.9 94,331 427
Commercial properties [EE27ES 9,561 4.3 61,466 27.8
Public facilities DR 78,054 34.8 64,991 29.5
Total et 223,991 100.0 220,788 100.0
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWE DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Gross profit and gross profit margin
The table below sets forth an analysis of the amount of gross profit

B i@ (e
EXNRERER

TR EBEE_E-_—_FR-_F-—F=H

and the gross profit margin by types of services for the years ended 31 =+—HIEFEZRBELE DN ER B L
March 2022 and 2021: EMRDH
Year ended 31 March
HE=A=t—-HILFE
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
Gross profit Gross profit
margin margin
HK$'000 (%) HK$'000 (%)
EF=R EM=E
THET (%) TAT (%)
Facade works YIS T 52 1,860 1.0 39,375 20.8
Building metal finishing works RS EAETIE 613 2.1 10,998 35.4
Total mst 2,473 1.1 50,373 22.8

The Group's gross profit decreased by approximately HK$47.9 million
from approximately HK$50.4 million for the FY2021 to approximately
HK$2.5 million for the FY2022. The gross profit margin decreased
from approximately 22.8% for the FY2021 to approximately 1.1% for
the FY2022. The drop in gross profit margin was mainly resulted from
the combined effects of (i) the increase in project overhead costs and
subcontracting costs resulted from the delay in construction progress
and persistent adverse impact of the COVID-19 pandemic; (ii) a
substantial surge in market prices of building materials during the Year;
(i) additional costs incurred for acceleration of installation progress
and defects fixing during the completion stage of certain projects, so as
to compensate the impacts of delay in construction materials delivery
and other unexpected changes in construction plan as a result of the
COVID-19 pandemic; and (iv) decline in gross profit margins of certain
projects awarded during the Year and the Previous Year, as compared
with those awarded in prior years, due to fierce competition in the
facade works and building metal finishing works markets as a result of
the prolonged impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWE DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Gross profit and gross profit margin (Continued)

The table below sets forth an analysis of the amount of gross profit and
the gross profit margin by sectors for the years ended 31 March 2022
and 2021:

B # B B ()

EXNRERNEGE)
TRENEBEEZFT_—_FR=_T=_—F=H
=+ HBULFERFRNSS>NEFSEREF
RO

Year ended 31 March
BE=RA=1+—HLEE

2022 2021

—E-CF —E-—F
Gross profit Gross profit
margin margin
HK$'000 (%) HK$'000 (%)
ER=E ESVIIES
FHET (%) FHET (%)
Residential properties FEWHE (3,715) (2.7) 18,568 19.7
Commercial properties [SEZ/ES (192) (2.0) 11,535 18.8
Public facilities DRI 6,380 8.2 20,270 31.2
Total 1a@st 2,473 1.1 50,373 22.8

The gross profit margins of residential properties projects and
commercial properties projects decreased from approximately 19.7%
and 18.8% for the FY2021 to approximately -2.7% and -2.0% for the
FY2022 respectively. The negative gross profit margins of residential
properties projects and commercial properties projects recognised
in the FY2022 were mainly resulted from changes to estimated total
budgeted contract costs of those projects due to abovementioned
adverse impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic during the Year.

As disclosed in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group recognises revenue from provision of design, supply and
installation services progressively over time using input method
based on the proportion of total contract costs incurred at the end of
reporting period compared to the estimated total budgeted contract
costs to complete the contract when control of the goods or service
is transferred to the customer. Since the measurement of the revenue
relies on estimations of total budgeted contract costs, changes to
estimated total budgeted contract costs could give rise to material
variances in the amount of revenue and thus the gross profit margin
recognised.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

MEEJEH—J-HH& *ﬁ'

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Other income, gains and losses, net

During the FY2022, we recognised other income of approximately
HK$508,000 as compared with other income and gains, net of other
loss, of approximately HK$1.7 million recognised during the FY2021.
The amount recognised in the Previous Year was primarily arising from
a one-off lump sum government subsidy of approximately HK$2.5
million under the Employment Support Scheme, partially net off by the
loss on write-off of property and equipment.

Net impairment losses (recognised) reversed under
expected credit loss model

The amounts represent impairment losses, net of reversal, made
on trade receivables and contract assets. The Group recognised an
impairment loss of approximately HK$6.7 million in respect of the
entire balance of trade receivables and retention receivables due from
a customer during the Year. The impact has been partially net off by
the net impairment losses reversed for non credit-impaired lifetime
expected credit loss of approximately HK$163,000 for the Year.

The Group recognised impairment losses for expected credit loss on
trade receivables and contract assets of approximately HK$159,000
and HK$320,000 respectively, net of the reversal of impairment loss on
a contract asset recognised in prior year of approximately HK$480,000,
resulting in net impairment losses reversed of approximately HK$1,000
for the FY2021.

Operating and administrative expenses

Operating and administrative expenses include staff costs, depreciation
and amortisation, marketing and promotion expenses, travelling, office
and utility expenses, legal and professional fees and other expenses.
For the FY2022, the Group's operating and administrative expenses
were approximately HK$22.4 million, representing a decrease of
approximately HK$1.5 million or 6.4% from approximately HK$23.9
million for the FY2021. The decrease was mainly attributable to
decrease in staff costs recognised as operating and administrative
expenses of approximately HK$0.9 million, and the decrease in repair
and maintenance expenses of approximately HK$0.6 million after the
relocation of the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong in the FY2021.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWE DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Finance costs

Finance costs comprise interests on bank borrowings and interests
on lease liabilities. The former refers to the interest cost incurred for
borrowings raised from banks while the latter refers to interest portion
included in the lease payments under the leases of renting office
premises and office equipment for operating uses. For the FY2022,
the finance costs were approximately HK$0.7 million, decreased by
approximately HK$0.3 million from approximately HK$1.0 million for
the FY2021. The decrease in finance costs was due to the decrease
in interests on bank borrowings by approximately HK$0.2 million and
the decrease in interests on lease liabilities by approximately HK$0.1
million.

Listing expenses
The Group incurred professional services fees in respect of the Listing
of approximately HK$1.3 million the FY2021.

Income tax credit (expense)

The Group's income tax credit for the FY2022 comprise over-provision
of Hong Kong profits tax in prior year of approximately HK$42,000 and
deferred tax credit of approximately HK$3.9 million (FY2021: income
tax expense comprising provision of Hong Kong profits tax for FY2021
of approximately HK$4.4 million, partially net off by deferred tax credit
of approximately HK$225,000). The deferred tax credit in the FY2022
is mainly attributed to the deferred tax asset of approximately HK$3.8
million recognised for the unused tax loss carried forward.

(Loss) profit and total comprehensive (expense) income for
the year

As a result of the foregoing factors, the Group's net loss for the Year
was amounted to approximately HK$22.7 million, compared to the
Group's net profit of approximately HK$21.7 million for the Previous
Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

MEEJEH—J-HH& *ﬁ'

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had net current assets of approximately
HK$118.0 million (31 March 2021: approximately HK$163.9 million).
The current ratio of the Group calculated based on the Group's total
current assets divided by total current liabilities as at the end of the
reporting period was approximately 4.0 times as at 31 March 2022 (31
March 2021: approximately 6.8 times).

The Group finances its operations primarily through a combination of
cash flows generated from operations, bank borrowings and the Share
Offer. The decrease of current ratio and bank balances were primarily
attributable to the net loss for the Year.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had bank balances and cash of
approximately HK$46.1 million (31 March 2021: approximately HK$72.9
million).

Bank borrowings

As at 31 March 2022, the maximum limit of the banking facilities
available to the Group amounted to approximately HK$95.0 million,
out of which an aggregate amount of approximately HK$28.1 million
was utilised for bank borrowings and performance guarantees.

The gearing ratio of the Group, calculated based on the Group’s
total bank borrowings divided by total equity and multiplied by
100%, was approximately 16.1% as at 31 March 2022 (31 March 2021:
approximately 2.8%).

The Group has adopted a prudent approach in financial resources
management. In the management of the liquidity, the Group continues
to monitor and maintain adequate cash and cash equivalents as well as
banking facilities to finance the Group's operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The increase of gearing ratio was
primarily due to the increase in bank borrowings during the Year and
decrease in total equity resulted from net loss for the Year and a final
dividend paid for the FY2021 during the Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE (Continued)

Capital structure

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to the
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.
There has been no change in the capital structure of the Company
throughout the Year.

Pledge of assets

As at 31 March 2022, the pledged bank deposits of approximately
HK$10.8 million (31 March 2021: approximately HK$18.5 million) have
been pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group and
surety bonds of an aggregate balance of approximately HK$7.1 million
(31 March 2021: approximately HK$10.5 million) given by banks.

As at 31 March 2022, the lease liabilities of approximately HK$7.2
million (31 March 2021: approximately HK$9.0 million) are secured by
rental deposits with carrying values of approximately HK$0.7 million (31
March 2021: approximately HK$0.7 million).

Foreign exchange exposures

The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong and is exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with
respect to certain procurement of raw material with Renminbi. Foreign
exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions, recognised
assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the
group entities’ functional currency. The Group however considers that
the currency risk of those monetary liabilities is not significant and did
not engage in any derivatives agreements and did not commit to any
financial instrument to hedge its foreign exchange exposure during the
Year. The management of the Group will monitor foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWE DN

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE (Continued)

Capital expenditure

Our principal capital expenditures relate primarily to investments in
property and equipment excluding right-of-use assets. During the Year,
the Group incurred capital expenditure of approximately HK$102,000
(FY2021: approximately HK$6.2 million).

Capital commitments and contingent liabilities

The detailed information of performance guarantees of the Group as
at 31 March 2022 is set out in Note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements. Save as disclosed in Note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements, there is no other capital commitment and contingent
liabilities that the Group is aware of.

Significant investments, acquisition and disposals

There were no significant investments held, acquisitions or disposals
of subsidiaries and affiliated companies by our Group during the
reporting period.

Future plans for material investments and capital assets
Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and in this annual report, the
Group did not have other plans for material investments or capital
assets as at 31 March 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWE DN

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM SHARE OFFER

The Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on
the Listing Date, with net proceeds received by the Company from
the Share Offer in the amount of approximately HK$78.2 million (“Net
Proceeds”) after deducting underwriting commissions and all related
expenses. As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 30
October 2020 in relation to the change in use of Net Proceeds, to allow
the Group to meet its financial needs more efficiently and flexibly, the
Board resolved to change the use of the unutilised Net Proceeds. As
at 31 March 2022, the Company has fully utilised the Net Proceeds.
Set out below is the reallocation of the use of Net Proceeds and the
utilised amount of Net Proceeds as at 31 March 2022:
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in the of Net tothe 31 March during 31 March  the remaining
Use of Net Proceeds Prospectus Proceeds  reallocation 2021 the Year 2022  Net Proceeds
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Funding the Upfront Costs to be incurred after the 452 114 5.6 1.8 (11.8) - NA
Listing Date for the Awarded UOP Projects TEm

REMRHEMAFE SRR (BH) ARNAHRE
BE

Being used as collateral for the Performance 8.8 - 8.8 - - - NA
Bonds to be issued for the Awarded UOP @R
Projects
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Strengthening our teams of professional staff in 1.7 - 1.7 68 (6.8) - NA
Hong Kong NEm
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Establishing in-house system design team in the 114 (114) - - - - N/A
PRC EH

R BRI A R SRA B

Purchase of the rights to use BIM solution and 1.1 - 1.1 02 (0.2 - N/A
enterprise resources Software TNEHR
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Management Discussion and Analysis

MEEJEH—J-HH& *ﬁ'

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had 54 (31 March 2021: 64) full time
employees (including two executive Directors but excluding three
independent non-executive Directors). The decrease in the number
of employees was mainly attributable to the decrease in the number
of project staff. The Group has implemented a tight cost control
and adjusts the number of project staff based on the progress and
expected workload of our construction works and the expected
completion dates of work projects. The number of administrative staff
was relatively stable as at 31 March 2022 and 2021.

The remuneration package offered to employees includes salary
and other employee benefits such as bonus. In general, the Group
determines the salaries of its employees based on their individual
performance, qualifications, experiences and position held. The Group
conducts annual salary and promotion review in order to attract and
retain employees. In addition, the Group provides and organises
various types of training to its employees to elevate overall efficiency,
employee loyalty and morale. Total staff costs for the FY2022 were
approximately HK$34.7 million (FY2021: approximately HK$32.3

million).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, the Board is not
aware of any significant events, which have material effect on the
Group, occurred after 31 March 2022 and up to the date of this report.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERSRNEEEBREFE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chu Kwok Fun

Mr. Chu Kwok Fun, aged 51, is our executive Director, Chairman, Chief
Executive Officer, and one of our Controlling Shareholders. Mr. Chu
has been the sole shareholder and the sole director of ICGL Technical
Works (HK) Limited (“ICGL (Hong Kong)") since its incorporation on 4
May 2007. Mr. Chu was appointed as a Director on 14 November 2018
and was redesignated as an executive Director on 19 September 2019.
Mr. Chu is primarily responsible for the overall management, strategic
planning, and development of our business operations. Mr. Chu is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

Mr. Chu has over 24 years of work experience in construction project

management.

Mr. Chu graduated from Hong Kong Polytechnic (presently known
as The Hong Kong Polytechnic University) with the higher diploma in
structural engineering in October 1992.

Mr. Tsang Chiu Wan

Mr. Tsang Chiu Wan, aged 63, is our executive Director. Mr. Tsang
joined us as a general manager of ICGL (Hong Kong) in February 2011.
He was appointed as a Director on 24 May 2019 and was redesignated
as an executive Director on 19 September 2019. Mr. Tsang is primarily
responsible for supervising, managing, and overseeing the day-to-day
operation and administration of our business operations. Mr. Tsang is a
member of the Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Tsang has more than 28 years of experience in business
management.

Mr. Tsang graduated from The University of Hong Kong with a
bachelor’'s degree of social sciences in November 1981.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERSREEEBREFE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Leung Yin Fai

Ms. Leung Yin Fai, aged 57, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 5 March 2020. Ms. Leung is the chairlady of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of both the Audit Committee
and the Nomination Committee.

Ms. Leung has over 27 years of experience in accounting and corporate

services.

Ms. Leung has been a director of K E Corporate Services Limited (a
company secretarial services provider) since April 2016, the managing
director of K E Management & Consultancy (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. since
August 2015. Ms. Leung was an independent non-executive director of
Green Leader Holdings Group Limited (Hong Kong Stock Code: 0061)
from April 2014 to January 2020 and was a director of KCS Hong Kong
Limited from August 2008 to October 2014.

Ms. Leung has been an associate member of Hong Kong Society of
Accountants (presently known as The Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the "HKICPA") since September 1990, a fellow
member of The Chartered Association of Certified Accountants
(presently known as The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants) in the United Kingdom and CPA Australia since July 1995
and May 2004, respectively. Ms. Leung obtained a master’s degree of
commerce in international professional accounting from The University
of New South Wales, in November 2002.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERSRNEEEBREFE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(Continued)

Mr. Ma Tsz Chun

Mr. Ma Tsz Chun, aged 56, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 5 March 2020. Mr. Ma is the chairman of the
Audit Committee and a member of both the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee.

Mr. Ma has over 34 years of experience in accounting and finance
matters.

Mr. Ma is an independent non-executive director of Chinese Estates
Holdings Limited (stock code: 127). He was an independent non-
executive director of In Technical Productions Holdings Limited (stock
code: 8446) from 19 May 2017 to 11 May 2022.

Mr. Ma graduated from Hong Kong Polytechnic (presently known as
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University) with a professional diploma
in accountancy in November 1987. Mr. Ma then obtained a master’s
degree of business administration and a master’s degree of science
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 1997 and
December 2003, respectively. In October 2009, Mr. Ma obtained a
master’s degree of science in China business studies from The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr. Ma has been an associate member and a certified public
accountant (practising) of Hong Kong Society of Accountants (presently
known as the HKICPA) since September 1990 and October 2000,
respectively. Mr. Ma has been an associate member in October 1990
and subsequently a fellow member of The Chartered Association
of Certified Accountants (presently known as The Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants) since November 1995.

BIAFHTEE W)

BREEE

EREEE 5o RTZE-_EF=-ATAE
LTARBYIIRITES - FEEAERZES
FEARHFHEESMEREZEEKE -

BRERGT MU B EHREBAFER -

BEEREABESEBE(RMAR - 127) 8
BYFRITES - BFR_Z—+FRA TN
HEZZ == H A+ — H &In Technical
Productions Holdings Limited ( i 7 X 5% :
8446) VB FFHAITES ©

BERER—NWNEF+—AETEEIER
(EBEAEIARB)BEE  EHEIESHX
BBt BARESIR—NANEF+=ZA K
—EE=F+ - AERBEPNARERBIZE
IBIETEMNBEELTEN - FAER-ZZE
NE+REEAEIASHNSTREEEER

ST B -

BRESFB-—NMNBFNAR_ZEZTF+
ARKATBEHNAEE B RANESFE -
SREDHNE-ANTFTAR-—AAEF
T ARERKARBEFARSITNAES

BREFREE -

BHRBEBRERERAR /| —E__FFRK



20

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERSREEEBREFE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(Continued)

Ms. Yuen Wai Yee

Ms. Yuen Wai Yee, aged 48, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 5 March 2020. Ms. Yuen is a member of both the
Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee.

Ms. Yuen has over 24 years of work experience in corporate finance,
accounting, and company secretarial matters.

Ms. Yuen graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a
bachelor’'s degree of arts in accountancy (honours) in November 2004.
Ms. Yuen then obtained a master's degree of business administration
from Heriot-Watt University, a university based in Edinburgh, Scotland,
the United Kingdom in November 2010. Ms. Yuen has been a member
and a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants since November 2003 and November 2008, respectively,
and a certified public accountant of HKICPA since April 2004.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Mo Wan Fai

Mr. Mo Wan Fai, aged 59, joined us as a senior manager of ICGL (Hong
Kong) on 22 September 2011 and was promoted as a senior manager
(tender and procurement) of ICGL (Hong Kong) on 1 January 2019. Mr.
Mo is responsible for tendering, preparing claims, managing contracts
with subcontractors and project budgeting.

Mr. Mo has over 39 years of work experience in project planning,
project estimation and management in construction industry.

Mr. Mo graduated from Hong Kong Polytechnic (presently known
as The Hong Kong Polytechnic University) with a higher certificate in
building studies in November 1990. Mr. Mo also obtained a bachelor’s
degree of applied science, construction management and economics
from Curtin University of Technology in February 2004.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERSRNEEEBREFE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Mr. Phua Chau Yuen

Mr. Phua Chau Yuen, aged 38, joined us as a project manager of ICGL
(Hong Kong) on 1 November 2012 and was promoted as a senior
project manager of ICGL (Hong Kong) on 1 January 2019. Mr. Phua
was further promoted as the assistant general manager of ICGL (Hong
Kong) on 1 January 2022. He is responsible for the overall coordination
and management of assigned projects, including project design, site
supervision, and completion for our facade works projects.

Mr. Phua has over 16 years of work experience in construction projects
management.

Mr. Phua graduated from City University of Hong Kong with an
associate’s degree of science in construction engineering and
management and a bachelor’s degree of engineering (honours) in
building engineering (structural and geotechnical engineering) in
November 2005 and February 2010, respectively.

Ms. Siu Lai Kwan Candy

Ms. Siu Lai Kwan Candy, aged 63, has been appointed as the head
of human resources department of ICGL (Hong Kong) since October
2018. Ms. Siu is responsible for overseeing the human resources
matters of the Group.

Ms. Siu has over 20 years of supervisory work experience in office
administration and human resources matters, specialise in the fields of
property development, construction and architecture.

Ms. Siu graduated from formal secretarial training institute after
secondary education. She obtained a diploma in people management
from Hong Kong Productivity Council and a bachelor’s degree of
property and facility management from International City University of
America in April 2002 and December 2004 respectively.

SREERE @)

BIRSTE

SBMORLAE 385 M- ——F+—A—8
MABRMEELEEE(RS)EELE IR
—E-NEF-A-—HEABLELEEE) S
MIBELIE - BRER_TE-_—_F—A—H#
—SEAALEEE(EE)REEDE - 1A
ECHERBERRBGERERE  BIEIME TR

THEMIEERGT EBEEINET -
BEARBLERERE I EEEAR16F TIEL
%ﬁ °
FBEEERBBRTMAEBEE DR _ZTZTR
F+—AR—E—ZEF_ANBESFEL
(BRETRNEES)BNNBATRESLET
B+ (FEERLT HTR)EMN -

BEELL

BEELLT B BA-ZE—N\ETAREZR
ThELELE(FB)ANBRBIEE - BL

TEEEEAKENANERER

%ﬁiﬁ%@lﬁﬁ&Aﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁ@%ﬁ
BOFER TIEER  ERIXUFRER
K JR SR o

BETRDBYE % BER ERUB B
5 - OB - BR M ARG ESLEN
REBAFERXBERN-FEMESF= A
DEERERAT AR ERRHE RS LS

fiL °

BHRBEBRERERAR /| —E__FFRK

21



22

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERSREEEBREFE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Ms. Lee Pui Ling

Ms. Lee Pui Ling, aged 57, has been appointed as the head of
purchasing department of ICGL (Hong Kong) since 27 June 2011.
Ms. Lee is responsible for the co-ordination of purchasing orders of
building materials, maintaining business relationship with suppliers and
overseeing the operations of the purchasing department.

Ms. Lee has over 35 years of work experience in purchasing and
logistics management. She has worked as a purchaser in the
international procurement operation division of LG Electronics HK
Limited for more than 12 years, responsible for handling global
purchasing orders for its headquarters and coordinate logistics of
those orders.

Ms. Lee obtained a diploma in logistics management from Hong Kong
College of Technology in August 2010.

Mr. Yeung Kin Wa
Mr. Yeung Kin Wa, aged 37, joined us as a consultant in July 2020 and
was appointed as the chief financial officer, the company secretary
and an authorised representative of the Company on 23 December
2020. Mr. Yeung is responsible for overseeing financial and compliance
matters of our Group.

Mr. Yeung is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since March 2013 and has more than 13 years
of experience in auditing and accounting. He obtained a bachelor’s
degree of business administration in accountancy from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University in October 2008. From August 2011
to December 2012, Mr. Yeung has been a senior accountant in the
assurance department of Ernst & Young and has been an accountant in
the corporate team of Chevalier International Holdings Limited (stock
code: 0025) from March 2013 to September 2015. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Yeung worked as the financial controller of Lake Chong
Fa Catering Group Limited, a group operating restaurants serving
Chinese cuisines in Macau.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Yeung Kin Wa was appointed as the company secretary of our
Company on 23 December 2020. He is mainly responsible for financial
management, corporate governance and overall corporate secretarial
matters of our Group. Details of his qualifications and experience are
set out in the paragraph headed “Senior Management” above.
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Directors’ Report

EEGHRE

The Board is pleased to present this annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year (the
“Consolidated Financial Statements”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 35 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements. There were no significant changes in the nature
of the Group's principal activities during the Year.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

Details of segment reporting are set out in Note 5 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review and outlook of the Group for the Year are set out
in the sections headed “"Chairman’s statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 6 to 16 of this annual report.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries during the Year are set out in
Note 35 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page
100 of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the Year (2021: a final dividend of HK$20.0 million (equivalent to HK
cent 1.0 per Share)).
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EEGHRE

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Company's forthcoming annual general meeting (the
"AGM") will be held on Wednesday, 17 August 2022. A notice
convening the AGM will be published in the Company’s website of
www.lotushorizonholdings.com and despatched to the shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”) in the manner as required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”) in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday,
12 August 2022 to Wednesday, 17 August 2022 (both days inclusive)
during which period no transfer of Shares will be registered. In order
to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, unregistered holders
of Shares shall ensure that all transfer documents accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited,
at Level 54 Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen'’s Road East, Hong Kong for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 11 August 2022.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's operation is subject to social, political, economic, and
market risks, which may affect the competition and profitability of
projects in facade works and building metal finishing works industry.
Furthermore, the projects undertaken by the Group are awarded on a
project-by-project basis through tendering; failure to obtain continuity
of the order book for new projects could adversely affect the Group's
financial performance. Revenue from a few of the Group's customers
accounted for a substantial portion of the Group's revenue; inability
to retain business relation with and/or secure sufficient new business
from them may materially affect the Group's operation and financial
performance.
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EEGHRE

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 188 of this annual
report. This summary does not form part of the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property and equipment of the Group
during the Year are set out in Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

DONATIONS
The Group made charitable donations of approximately HK$57,000

during the Year.

SHARE CAPITAL

The Company’s total issued share capital as at 31 March 2022 was
2,000,000,000 ordinary Shares of HK$0.01 per Share.

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in Note 24 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

DEBENTURES

The Company did not issue any debenture during the Year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the Year are
set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 102
of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE OF THE COMPANY

Please refer to Note 34 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for
details of the Company’s distributable reserve as at 31 March 2022.
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EEGHRE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date of
this annual report are:

Executive Directors
Mr. CHU Kwok Fun (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. TSANG Chiu Wan

Independent non-executive Directors
Ms. LEUNG Yin Fai

Mr. MA Tsz Chun

Ms. YUEN Wai Yee

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a contract for
appointment with the Company for a term of three years commencing
from the Listing Date of the Company, unless terminated by notice
in writing served by either party on the other in accordance with the
service contract.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed an
appointment contract with the Company for a period of three years
and is subject to termination provisions therein.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, including those to be
re-elected at the forthcoming annual general meeting, has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received annual confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to the
Listing Rules. The Company considers the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than the appointment contracts and employment
contracts, concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Year.
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DISCLOSURE OF DIRECTORS' INTEREST IN
SECURITIES

Interests and short positions of Directors and chief executive
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations

As at 31 March 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required (i) to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO) or (ii) to be entered into the register required to be kept
therein, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or (iii) to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the model code for
securities transactions by Directors of the Listing Rules, were as follows:
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Number of

Shares held/ Percentage of

Name of Director Capacity/Nature of Interest interested  shareholding
Es e 2]

EEpE 510 REnitE EEROEE FRESL

Mr. Chu Kwok Fun Interest in controlled corporation (Note) 1,500,000,000 75.0%
REE A RiEEE R () (Long position)

(#FR)

Note: These Shares are registered in the name of Platinum Lotus Holdings Limited, which
is legally, beneficially and wholly-owned by Mr. Chu. Under the SFO, Mr. Chu is
deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Platinum Lotus Holdings Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company has any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) which were required (i) to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and/or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or (i) to be entered
into the register required to be kept therein, pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, or (iii) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the model code for securities transactions by Directors.
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DISCLOSURE OF DIRECTORS' INTEREST IN
SECURITIES (Continued)

Interests and short positions of the substantial shareholders
and other persons in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations
As at 31 March 2022, so far as it is known to the Directors, the following
entities (not being a Director or chief executive of the Company) had
or were deemed to have interests in shares or underlying shares which
(i) were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO, or (ii) which would fall to be disclosed
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and the
Listing Rules or, (iii) who will be, directly or indirectly, be interested in
10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings.

EENESTHNESEE®

FERRREMALTRAERATREHEEE
BHRG HEROREEZPFNERR
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Number of
Shares held/ Percentage of
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of Interest interested  shareholding
i #E
EEHE B RmtE EEROEE BRED
Platinum Lotus Holdings Limited Beneficial owner (Note 1) 1,500,000,000 75.0%
BaER AP (Long position)
(FE)
Ms. Dai Wing Yi Marjor Interest of spouse (Note 2) 1,500,000,000 75.0%
kR Be B (K FE2) (Long position)
(FFE)
Notes: PRE -
1. The shares are held by Platinum Lotus Holdings Limited, the equity interest of which 1. & 7 B Platinum Lotus Holdings Limited#F 48 + H&

is owned as to 100% by Mr. Chu Kwok Fun. Mr. Chu Kwok Fun is deemed to be
interested in all the shares held by Platinum Lotus Holdings Limited for the purpose
of Part XV of SFO.

2. Ms. Dai Wing Yi Marjor is the spouse of Mr. Chu and is deemed to be interested in
all the Shares which Mr. Chu is deemed to be interested in by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, the Directors have not
been notified by any entity who had interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company as recorded
in the register required to be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO,
or which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

During the Year, there were no connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions of the Company as defined under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules which are required to comply with any of the
reporting, announcement or independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements under the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed under the “Related Party Disclosures” in Note 27
to the Consolidated Financial Statements, there were no transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance, to which the Company,
any of its subsidiaries, its parent company, or its parent company’s
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or any entity
connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly
and indirectly, subsisted as at 31 March 2022 or any time during the
Year, nor was there any other transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance in relation to the Group's business between the Company
or any of the Company'’s subsidiaries and a controlling shareholder of
the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

During the Year, no transactions, arrangements and contract of
significance for the provision of services to the Group by a controlling
shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries were made.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, every Director
shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in
or about the execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in
relation thereto.

The Company has maintained appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance in respect of legal actions against them arising out
of corporate activities and such permitted indemnity provision for the
benefit of the Directors currently in force.

ESRERRRREARS - &8
HENWER

MAFEHRE - ARFLEET EHRAE
VAEMRENBEIFHHERERS -
BT EWARRETOEMBR  AERBL
PRERHLERRTE o

Briz A B SRR W sE27 P [ BEEE 28 | FTi
BEN RZBE__F=ZA=+—HIAFE
TR EERETFEART  HEAHMBA
A HEARREFARNHB AR AEAR
5 TR — T MESNEEEHEE
MEEREFEESMEREEEAELZR  AAX
NG ZNCIEE S RN =PNCTDIY 3NN b2
RS BB AR L AR EEEKE
BT AEMERRS « THERAL -

RAFEEIE - SUER AR B AR S E
BRAMASBRHERBETEARS - &5
KETLEH) ©

BERFRERX

REARFHASERAR  BSRESHEERK
RETBRESAEMERBE MR AAHEE
BHMEBRARABRARRAEETESH

=
g °

ARARERBEZRITBRABRERARBEEM
ELZERRLESENRTRR  MAE
FROM R M E OB AE R R E FROCRIE AR -

BHRBEBRERERAR /| —E__FFRK

29



30

Directors’ Report

EEGHRE

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

For the FY2022, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group's
largest supplier and the five largest suppliers in aggregate accounted
for approximately 28.2% and 50.1% (2021: approximately 29.2% and
47.9%). Revenue attributable to the Group's largest customers and the
five largest customers in aggregate accounted for approximately 23.7%
and 75.3% (2021: approximately 19.8% and 65.7%) respectively of the
Group's total revenue for the Year.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, none of the Directors, their
associates or any Shareholders who are interested in more than 5%
of the issued share capital of the Company had any interests in the
Group's five largest suppliers or customers.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND
SUBCONTRACTORS

Employees

Our Group considers our employees as the key to sustainable business
growth and also recognises them as valuable assets. Further, in light
of the shortage of skilled labour in the local construction industry, it
is crucial to maintain a competitive remuneration package and fringe
benefits for our potential and existing employees. In this regard,
the Group provides comprehensive remuneration package which
includes salary, discretionary bonuses and other cash subsidies to
attract, motivate and retain appropriate and suitable employees to
serve the Group. In general, our Group determines employee salaries
based on each employee’s qualifications, experiences and position
held. Our Group has designed an annual review system to assess the
performance of our employees, which forms the basis of our decisions
with respect to salary raises, bonuses and promotions. Our Group
also provides on-the-job training and development opportunities to
enhance employees’ career development and learning.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND
SUBCONTRACTORS (Continued)

Customers

Our Group believes that we have maintained a close relationship with
our major customers. Besides, it is our priority to work with reputable
customers, which in turn can create more opportunities to undertake
sizeable projects. Working with these customers can allow us to secure
future business opportunities with them and bolster our job reference.

Besides that, our Group has no intention to limit ourselves to serve
our major customers and, with our presence in the industry, our Group
believes that we are able to extend our services to other customers.

As such, our Group is of the view that, despite the customer
concentration, our business model is sustainable.

Suppliers and Sub-Contractors

Our Group has developed stable and strong working relationships
with suppliers and sub-contractors to meet our Group’s customers’
needs in an effective and efficient manner. The Group works closely
with the suppliers and sub-contractors to make sure the tendering,
procurement and sub-contracting are conducted in an open, fair and
just manner. The Group’s requirements and standards are also well
communicated to them before the commencement of projects.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group's operations at work sites are subject to certain
environmental requirements pursuant to the laws of Hong Kong. The
laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the Group
include, among others, Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311
of the Laws of Hong Kong), Noise Control Ordinance (Chapter 400 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), and Waste Disposal (Charges for Disposal of
Construction Waste) Regulation.

In order to comply with the applicable environmental protection
laws, we had implemented measures to mitigate the environmental
impacts arising from air emissions, waste disposal, noise and resource
consumption. Apart from complying with the environmental protection
policies formulated and required by our customers, we have also
established our own environmental management policy to assure
proper management of environmental protection and compliance
of environmental laws and regulations by both our employees and
workers of the subcontractors on, among others, air pollution, noise
control and waste disposal. During the Year, we did not incur any
material costs on environmental compliance.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the Year, as far as the Board and the management are aware,
there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable
laws and regulations by the Group that has material impact on the
business and operation of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that was publicly available and within the
knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual report, the
Company has maintained the prescribed minimum public float for its
shares as required under the Listing Rules throughout the Year and up
to the date of this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

No purchase, sale or redemption of the Company’s listed securities
was made by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors or the controlling shareholders of the Company
nor their respective close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules)
is interested in a business apart from the Group's business which
competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with the Group's
business during the Year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the normal
course of business by the Group are set out in Note 27 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements, and none of which constitutes a
connected transaction as required to be disclosed as defined under
the Listing Rules.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES
AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

During the Year, the Group did not have any significant investment
held, any material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and
associated companies.
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Directors’ Report

EEGHRE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) on 5 March 2020. The terms of the Share Option Scheme
are in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules. The main purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to motivate
employees to optimize their performance efficiency for the benefit
of the Company, to attract and retain best available personnel, to
provide additional incentive to employees (full time or part time),
directors, consultants, advisers of the Group and to promote success
of the business of the Group. Details of the Share Option Scheme are
disclosed in Note 26 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

No share options were granted, cancelled, exercised or lapsed under
the Share Option Scheme since its adoption date and up to the date of
this report.

Share options may be exercised at any time during a period as the
Directors may determine which shall not exceed ten years from the
date of grant.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of shares
available for issue under the Share Option Scheme was 200,000,000,
representing 10% of the entire issued share capital of the Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report relating to the Share Option
Scheme, no equity-linked agreements were entered into for the Year.

BANK BORROWINGS

Bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2022 were approximately
HK$21.0 million (2021: approximately HK$4.9 million).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the memorandum
and articles of association of the Company or the Companies Laws of
the Cayman lIslands, which would oblige the Company to offer new
Share on a pro-rata basis to the existing shareholders of the Company.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Details of the retirement benefit scheme are set out in Note 25 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.
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EEGHRE

REMUNERATIONS OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the remunerations of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals are set out in the Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the Group
are determined by the Remuneration Committee of the Company with
reference to their relevant qualifications, experience, competence
and the prevailing market conditions. None of the Directors waived or
agreed to waive any emoluments during the Year.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

Remuneration Committee is set up for reviewing the Group’s
emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors
and senior management of the Group, having regard to the Group's
operating results, individual performance of the Directors and senior
management and comparable market practices.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as incentive to
eligible employees, details of the scheme are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme”.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five highest paid
individuals are set out in Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements. Details of the remuneration of senior management by
band are set out in Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Details of the retirement benefit scheme are set out in Note 25 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining the highest standard of
corporate practices. Information on the corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out in the section headed “Corporate
Governance Report” on pages 36 to 51 of this annual report.

DISCLOSURES UNDER RULES 13.20 TO 13.22 OF
THE LISTING RULES

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had no circumstances which would
give rise to a disclosure obligation under Rule 13.20 to 13.22 of the
Listing Rules.
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Directors’ Report

EEGHRE

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee of the Company (the
“Audit Committee”) pursuant to a resolution of the Directors passed
on 5 March 2020 with written terms of reference in compliance with
Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code") contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Audit
Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors: Mr.
Ma Tsz Chun, Ms. Leung Yin Fai and Ms. Yuen Wai Yee. Mr. Ma was
appointed to serve as the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are, among other things,
to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of external auditor, review the financial
statements and provide advice in respect of financial reporting,
oversee the financial reporting process, internal control, risk
management systems and audit process, and perform other duties and
responsibilities assigned by the Board.

The Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the
Year have been reviewed by the Audit Committee on 28 June 2022.
The Audit Committee is of the opinion that the consolidated financial
statements of the Company for the Year comply with applicable
accounting standards, the Listing Rules and that adequate disclosures
have been made.

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu has acted as the auditor of the Group for
the Year. The Consolidated Financial Statements have been audited
by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, who shall retire in the forthcoming AGM
and, being eligible, will offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution for
their re-appointment as auditor for the coming year will be proposed
at the forthcoming AGM.

By order of the Board

Chu Kwok Fun
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 28 June 2022
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Corporate Governance Report
TRERKE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Company is committed in achieving a high level of corporate
governance standard. The Board believes that good corporate
governance standards are essential in providing a framework for the
Company to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders, enhance its
corporate value, formulate its business strategies and policies, and
enhance its transparency and accountability.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles and relevant code provisions as set out under the CG Code
contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. To the best of the
knowledge of the Board, the Company has complied with the CG
Code throughout the Year except where otherwise stated.

On 1 January 2022, the amendments to the Corporate Governance
Code (the “"New CG Code”) came into effect and the requirements
under the New CG code will apply to corporate governance reports for
financial year commencing on or after 1 January 2022. As the period
under review in this annual report is for the year ended 31 March
2022, the New CG Code does not apply to this corporate governance
report. The Board will continue to review and enhance the Company's
corporate governance policies to ensure compliance with the New CG
Code and align with the latest developments.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as a code of conduct of the Company
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific
enquiries of the Directors, all the Directors have confirmed that they
have complied with the requirements of the Model Code throughout
the Year.
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Corporate Governance Report
TRERKE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

As at the date of this annual report, the Board consists of five Directors
including Mr. Chu Kwok Fun (Chairman) and Mr. Tsang Chiu Wan as
the executive Directors and Ms. Leung Yin Fai, Mr. Ma Tsz Chun and Ms.
Yuen Wai Yee as the independent non-executive Directors.

There is a balance of skills and experience for the Board, which is
appropriate for the requirements of the business of the Company.
Biographical details are set out in the section headed “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.
There are no family or other material relationships among members of
the Board.

The Board meets regularly to discuss and formulate the overall
strategy as well as operation and financial performance of the Group.
The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”)
assists the Chairman in drawing the agenda of each meeting and each
Director may request inclusion of matters in the agenda. All Directors
have access to the Company Secretary who is responsible for ensuring
that Board procedures are complied with and all applicable rules and
regulations are followed.

Pursuant to Code Provision A.1.1 of the CG Code (which has been
re-numbered as code provision C.5.1 of the New CG Code since
1 January 2022), the Board should meet regularly and regular board
meetings should be held at least four times per year. Additional
meetings would be arranged if and when required. Directors
may participate either in person or through electronic means of
communications.
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TRERKE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Board Composition (Continued)

The attendance record of each Director at the board meeting and
board committee meetings held throughout the Year is set out in the
table below:

BE20)

BEEREAR(E)
SREEHERAEERTNESCEERE
EZEBCEFNTHINTE

Attendance/Number of meetings

HEEE, KERY
Board Audit Remuneration  Nomination General
Meeting Committee Committee Committee meeting
EZEE3 2 ENZEE FMZREe  REZEE RRAE
Executive Directors TES

Mr. Chu Kwok Fun REIEE A 4/4 - = 171 11
Mr. Tsang Chiu Wan LRGSR 4/4 - mn - 17

Independent Non-executive BV FH{TES

Directors

Ms. Leung Yin Fai RREELL 4/4 3/3 11 171 11
Mr. Ma Tsz Chun BRELE 4/4 313 171 11 17
Ms. Yuen Wai Yee REGLT 4/4 3/3 1 - 17

During the Year, the Board has at all times met the requirements of
rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive Directors with at least
one independent non-executive Director possessing appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise. The Company has three independent non-
executive Directors and all of the independent non-executive Directors
have appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The three independent non-executive Directors represent more
than half of the Board, the proportion of which is higher than what is
required by Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules whereby independent non-
executive directors of a listed issuer must represent at least one third
of the board. The Board believes there is sufficient independence
element in the Board to safeguard the interest of Shareholders.

LOTUS HORIZON HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022

RAFEHE  EH5e—BHETEMHAAE
30N K30 BB EZEE V> =RBIIE
WITEEREFED—ZBUIEPITEEMA
EBEENEEER KNS XEENTBHE
BERMNER - ARRB=-ZBUIERITE
£ MAEBUIERTERHEERENEE
Bi%  NBESEENTBERER o

ZERBUFATEELHZRN —FNEEENE
A HPIE T LT AR B 58 3. 10A IR AT AR TE 1
ABC BRE - EMBETANBIULIFATES
AILEREGEL=Nz—KEAB - EZEH
5 EF2H BB IEARERIRA R o



Corporate Governance Report
TRERKE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Board Composition (Continued)

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed an
appointment contract with the Company for a period of three years
and is subject to termination provisions therein and provisions on
retirement by rotation and re-election of Directors as set out in
the memorandum and articles of association of the Company (the
" Articles”).

The Company has received written confirmation from each of
the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his/her
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all
independent non-executive Directors are independent.

The Board takes the responsibility collectively to oversee all major
matters of the Company, including the formulation and approval of all
policy matters, overall strategies, internal control and risk management
systems, and monitor the performance of the senior executives. The
Directors have to make decisions objectively in the interests of the
Company. To oversee particular aspects of the Company'’s affairs, the
Board has established three board committees, including the audit
committee (the "Audit Committee”), the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) and the remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) (together, the “Board Committees”).

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for ensuring
a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and providing
a balance in the Board for bringing effective independent judgement
on corporate actions and operations, and are invited to serve on the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Board Composition (Continued)

The Board has delegated to the management, consisting of executive
Directors along with other senior executives, the responsibilities
for implementing the strategy and direction adopted by the Board
from time to time and conducting the day-to-day management and
operations of the Group.

The Board has delegated to the Board Committees the responsibilities
as set out in their respective terms of references. Further details of
the Board Committees are set out in the sections headed “Audit
Committee”, “Nomination Committee” and “Remuneration
Committee” below.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Chu Kwok Fun (“Mr. Chu"”) is the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company. Pursuant to code provision A.2.1 of
the CG Code (which has been re-numbered as code provision C.2.1
of the New CG Code since 1 January 2022), the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should not be performed by the same individual.
Taking into account Mr. Chu has held the key leadership position of
our Group and has been deeply involved in the overall management,
strategic planning and development of our business operation since
its establishment, the Board considered that the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer being performed by Mr. Chu enables more
effective and efficient overall business planning, decision making and
implementation thereof by the Group.

Mr. Chu also takes the lead to ensure that the Board works effectively
and acts in the best interest of the Company by encouraging the
directors to make active contribution in the Board's affairs and
promoting a culture of openness and debate.

The Board is of the view that although Mr. Chu is both the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer, the balance of power and authority
under the present arrangement will not be impaired and this structure
will enable our Company to make and implement decisions promptly
and effectively.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “"Board
Diversity Policy”) which sets forth the objective and approach to
achieve diversity on the Board in order to enhance the effectiveness
of the Board. The Board Diversity Policy provides that the Company
should endeavour to ensure that the board members have the
appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
that are required to support the execution of our business strategy.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Company seeks to achieve
board diversity through the consideration of a number of factors,
including but not limited to professional experience, skills, knowledge,
gender, age, cultural and education background, ethnicity and length

of service.

When identifying potential candidates to the Board, the Nomination
Committee and the Board will, among others, (i) consider the
current level of representation of women on the Board and senior
management when making recommendations for nominees as well as
succession planning to the Board of Directors and senior management;
(ii) consider the criteria that promotes diversity by references to
the code of practices on employment published by the Equal
Opportunities Commission from time to time; and (iii) communicate the
Board Diversity Policy to the Nomination Committee and encourage a
cooperative approach to ensure diversity on the Board.

The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to implement
the Board Diversity Policy and review such objectives from time to
time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the progress made
towards achieving those objectives.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy
annually to ensure its continued effectiveness.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) which sets out the criteria and process in the nomination and
appointment of directors of the Company, aims to ensure that the
Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the Company and to ensure the Board's continuity
and appropriate leadership. The Nomination Committee shall
identify candidates who are qualified/suitable to become a member
of the Board and to make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of candidates nominated for directorships. The selection
of candidates will be based on a range of selection criteria as set out
in the Nomination Policy, including but not limited to, character and
integrity, qualification, potential contributions the candidate can bring
to the Board in terms of qualifications, skill, experience, independence
and gender diversity, the candidate’s willingness and ability to devote
adequate time to discharge duties as a member of the Board.

For the appointment of directors, the Nomination Committee will first
identify individual(s) suitably qualified to become board members
and assesses the independence of the proposed independent non-
executive director(s). Then, the Nomination Committee will make
recommendation to the Board for the Board to consider, having regard
to the Board Diversity Policy and the Nomination Policy. The Board will
confirm the appointment of the suitable candidate or recommend the
candidate to stand for election at a general meeting of the Company.
The candidate(s) who is/are appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the Board will be subject to re-election
by Shareholders at the general meeting after initial appointment in
accordance with the Articles.

For the re-appointment of directors, the Nomination Committee
will also consider the retiring directors based on the Board Diversity
Policy and the Nomination Policy, and assess the independence
of independent non-executive Director(s) before the Nomination
Committee makes recommendation to the Board to consider. After
the Board considers each retiring director, the Board will recommend
the suitable retiring director(s) to stand for re-election at the annual
general meeting in accordance with the Articles. The Shareholders will
approve the re-election of directors at the annual general meeting.

The Nomination Committee shall review the structure, size,
composition (including skills, knowledge, experience and length
of service) of the Board on a regular basis at least annually and
diversity of the Board to ensure that it has a balance of expertise,
skills and experience and diversity of perspective appropriate to the
requirements for the business of the Company.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has set up a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
with an aim to strike a balance between maintaining sufficient capital
to develop and operate the business of the Group and rewarding the
Shareholders. According to the Dividend Policy, in deciding whether
to propose a dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the
Board shall take into account the results of operation, cash flows,
financial condition, future business prospect, and other factors as the
Board may deem appropriate at such time.

The declaration and payment of dividend by the Company is also
subject to any constitutional documents of the Company and the
Companies Laws of the Cayman Islands, any applicable laws, rules
and regulations and the Articles. The declaration and payment of
future dividend under the Dividend Policy are subject to the Board's
determination that the same would be in the best interests of the
Group and the Shareholders as a whole. The Board will review the
Dividend Policy from time to time and may exercise at its sole and
absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify the Dividend
Policy at any time as it deems fit and necessary.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
OF DIRECTORS

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes
in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure
that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.
Every newly appointed Director has received formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment to
ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of the Company and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities and
obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.
Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

All Directors have participated in continuous professional development
such as a director training lesson organised by qualified professionals
during the Year to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills in
relation to their contribution to the Board.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Records of the training received by the respective directors are kept by
the Company.

The individual training record of each director received for the Year is

summarised below:

EENEEEEXZRH®)

BEESERINEIIREIRFRART]

EEFRAFEES NS IER st
™

Attending seminar(s)/
forum(s)/programme(s)/
conference(s) relevant to the business
or directors’ duties

FRHERERREEREEEN
Name of director BEENR e WwiE S BRE e
Mr. CHU Kwok Fun KEELE 4
Mr. TSANG Chiu Wan DEAME ST v
Ms. LEUNG Yin Fai RHFIBL A v
Mr. MA Tsz Chun SRS AE v
Ms. YUEN Wai Yee REFELZL v

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules
and the CG Code. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are,
among other things, to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, reappointment and removal of external auditor, review
the financial statements and provide advice in respect of financial
reporting, oversee the financial reporting process, internal control, risk
management systems and audit process, and perform other duties and
responsibilities assigned by the Board. The terms of reference of the
Audit Committee are available at the Company’s website and on the
website of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Ma Tsz Chun, Ms. Leung Yin Fai, and Ms. Yuen
Wai Yee. Mr. Ma Tsz Chun currently serves as the chairman of the Audit
Committee.

During the Year, the Audit Committee held three meetings and
performed the following works:

(@) reviewed the Group's financial statements for the relevant
periods;
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Audit Committee (Continued)

(b)  reviewed the changes in accounting standards and assessed their
potential impacts on the Group's financial statements;

(c)  reviewed the Group's internal control system and related matters;
and

(d)  considered and made recommendations on the re-appointment
of the external auditor of the Group, and the terms of
engagement.

The Company’s annual results for the Year have been reviewed by the
Audit Committee.

There had been no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing
Rules and the CG Code. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee are to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals, make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
package of our Directors and senior management and ensure none of

Directors determines his/her own remuneration.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are available
at the Company's website and on the website of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited.

The Remuneration Committee consists of four members, namely Ms.
Leung Yin Fai, Mr. Tsang Chiu Wan, Mr. Ma Tsz Chun and Ms. Yuen
Wai Yee. Ms. Leung Yin Fai currently serves as the chairlady of the
Remuneration Committee.

The remuneration of the Directors and senior management is
determined with reference to the responsibilities, workload, the
time devoted and the performance of the Group. The Remuneration
Committee also ensures that no individual will be involved in
determining his/her own remuneration.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee has held one meeting
for reviewing the remuneration packages of the executive Directors
and independent non-executive Directors and other related matters.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Remuneration Committee (Continued)

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code (which has been
re-numbered as code provision E.1.5 of the New CG Code since 1
January 2022), details of the remuneration of the senior management
(other than Directors) by bands for the Year are as follows:

BEEZEEH)

YMESE(H)

BB ZEATATAIEYEBISK(E-T
& A AREFEEANCEE AT
TG EENSK)  BREEE(EEH
INRAE RGN EER S OFMHEERT -

Number of

employee(s)

EE A"

Not exceeding HK$1,000,000 ANEE3E1,000,00078 7T 4
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001%8 7T 21,500,000/ 7T 1

Further details of the remuneration of the Directors and the 5 highest
paid employees are set out in Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board, assess the
independence of independent non-executive Directors, and select or
make recommendations on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available at
the Company’s website and on the website of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited.

The Nomination Committee consists of three members, namely Mr.
Chu Kwok Fun, Mr. Ma Tsz Chun and Ms. Leung Yin Fai. Mr. Chu Kwok
Fun currently serves as the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee has held one meeting
for reviewing the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors, considering the qualifications of the retiring directors
standing for election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company, reviewing the structure, size, composition and diversity of
the Board and reviewing the Board Diversity Policy and the Nomination
Policy.

The Nomination Committee considered that the non-executive

Directors are independent and the aforesaid policies have been
maintained up to the date of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code (which has been re-numbered as
code provision A.2.1 of the New CG Code since 1 January 2022).

As at the date of this annual report, the Board has reviewed the
Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training
and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the Company'’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance with the
Model Code, and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this corporate governance report.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITY
IN RESPECT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year in
accordance with statutory requirements, the Listing Rules and
applicable accounting standards. The Directors are not aware of any
material uncertainty that may cause significant doubt upon the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern.

The statements of the independent auditor of the Group about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of
the Group are set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages
93 to 99 of this annual report.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu has been appointed as the external auditor
of the Company. For the FY2022, the remunerations paid or payable to
the external auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu in respect of its audit
services are approximately HK$1.1 million. There was no remuneration
for non-audit services.
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COMPLIANCE ADVISER

The Company appointed Innovax Capital Limited as our compliance
adviser pursuant to Rule 3A.19 of the Listing Rules. Pursuant to
Rule 3A.23 of the Listing Rules, the compliance adviser will advise the
Company in the following circumstances:

(1)  before the publication of any regulatory announcement, circular
or financial report;

(2)  where a transaction, which might be a notifiable or connected
transaction under the Listing Rules, is contemplated by the
Group, including but not limited to share issues and share
repurchases;

(3)  where the Company proposes to use the proceeds of the Share
Offer in a manner different from that detailed in the Prospectus
or where our business activities, developments or results
deviate from any forecast, estimate, or other information in the
Prospectus; and

(4)  where the Stock Exchange makes an inquiry of the Company
regarding unusual movements in the price or trading volume of
the Shares.

The term of this appointment of the compliance adviser commenced
since the Listing Date and is expected to end on the date on which
the Company complies with Rule 13.46 of the Listing Rules in respect
of the financial results for the first full financial year commencing after
the Listing Date and such appointment may be subject to extension by
mutual agreement.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board has the responsibility to maintain effective internal control
systems and risk management in order to safeguard the Group's assets
and investments and the Shareholders’ interest and conduct a review
on an ongoing basis annually. The Board acknowledges that such
internal control systems and risk management are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives
and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. The Board conducted review of the
effectiveness of the internal control systems and risk managements
of the Company in respect of the Group's financial, operational,
compliance controls and risk management functions through the effort
of the Audit Committee.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

During the Year, the Group engaged an external consultant (the
“Consultant”) to review the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control system, who worked closely with the Group to identify
risk components and risk owners in different aspects through interviews
with and workshops provided to the Group’s management. Also, the
Consultant assisted the Group to evaluate the adequacy of the existing
mitigation plans. Last but not least, findings and recommendations
resulting from the review were reported to and discussed with the
Audit Committee and the Board, and the Consultant concluded that
no significant area of concern that may affect the financial, operational,
compliance control and risk management of the Group has been
identified.

The Board has the overall responsibility to maintain the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programs and
budget of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function
and the Board had reached the conclusion that the Group’s internal
control systems and risk managements were in place and effective.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is responsible for, among others, ensuring
that Board policies and procedures are followed. All Directors have
access to the Company Secretary’s advice and services. The Company
Secretary undertook no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training and complied with all the required qualifications, experience
and training requirements of the Listing Rules for the Year.

INSIDE INFORMATION POLICY

The Group has adopted a policy on disclosure of inside information
with the aim to ensure the insiders are abiding by the confidentiality
requirement and are fulfilling the disclosure obligation of the inside
information.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders and potential investors is essential for enhancing
investor relations and understanding of the Group's business,
performance and strategies. The Company has adopted the
shareholders’ communication policy with the objective of ensuring
that Shareholders and potential investors are provided with ready,
equal and timely access to balanced and understandable information
about the Company (including the financial performance, strategic
goals and plans, material development, governance and risk profile).
The Company also recognises the importance of timely disclosure of
information, which will enable Shareholders and potential investors to

make the informed investment decisions.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains
the website of www.lotushorizonholdings.com; where up-to-date
information on the Company's business operations and developments,
financial information, corporate governance practices and other
information are available for public access. Latest information of the
Group including annual and interim reports, announcements and
other corporate communications which will be sent to Shareholders
and/or published are updated on the websites of the Stock Exchange
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s website in a timely fashion.

The forthcoming AGM will be held on Wednesday, 17 August
2022. The notice of the AGM, setting out details of each proposed
resolutions and other relevant information, will be sent to Shareholders
at least 21 days before the AGM.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles, an extraordinary general meeting
shall be convened on the requisition of one or more Shareholders
holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one-
tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company having the right of
voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing
to the Board or the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

There are no provisions in the Articles or the Cayman Islands Company
Law for Shareholders to move new resolution at general meetings.
Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the Company
to convene a general meeting in accordance with the procedures set
out in the preceding paragraph. As regards proposing a person for
election as a Director, please refer to the “Procedures for Shareholders
to Propose a Person for Election as a Director” of the Company which is
posted on the Company’s website.

ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests to the Board
through the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at
21/F, Delta House, 3 On Yiu Street, Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong
(email: info@icgltw.com).

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change to the Company’s constitutional documents
throughout the Year. The Articles is available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RE  #HEREREHS

BOARD STATEMENT

Dear Stakeholders:

On behalf of the Board (the “Board”) of Directors (the “Director(s)”), |
hereby present to you the Environmental, Social and Governance (the
"ESG") Report (the "ESG Report”) for the year ended 31 March 2022,
providing an overview of the Group’s management on significant ESG
issues that have impacts on the operation.

The Board has always been committed to promoting sustainable
development and implementing ESG policies and measures across
departments continuously. The Board requires senior management
and external independent consultant to identify, monitor and review
ESG-related risk, and is committed to maintaining a high level of
corporate governance. We will lead our departments to implement
related policies and measures, and continuously optimise the Group's
sustainable development strategies and performance.

Stakeholder engagement is an indispensable part of sustainable
strategies. It helps us respond to existing and potential risks and
opportunities in the market, and it is also the basis for strategy
formulation and decision making. In addition to daily communication
with stakeholders, we conducted a materiality assessment and invited
major stakeholders to prioritise the identified issues in the form of a
survey to determine the most concerning ESG issues, thereby adjusting
resource allocation and formulating more appropriate policies and
measures to respond to the needs and expectations of stakeholders
and make this ESG Report more targeted.

The operational activities of the Group inevitably cause direct or
indirect environmental impacts and climate change. We advocate
waste reduction and improving the efficiency of resource use in our
business operations, based on the interests of stakeholders. The
Group has set clear short-term and long-term sustainable development
vision and goals to progressively achieve ongoing emission reduction
according to governmental requirements. In order to promote the
sustainable development of the Group, we continue to strengthen
our safety management system to ensure the safety and health of
our employees at work. We recognise the importance of managing
ESG impacts of the supply chain, protect the interests of the local
communities in which we operate, and ensure that all operating units
comply with local laws and regulations.

Looking ahead, the Group will adhere to the pursuit of a better society,
commit itself to the common prosperity of enterprises, society and
the environment, create a win-win situation for all stakeholders, and
continue to be a force for social stability and upward improvement.

Lotus Horizon Holdings Limited
Chu Kwok Fun
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

28 June 2022
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RE  -#HEREREHE

ABOUT THIS ESG REPORT

Lotus Horizon Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries

noou

(collectively referred to as the “Group”, “we"” or "us”) are delighted
to publish the third ESG Report to summarise the Group's policies,
measures and performance on the key ESG issues. This ESG Report

was reviewed and approved by the Board on 28 June 2022.

Reporting Period

This ESG Report covers the Group's policies and performance
regarding the environmental and social aspects from 1 April 2021 to 31
March 2022 (the “reporting period”).

Reporting Scope and Boundary

The information of this ESG Report covers the core and material
business of the Group, namely provision of design, supply, and
installation services for facade works and building metal finishing
works projects in Hong Kong, which are operated by our wholly-owned
subsidiary, ICGL Technical Works (HK) Limited (“ICGL (Hong Kong)"”)
and accounted for all of the Group's revenue during the reporting
period.

Reporting Basis and Principle

This ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”)
as set out in Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules. The Company has
complied with all “comply or explain” provisions set out in the ESG
Reporting Guide and followed the following reporting principles in the
preparation of this ESG Report: materiality, quantitative, balance and
consistency.

J Materiality
The Group determines ESG issues that are significantly important
by stakeholder engagement and materiality assessment. Details
are explained in the sections headed “Stakeholder Engagement”
and “Materiality Assessment” of this ESG Report.

BRARE 2R ERKRE
BREBEBERERAR([ERAT D RENEA
AI(AEE] [RMEDRATIEE=HRE
HEREARARE UL AEBEEHEEER
B oHEREABENBE BHERES -
RIRIE - e RERBRER_ZT__F-A
—t+NHELEHREZGEL -

wREEME

RIRIE - ERERBREREAEENR T
—_—FMNA—HBE_ZE-_—_F=ZA=+—H
(TREHE D) MRERESHFENEERE
R e

BREHERRR

ARE HENEARENEREAKEZ
D RERER  AAERBRMIME T2 MEE
TEHHE TR - HERLERY - Hi
BPNEEMB AR EEE(FE)ERLAR
(lEh@E/R &L WIEAKRERREHHED

ZERUES

AR N REA

AIRIF - & REIAME REKIR LR R 8%
ZHEHICGRE e RERREES)
([R% - HEREB|ERES DMEE - A0
ARmBARE e MEAREHCETR
B e MERREESITAA NETHE
BIRE  TERERATHRERE - E21% 8
b FEER—B -

- EEM
AEEBBFNESRREREFGE
EERABREEZUNRE HERLER
FE o FBRENARE e RER
SR EDE | M ER NG IS -

BHRBEBRERERAR /| —E__FFRK

53



54

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RE  #HEREREHS

o Quantitative
Information is presented with quantitative measure, whenever
feasible, including information on the standards, methodologies,
assumptions used and provision of comparative data.

o Balance
This ESG Report identifies the achievements and challenges
faced by the Group.

o Consistency
This ESG Report is the third ESG report of the Group. This
ESG Report will use consistent methodologies for meaningful
comparisons in the following years unless improvements in

methodologies are identified

The information contained herein is sourced from internal documents
and statistics of the Group, as well as the combined control,
management and operations information provided by the subsidiaries
in accordance with the Group's internal management systems. In the
event of contradiction or inconsistency between the Chinese version
and the English version, the English version shall prevail.

Feedbacks

The Group respects your view on this Report. Should you have any
opinions or suggestions, you are welcome to send to us via email to
the following address: info@icgltw.com.
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ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Board supports the Group’s commitment to fulfilling its
environmental and social responsibility and has overall responsibility for
the Group's ESG strategy and reporting. The Board oversees the ESG
strategies, policies, objectives and targets. The Board has delegated
the day-to-day responsibility of the implementation to the senior
management and department heads. Senior management advises and
supports the Board on ESG matters, strategies, policies, manage and
monitor ESG performance and targets. Departments implement ESG
policies and related initiatives. The Board regularly reviews the Group's
ESG performance and examines and approves the Group's annual ESG
report.

The Group, on the other hand, has noticed that there is a growth of
public awareness on ESG-related issues in recent years, therefore an
ESG Working Group has been established since 2020 to serve as a
bridge between the Group and its stakeholders to enhance effective
communication on ESG-related matters. The ESG Working Group
currently composes of members of the management and employees
from various departments, including the accounting, human resources,
company secretarial, administration, procurement and project
management departments.

Apart from the role of acting as the communication channel between
the Group and its stakeholders on ESG-related issues, the ESG
Working Group is also assigned to bear the following responsibilities:

o Follows and reports to the Board and the top management on
the ESG strategies and proposes ESG initiatives for achieving the
sustainability objectives;

o Engages and communicates with stakeholders for performing
materiality assessment and formulating ESG strategies and
initiatives;

° Coordinates with staffs for delivery of the ESG initiatives;
° Determines the Key Performance Indicators (“KPI1”) for
measurement of performance on aspects under ESG

requirements; and

o Monitors activities that affects the performance on aspects under
ESG requirements for on-going development and improvement.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group understands the concerns of its stakeholders through
day-to-day communications. Stakeholders’ opinions are the solid
foundation for the Group's sustainable development and success. They
help the Group to develop a business strategy that meets the needs
and expectations of stakeholders, enhance the ability to identify risk
and strengthen important relationships. The Group communicates with
its stakeholders through various channels, as shown below:

&SR
AEEEBAHERTRENENMIEE -
BHENERRAEETHERRRANHE
EHER - HEHARENTHARBERR
RIS O BT SRR + K238 IR B BE ) RS
BSEWE - AREEB TEARNEERER
BHERE

Stakeholders Communication Channel
Government and regulatory agencies o Annual reports, interim reports, ESG reports and other public
TR 2 B5 B s information
Fif - PEIWmE  RE A REARE REMARER
Shareholders and investors ] Annual general meetings and other general meetings of
RERKREE shareholders
BREBFAEREMBRAE
] Company website
NSIEEDA
o Press releases/announcements
R NE

o Annual reports, interim reports, ESG reports and other public

information

Fif - PHWRE  RE - A RERAREREMBAFER

Employees o Training
(=1=] =g
o Meetings
g%
o Performance evaluation
R
o Surveys
BRAL
J Staff engagements and voluntary activities
BT2HELETEE
o Intranet portal
A4

LOTUS HORIZON HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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Stakeholders Communication Channel
Customers o Email, phone, conferences
zF BH  BERFAHE
Suppliers/subcontractors/business partners . Email
g, DB, EBRE Bl
o Phone
Bk
] Conference
e
o Company visits
B IREH R A
o Discussion groups
A am/ N
o Questionnaires
B
Community and non-governmental ] Sponsorships and donations
organisations (NGOs) CEUYSE L

I 2 FEIURT 48 4% . ESG reports
B e REARE
U Community services
HE RS
MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT BEEMFME

In preparing this ESG Report, we engaged with different stakeholder

RREARE e hEARER

groups as part of the materiality assessment process to identify and  MEHERERN—35 @ BFALETRBMHEET

prioritise ESG issues to be covered in this ESG Report that have a
significant impact on the Group and stakeholders. The materiality

assessment process is as follows:

1. We compiled a list of ESG issues and grouped them into four
categories: Environment, Employment and Labour Practices,
Operating Practices and the Community.

2. An online survey was conducted to rate the importance of each
issue from the perspective of a stakeholder group and the Group,
using a scale of 1 to 5. A materiality matrix was developed based
on the scores of the survey, the threshold for materiality (i.e. at a
score of 3) was set and a list of ESG issues was prioritised.

BB AEBIARIRE e RERAWREFTRE
HASERFHEEKNERTENIRE 48
FERZRBUIETEN BEEUFEREN
T

1. FIRREIRE  HEREAREBREY
SR  RE - BRERSTER
LEEPINAE -

2. ETREERADT  HHEOHERAEE
MAEHSEZENEZHETITD
ﬁ”%ﬁﬁ%hﬁ?‘ BIBFAENEDE

DEE - REEZEMMREEEDI
77) WHIRE (B RERARBSEE
TEENX °

BHREBIERERAR / —EFFH

57



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RE  #HEREREHS

Management reviewed the materiality matrix and the threshold

for materiality. ESG issues, with a score of 3 or above from the

EEERIEEHRERENREEERIE -
KEFHERARENAENS - 830K

perspective of a stakeholder and the Group, were prioritised as NERRR - ERERBEGHTER
the most important ESG issues for the Group to address and REZMNRE  HEREREE  T~&%
report on. Ee @B RIILER -
Based on the materiality matrix, we believe the most pertinent ESG =~ EREEZHEME - MR BZBBEAIRE - 1
issues include the following: gNERERBEBRIEATRIA
7 N N [ N [ N N
Eg\élrorg?ii:?l Employment Staff Occupational Staff Development Customers’ Privacy
Co?nu liance Practices Health and Safety and Training and Confidentiality
giﬁcp A EE1E B BTHXERARZ 2 B TR ME BFE LB RRE
R i/f%/% aR
o N\ 2N 2N N _/
4 N ( N N N Anti-corruption )
Customer Safety of Services Quality of Services ! . WIS
) ) Business Ethics management and
Satisfaction and Products and Products g 2y g e -
SR =z 0O o 2\ [y — = oy
EPWEE R REMEZER R REmMEE %r@)%{%/%m
N AN AN AN A\ REAEN
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1 Air Emissions 10 Climate Change 19 Compliance with Regulations on
SREHERR RIREL Marketing, Products and Service

2 Greenhouse Gas Emissions 11 Employment Practices BFEH - EmMRBER
BEREEBEN TEREER 20 Customers’ Privacy and

3 Effluent Management 12 Diversity and Equal Opportunities Confidentiality
AKER R FERE B MR

4 Waste Management 13 Anti-discrimination 21 Customer Satisfaction
BEYEE FRIEAR BFEMEE

5 Energy Efficiency 14 Staff Occupational Health and Safety 22 Intellectual Property
BEIREE BTREREFERL S FIHBERE

6 Water Efficiency 15 Staff Development and Training 23 Safety of Services and Products
KRz BT #RNE R RERLE

7 Use of Raw Materials and 16 Prohibition of Child Labour and 24 Quality of Services and Products
Packaging Materials Forced Labour R¥E R EMEE
JRM R R BEAM R A RIEET REHIST 25 Business Ethics

8 Environmental Regulations 17 Responsible Supply Chain [EESEL

Compliance Management 26 Anti-corruption Training for
REEHER BEENHERER Management and Employees
9 Land Use, Pollution and 18 Environmental Friendliness on ERENMEENREFE

Restoration

THFA - IFRMIKIE

Products or Service Purchased 27 Contributions to the Society
B EEmSRBHNRERTE H G ERE
28 Communication and Connection
with Local Community

BE b [ OB A B
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SUBJECT AREA A: ENVIRONMENTAL

Policies

Our Environmental Policy demonstrates our commitment to deliver
our services with no significant and adverse impact on the environment
and to ensure that our operations are in compliance with the relevant
environmental requirements pursuant to the laws and regulations of
Hong Kong. It sets out the management approaches on air emissions,
wastes management, noise control and resources utilisation.

In addition, the Group advocates energy saving and carbon reduction,
and is committed to achieving sustainable operations. To this end,
we have set clear emission reduction targets, compared with the 2020
baseline, and strive to achieve the following targets:

J As heavy construction machineries, such as tower cranes, were
provided by the main contractors; therefore the Group was not
able to obtain relevant fuel consumption data for establishment
of air emission reduction targets. For lifting equipment we
leased, they only consume electricity and the impacts relating to
air emission are considered insignificant;

o Water consumption of office is not available as the related fee is
included in the rental fee, the Group is unable to obtain relevant
data from the owner of the office premise for the establishment
of water consumption reduction target. For installation works
at construction sites, water consumption records are managed
by main contractors. Therefore, the corresponding water
consumption data is not available;

o Reduction of energy consumption intensity (kilowatt-hour(s)
("kWh") per square feet (“sq. ft")) by 20% by 2027; and

o The major type of waste disposal of the Group is paper. We have
made our best effort to establish internal policies stating that
paper disposal are treated by recycling and paper disposed are
collected and handled by recycling service provider on a timely
basis. Therefore, we concluded that setting waste reduction
target is insignificant to our business operations.

All targets set on environmental KPIs will be reviewed and updated in
due time by the ESG Working Group and the Board.
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Compliance Information

Our projects are subject to certain environmental requirements
pursuant to the laws and regulations in Hong Kong, including but not
limited to Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws
of Hong Kong), Noise Control Ordinance (Chapter 400 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), and Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the Laws
of Hong Kong). Any non-compliance with these laws and regulations
may impose impacts on our business operations and financial
performance. The Group continues to improve our environmental
management process. During the reporting period, to the best of our
Directors’ knowledge, the Group was not aware of significant non-
compliance issues in this regard.

A1. Emissions

Air Emissions

Our business operations do not generate any significant air
emissions as we do not consume fossil fuel for equipment
for site installation works, and the Group does not own any
motor vehicle. In addition, the level of dust generated during
the installation process is insignificant and is not measurable
independently from other sources of air pollution at the
construction sites. Nonetheless, we are committed to reducing
air pollution by requiring our subcontractors to use electrical-
powered machines, such as scissor lift, cherry picker, boom lift,
and air compressor, during on-site installation so as to reduce the
level of air pollutant emission.

EREH
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Greenhouse Gas Emissions BEREEEN

In response to the community’s gradual concern on greenhouse REETREAEREB(RERE]
gas ("GHG") emissions, climate changes and other related W RIERECREMAREZREN H EE
issues, the Group has collected information to calculate the GHG T ARERREEHFAEHESERE

emissions generated from our operations.

HEHREREBHINE -

During the reporting period, the total GHG emissions were 34.72 REEHE  BERBHREER3T72
tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (tonnes CO,-e) resulting W -atmegs(l_atRxkes) &
in GHG emissions intensities of 0.004 tonnes CO,-e per sq. ft BRERBERBESNATTAR
and 0.64 tonnes CO,-e per employee, respectively. The GHG 0.004M8 —F LR E E X T2 EB0.641F
emissions were incurred from electricity consumption of our “EREE - BERBHRERS W
offices only. NEBNHEF

GHG Emissions’ for the year ended 31 March

BE=ZHA=1—HILFEBREREHFAL

Scope 12 [ —2
Scope 23 #HE 3
Total GHG emissions REREENAS
GHG emissions intensity & ZERIEHNEE

GHG emissions intensity  JAZERE

BHREE

Unit 2022 2021
By —®—_F —FF
tonnes CO,-e - -
WE—E(LIREE

tonnes CO,-e 34.72 34.89
WE—SUbiRE S

tonnes CO,-e 34.72 34.89
W —SE(LIREE

tonnes CO,-e/sq.ft* 0.004 0.0045
BE TR iE 2

tonnes CO,-e/employee® 0.64 0.55

BREEW_AIRE S

The Group will continue to record and disclose its GHG emissions AEBERBEECHTEFHBELRAER
annually. The Group will continue to refine the data collection BYWNE - AEEBEEREARREF
system and develop reduction strategy if appropriate based on WEBRTBATEHBERERS - WHIE
the projection of data in the coming years. SRR o
C The calculation of greenhouse gas emissions is made reference to the . BERBHIGIE2RAREREZRHKE
Guidelines to Account for and Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and TRERGAKEBREY(BE  TEXA
Removals for Buildings (Commercial, Residential or Institutional Purposes) in HEAR)MREREH R OZE MRS
Hong Kong published by the Environmental Protection Department, and the 13l URPEBENERATEMN _Z =
Electrical and Mechanical Services Department, the 2020 sustainability report ZEARFEEERS
published by the CLP Power Hong Kong Limited.
2 Scope 1 refers to direct emission from the business operations owned or 2 HE-—REANEEEEIIEHOEGSEE

controlled by the Group, such as emissions from fossil fuel burnt on site or

usage of the Group's motor vehicles.

R E BB - TE TR B L R R Bk
PSRBT T E RN

3 Scope 2 refers to “indirect energy” emissions from the internal purchased 3 HE_REASERNLBEEE ERELEN
electricity consumption by the Group. [P REIR IHERRL

< The total area of offices was approximately 9,557 square feet and 8,734 4 KRB —F=A=+—BER=ZT=_—F=
square feet as at 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021 respectively. R=+—H  BRELEES RIL /9,557 F

The figure was restated.

FR]8,734F R -
s HFresE -

6 The total number of employees was 54 and 64 as at 31 March 2022 and 31 & R ZF=A=+—HAR=T=—F=

March 2021 respectively.

A=1+—H ' ' BEIHEDFIA4ARAN °
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Waste Management

Either the main contractor or we will engage subcontractors
to handle the disposal of waste building materials during the
site installation stage. While handling the construction wastes,
we require our subcontractors to: (a) ensure the disposal of the
wastes at licensed landfill sites; (b) engage authorised or licensed
wastes collectors (including chemical wastes); (c) handle and store
waste in a secured manner to avoid pollution or contamination
by wastes; (d) maintain and clean waste storage areas regularly; (e)
refrain from littering on site (both on land or sea); (f) ensure waste
collectors to cover trucks with impervious sheeting or transport
waste in enclosed containers to minimise dust generation during
transportation; and (g) maintain trip tickets record.

The Group also encourages waste minimisation and recycling by
requiring responsible employees to (a) minimise over-ordering
and wastage of construction materials; (b) reuse glass panel
frame for transportation to reduce wooden box for packaging if
possible; (c) ensure works quality to avoid unnecessary repeated
works; (d) encourage suppliers to minimise/use recyclable
packaging; (e) return package materials to suppliers/other
organisations for reuse/recycle if possible; and (f) make use of
separate labelled containers provided by the Group for paper
and plastic to facilitate recycling of domestic solid waste in our
office buildings.

In general, the main contractors were responsible for arranging
waste disposal in the projects undertaken by us, and the Group
was responsible for the handling charges by way of contra-charge
or making direct payments. Therefore, we were not able to obtain
most of the data of waste disposal in our projects during the
reporting period. Nevertheless, we were responsible for handling
part of the construction waste generated from the project sites
as much as 1.63 tonnes, with an intensity of approximately 0.03
tonnes per employee® during the reporting period. To develop
proper waste disposal management, we have maintained waste
disposal records for projects that we are responsible for waste
disposal as well as summary of complaint records on waste
disposal.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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On the other hand, our business operations do not generate
hazardous waste due to our nature of business. We have closely
monitored the office paper recycled and reused, and computer
assets disposal (which included desktop computers and desktop
monitor being recycled). During the reporting period, there was
no computer assets disposal. Also, we encourage employees
to bring their plastic bottles back for recycling, as part of our
environmental-friendly initiatives. During the reporting period,
the details on the amount of waste generated and collected, as
well as their treatment are as follows:

H—hE - ARKRMANEHEE - B
MEBLETSEELEEEY - M=
PIEE SR O U R B A A e ik 2 P AR K B
BEMNRERBL(BER LERRIEER
WEEMER) - RIEHRE - RBELE
BMEERERN - WHN - ERIEFIRE
[EN—FD  BRAEEE THERR
HEERIKAA - RREHE - FEE
REENBENEREERMAT

Wastes Treatment Method Unit 2022 20217
&Y BRI B —E-CfF B
Non-hazardous waste
kEEEY
Office Paper Recycled or Reused tonnes 3.45 3.03
EENSEEGS (o] sk 551 A 7S
Plastic bottles Recycled tonnes 0.24 0.15
B =Y Mg
Total tonnes 3.69 3.18
H5T L7
Intensity tonnes per million

HK$ revenue? 0.016 0.014

&
it

FREET RS

During the reporting period, we have reduced approximately
16.67 tonnes of GHG emission through recycling. We will
continue to contribute on environmental sustainability and

gradually improve our waste management plan in future.

The figures were restated.
The total revenue of the Group in 2021 and 2022 were approximately
HK$220,788,000 and HK$223,991,000 respectively.
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A2.

Noise Control

The main contractors will apply the Construction Noise
Permit from the Environmental Protection Department for
the construction works involving (a) erection or dismantling of
scaffolding; (b) loading, unloading or handling of rubble wooden
boards, steel bars, wood or scaffolding materials; (c) hammering;
and (d) other works that create noise from 7:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m.
on weekdays and any time on Sundays and public holidays if
site installation works are needed to carry out on these days to
fulfil project requirements. In order to minimise noise pollution,
our Environmental Policy requires us and our subcontractors to
(a) select quiet plants whenever possible, for example, hand-
held tools such as drill, grinder and welding machine, for the
site installation works; (b) avoid performing noisy works during
the restricted days and hours; and (c) shut down plants and
machinery if they are not in use.

Use of Resources

Minimising the consumption of resources is one of the key
considerations in our operations. Energy consumption is mainly
derived from electricity consumption from our offices as we do
not consume fossil fuel in our operations. Water is supplied to
our office building by municipal water supply and we do not have
any issue in sourcing water. Our Directors consider that our water
consumption is minimal as most of our operations are conducted
at our offices, as compared to factories or other construction
companies. For installation works at construction sites, energy
and water consumption are managed by main contractors.
Therefore, the corresponding energy and water consumption
data are not available.

Energy Efficiency

As stated in our Environmental Policy, we implement measures to
reduce electricity consumption at sites including but not limited
to: (a) shut off mains-powered plant and equipment when not
in use; (b) select energy-efficient plant and equipment, and (c)
reduce non-essential load.

In the offices, we control our electricity consumption through
the following: (a) setting energy-saving mode for computers
where possible, (b) setting room temperature range from 20°C
to 25.5°C; and (c) switching off unnecessary lighting, and power

supply.

A2.
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During the reporting period, the total energy consumption was
93,840.00 kWh, resulting in energy consumption intensities of
9.82 kWh per sq. ft and 1,737.78 kWh per employee respectively.
The energy consumption was incurred by purchased electricity
consumption of our offices. Both the total energy consumption
of electricity and the intensity of energy consumption decrease
during the reporting period, as compared to last year.

Energy Consumption for the year ended 31 March

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - HERERERS

KR4 R - RERBEFEARE £ 93,840.00
TRE  BHEREEEEINAEET
FRO2TEMNEFHREE737.78FT
B o B RERFEERAETHEENS Y
e RIEHIM  EHRBREREER
EREHRERENR E—FEE I -

BZ2=F=1+—HI FEREEFEFE

Unit 2022 2021
By St T
Electricity Ehs kWhT ELEF 93,840.00 94,301.00
Total energy consumption eI HFERE kWh T EL B 93,840.00 94,301.00
Energy consumption BERHEMREEE kWh/sq.ft! 9.82 10.807
intensity BFARFREE
Energy consumption R ERERE kWh/employee® 1,737.78 1,473.45

intensity

The Group will continue to assess record and disclose our
energy consumption annually. We will continue to refine the
data collection system and develop reduction strategy during
the reporting period, such as requesting responsible persons
to perform checking regularly on computers to ensure energy-
saving mode is on if the computers are left idling for a certain
period of time; perform regular checking to all temperature
controls in office to ensure the energy efficiency initiatives are
properly implemented.

The figure was restated.
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Raw Materials and Packaging Materials

Aluminium, steel and glass are the major types of raw materials
for our operations. In view of the business nature of the Group,
there is no packaging material consumption by the Group.
To save the consumption of raw material and saving costs, we
implement the measures as follows, including but not limited to
(a) ensure materials are handled and stored in good conditions to
prevent deterioration and wastage; (b) ensure materials are not
over-applied; and (c) influence subcontractors to take away and

reuse surplus materials in the same or other projects.

A3. The Environment and Natural Resources

The major environmental impacts of our operations include air
pollution, waste management, noise and resource utilisation.
The significance of these impacts is identified and evaluated
according to legal requirements, environmental consequences,
and uses of materials and company concerns. We will assess
the implications and requirements of the environmental
protection laws and regulations and apply for necessary permits
(if applicable) to conduct its works. We have adopted several
measures for these environmental focus areas as mentioned in

the above sections.

To promote environmental protection in our operations, we
actively participate in green building projects. During the
reporting period, we continue to implement the Building
Information Modelling (“"BIM") software for two of our projects.
BIM software aids in sustainability as it enables users to study
design options by taking environmental viability into account,
the software also supports the function of Energy Analysis which
enables optimisation on the building structure for an energy-
efficient model. Looking ahead, the Group will consider making

use of BIM software for more construction projects if possible.

A3.
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A4. Climate Change

Climate change is one of the biggest global challenges faced by
the society nowadays, and we must act now to be prepared for
the impacts caused by climate change on our communities and
industry. In recent years, extreme weather, such as strong winds
and heavy rainfall, as well as tides and floods, have become
the focus of news. Logistics and supply chains are particularly
vulnerable. Heavy rainfall, rising tides, and floods can cause
serious damage to assets such as buildings, warehouses, and
goods in storage, resulting in financial losses.

In response to the Paris Agreement, the Hong Kong Government
issued the “"Hong Kong's Climate Action Plan”, and formulated
various plans and actions, setting out the vision of “Zero-
carbon Emissions, Liveable City, Sustainable Development”.
The government has determined to set medium-term goal as
halving Hong Kong's total carbon emissions from 2005 levels
before 2035, committed to achieve carbon neutrality by 2050. In
the context of the global transition to a low-carbon economy,
the Group has also identified potential risks associated with
regulatory, technological, market and reputational aspects
specific to the location in which we operate. We will integrate
these identified risks into our business strategy, integrate
assessment and its results into the business risk management
framework, and continuously and regularly update and identify,
assess and manage various risks.

The Group essentially plans to respond to local government
initiatives and follow local governments’ emission reduction
requirements. We aim to reduce emissions by around 10%
by 2027, compared with the 2020 baseline, and ensure the
Group’s greenhouse gas emissions target will comply with
the local requirements on or before 2030. We are committed
to continuously improving our energy efficiency, applying
professional knowledge to improve on-site efficiency and
maintain efficient management support, in order to safeguard
the Group's reputation.
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The COVID-19 pandemic has presented many new challenges
this year, but it has not changed our commitment to climate
action. The pace of change has expedited around the world,
underscoring the importance for us to accelerate its transition to

a low-carbon economy.

Action on Climate Change

Action on climate change is embedded in the Group’s business
strategy and reflected in the governance and management

processes of the Company.

Core element

BB - B RAE R PIERIRTT

BRAIMRAERGEESLUNERE -

FEHRARBLITE

ERIEAF o

The Group response

REF2019BERASRRBEERT HZ

B AGE o AR B R SR - R

EHRIEZ2ENTHERALRENE
BREEF  URBREARBNERRE

BOLEER REB MR
Governance o Setup ESG Working Group and regular meeting
Eh PRAERIR - g REARTIENEREHRITEH
o Integrate ESG topics (including climate-related issues) in

corporate decision making

BIRE  H e RELHEE(BRERIREMEE) MALFRE
Strategy J Identify risk and opportunities in low-carbon transition
KRS BAVE R A R R S

Risk Management
[ 38

ESG Working Group leading the Group to discuss and review
ESG risks

RS g kEa T MABEAEENmEEMRE el
EIaRR

Prepare for the transition to a low-carbon economy
ARAERR A B R O

Prepare and setup measures to physical climate risks
EHMGE L EBRIEARNER

Metrics and Targets
EEMBER

Establish GHG reduction targets so as to achieve net zero
emissions

HIERERBRIER  BRFTHN
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When developing these scenarios, the Group has identified a

series of climate-related risk and opportunities relevant to our

assets and services which are significant to us. These transition

and physical risks are discussed in the sections below.

Risks
BB

EHEZFIHRE - ARECDHE H—
EONBREMIEE KRS ERE B LM
MEEEEANRREERR LS -
ZEEE N BERRMREIA T SEF R o

Opportunities

3]

Short term (0-1 year)
HEHI(0ZR14F)

Physical risks from extreme weather
events

KEBHAREFNEBRER
Securing the skills and capability °
required to implement climate

strategy
FER B B IR SRS P AR RO I BE L BE )

New services to help communities
decarbonise

EH B) AL R B FT AR TS
Technologies to enhance the
performance of operations and
energy efficiency

AR R S L U

Medium term (5 years)

FHI(5F)

Transition risks — Implementation of e
low-carbon policies in the operation
BERR - REERBERBUR
Transition risks — Supply and demand
for certain commodities, products
and services may change as climate
related risks and opportunities are
increasingly taken into account
BIERM —FEE MR EZE B ER
RAEEH RS ETRm &
mA RS HF AT se g EZ L

Transitioning to low carbon economy
market to meet government
decarbonisation targets
AR BT HEE - LERBFH
AR B AR

Medium to long term
(5+ years)

hRE(5F A L)

Transition risks — Potential new o
regulations and policies

BERR —BERFERMBER
Transition risks — Development and
use of emerging technologies may
increase the operational costs, and
reduce the Groups' competitiveness
38R — BB il ) e 3 A AR AT
BERIEINE BN - W EREAG
7

Transition risks — the Group's
reputation may be impacted due to
changing customer or community
perceptions of said the Group's
contribution to or detraction from

the transition to a lower-carbon
economy

BERR—BERNEF IR EEER
RSB EA ) B BRSO B B A3
A8l - AEEBEAREE XS

By 48R
2a

Transitioning to low carbon economy
market to meet government
decarbonisation targets
AR BT HEE - LERBFH
AR B 1R

To work as a pioneer in the industry
and build up the relevant reputations

PARTTRA R 2 AR E
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Physical climate risks have the potential to damage the integrity
of the Group's assets or interrupt our service delivery and
customers directly. The Group has already setup a range of
measures in place to enhance the reliance of its operations,
including contingency plan for extreme weather or emergency.

Transition risks have the potential to increase the operational
costs and legal risks due to change of policy, technology
development, digitalisation, relevant risks affected to supply and
demand, and reputation due to public perceptions. The Group
has already identified the relevant risks and keep monitoring the
market and policy updates. The Group has also planned to invest
according to the market needs and take this as an opportunity for
long term development.

A series of measures have been adopted to put in place along
the Group's value chain to help the Company prepare for climate
events. These measures are deployed for different geographies,
taking into account the asset type, location and relevance. These
are summarised in the table below:

Relevant part of the value chain Relevant measures

ERARARTLEEAEEEENR
BEREETFERMANBHRARE
F o REEE TS B MAH B
BOAEY  BEERXALEAER
PR A B -

HRBRE(L - ZIMBER - HBL - F
EHFOHEERBRIANARZNEHD
BE - BRRERA A REE INEEKRAR
ERAR - AEECERIEERR - I
MBESRMERBRNOER - AKRETT
ERERETISHIETRE - LA
REBETRERR -

BMEAEEEBEER RN — R
e - A BN BRI RR =
e ERINEERL LB NAEBKL
ZERBIHH TR IE RS ETHE
LRERR TR

BEEENHEREES HERE

Supply chain Diversify material supply from multiple suppliers, sources and countries
ey BEZEMER  RRREK - EMEHES T

Operation Monitor and inspect assets regularly:

i THEREREEE

- Maintenance of a Contingency Plan for all facilities and projects
SAFTA Rt 08 B I E T &R

To address extreme heat and increased temperature:

eSS =R OB E ETHRRE

- Maintain cooling equipment in good conditions

REFS AR BBE N R AF IR

- Review working hours of workers and provide better working

environment to negotiate for lower insurance rates

BRTANTERE @ HETERR - BRERRENRREX

- Increase drinking fountains for employees and workers, if

possible

FERIREHIER T - REEM T ARHEE Z KK
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Relevant part of the value chain Relevant measures

BEERNERND HEEE
To address flooding risks:
PSR b -
Deploy anti-flooding measures suitable for the assets, including
drainage systems, flood gates and flood barriers, if necessary
MK - MEEEERCENIIRER - BREIPKES - BtR
P
Services Establish a typhoon response protocol and coordinating system,
PR % and conduct regular drills and post-typhoon reviews to ensure

smooth execution of contingency plans

I E R ELE T =AM G A - EHBEITRARMB R D - FE

RIESTARIEFBTT

- Enhance the communication capacity of customer services, in

particular post-incident customer communication

RIRFPRIGHBRES  BHIRFHELRNEFBR

SUBJECT AREA B: SOCIAL

Employment and Labour Practice

B1.

Employment

Policies

Staffs are one of the critical success factors in our vision and
ambition to hold a leading and reputable position in the industry
and society. The quality of our staff is a determining factor for
our success, and this holds for both technical and support staff
of all levels. Our Employee Handbook sets out the details on
dismissal, recruitment, promotion, working hours, rest periods,
diversity, equal opportunities and anti-discrimination. Our
Human Resource Management Policy outlines our management
approaches on recruitment, dismissal, remuneration, and other
benefits.

Recruitment, Promotion and Dismissal

The Group adopts the principles of fairness, impartiality and
openness, and recruits outstanding and suitable talents. Anyone
who has certain professional knowledge and who is passionate
about the work of the Group, who passes the assessment can
meet the requirements for employment, is welcomed to be part
of our family.
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The Group values the personal growth and progress of the
employee because the future of the Group depends on the
success of our employees. We provide employees with smooth
and sustainable career development. We value the professional
competence of our staff and use this as a professional
planner’s professional development to build a professional
team. The dismissal procedure strictly follows the related laws
and regulations in Hong Kong. In case of termination of an
employee, a letter should be issued to the employee based on
the contract terms and Hong Kong Labour Laws. The resigned
employee is required to return all the company’s properties
on the last day of employment. Human Resource Department
should use the “Collect and Return Checklist” to ensure all
items are received, and both the employee and the department
sign for acknowledgement. For the purpose of improvement of
Human Resources Management Policy, an exit interview will be
conducted for managerial grade employees, by the department
head to understand the reason for the resignation.

Remuneration and Compensation

To attract and retain talents, the Group offers a competitive
remuneration package with a variety of benefits, including but
not limited to salary adjustment, discretionary bonus, Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes, employee compensation for staff at
office and project site such as medical insurance for injured
worker, and education reimbursement.

Rest Period and Working Hours

All employees are entitled to public or statutory holidays
as announced in The Government of Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region Gazette each year, as well as reasonable
working hours and rest periods. In addition to those holidays,
employees are entitled to annual leave, sick leave, maternity/
paternity leave, etc.

Equal Opportunity, Diversity and Anti-discrimination

The Group is committed to provide a fair and equal working
environment for all employees, ensure employees are treated
equally in every aspect of their jobs. The Group recognises
and embraces the benefits of having a diversified workforce to
enhance the quality of its performance. Diversity is the value
incorporated in recruitment practices. We are committed to
providing a discrimination-free working environment. The value
of diversity, equal opportunities and anti-discrimination apply
to all aspects in employments, including but not limited to
recruitment, promotion, transfer, job assignment, rewards and
benefits, training and development, and suspension.
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Other Welfare and Benefits

To create a friendly and caring working environment to our
employees, we have carried out different staff activities to
cultivate self-confidence, sense of belongings and cohesion of
employees. However, as COVID-19 was running rampant during
the reporting period, we have cancelled some unnecessary
employee activities to reduce the risk of transmission, such as
team building lunch and dinner for site staff and project staff,
while some have resumed such as Annual Party. We understand
that employees might be experiencing difficulties under the
pandemic of COVID-19, the Group has offered welfares to ease
their concerns including but not limited to providing free rapid
antigen test kit, reimbursable COVID-19 testing, flexible working
hours, home office arrangements for employees feeling unwell,
early dismissal during festive period.

Compliance Information

The Group strictly abides by related laws and regulations,
including but not limited to Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57
of the Laws of Hong Kong), Employees’ Compensation Ordinance
(Chapter 282 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 480 of the Laws
of Hong Kong), Family Status Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter
527 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Race Discrimination Ordinance
(Chapter 602 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Disability Discrimination
Ordinance (Chapter 487 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and Minimum
Wage Ordinance (Chapter 608 of the Laws of Hong Kong). A
breach of these ordinances can result in civil and/or criminal
ramifications and significant impact on the Group's relationship
with its workforce. During the reporting period, to the best of our
Directors’ knowledge, the Group was not aware of any significant
non-compliance case in this regard.
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Our employee profile and employee turnover rate are as follows.

Employee Profile
As of 31 March'

Employee Turnover'
For the year ended 31 March

BPNEIHRRETIRAERMT -

R=A=+—HH HE=A=1t—-HLFEWN
BITHR™ BT RKkZn
2022 2021 2022 20217
—EB--F T —Eo—F T e
Number of  Number of
employees employees % %
BEAE BEAH
By Gender By Gender
gl RIER
J Male 42 47 e Male 31 27
5 e
o Female 12 17 o Female 37 19
z z
By Age Group By Age Group
RF MR BRERAER
J Below 30 7 15 o Below 30 53 25
30BRIA T 30BRA T
o 30-50 31 34 e 30-50 28 28
30ZE505% 30E505%
J Over 50 16 15 o Over 50 27 17
5055 A 1= 505%A £
By Employment Type By Geographical Region
ZRIERER IR [ 1
J Full-time 52 61 e Hong Kong 33 25
R i
o Part-time 2 3
b3
By Geographical Region
L IR R,
o Hong Kong 54 64
&
Total 54 64  Overall 88 25
st R

It includes the employees of the Group only. Workers of the subcontractors

are excluded.

Turnover rate = Total number of employees left during the reporting period/

Total number of employees left during the reporting period + Total number

of employees at the end of the reporting period. The Group had a total of

26 employees turnover during the reporting period.

The figures were restated.
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B2.

wE

Health and Safety

Policies

The Group is committed to safeguarding the safety, health
and welfare of all employees, workers, and persons including
subcontractors and the general public likely to be affected by
the normal operations. To achieve our commitment, we maintain
a high standard regarding safety and health. Our Industrial
Safety Policy aims to ensure that all of our employees and our
sub-contractors’ workers under our responsibility are working
safely at the site area. On the other hand, any potential risks
thereon arising can be mitigated or eliminated through the
implementation of various measures so that the interests of the
Group can be protected and safeguarded.

Compliance Information

Our projects are subject to certain safety and health requirements
pursuant to the laws and regulations in Hong Kong, including but
not limited to Factories and Industrial Undertakings Ordinance
(Chapter 59 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “FIU Ordinance”),
Construction Sites (Safety) Regulations (Chapter 591 of the Laws
of Hong Kong), Factories and Industrial Undertakings (Safety
Management) Regulation (Chapter 59AF of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (“FIU(SM)R") and Factories and Industrial Undertakings
(Lifting Appliances and Lifting Gear) Regulations (Chapter 59J
of the Laws of Hong Kong), Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Employees’
Compensation Ordinance (Chapter 282 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) and Occupiers Liability Ordinance (Chapter 314 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). During the reporting period, to the best
of our Directors’ knowledge, the Group was not aware of any
significant non-compliance case in this regard. We will continue
our efforts to raise safety awareness amongst our stakeholders
and to ensure that we learn from incidents happened to prevent
any reoccurrence.

Safety Management System Audit and Review

Pursuant to the FIU(SM)R, we are required to implement a safety
management system and carry out safety audits or safety reviews
of our safety management system, depending on the number of
workers working at the construction sites and the contract values
of our projects.
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During the reporting period, we were required to conduct
regular safety reviews and safety audits on ICGL (Hong Kong)
and certain projects are undertaken by it as required by FIU(SM)R.
We had engaged an independent safety auditor and conducted
all the necessary safety reviews and safety audits for the relevant
projects. These safety reviews and safety audit reports revealed
that we had maintained a good safety management standard and
there was no material finding of non-compliance with the FIU(SM)
R in relation to our safety management system.

Occupational Health and Safety System

Organisation

Our safety management system is monitored and implemented
by our safety officers and safety supervisors, under our General
Manager and Project Team Manager respectively. As at the end
of the reporting period, we had 1 safety officer and 19 safety
supervisors. We generally assign at least one safety supervisor
to each project to monitor our safety management system. Our
safety officer and safety supervisors conduct regular internal
safety inspections to ensure our operations are conducted in
such manner as to reduce the risks to persons and properties.

Planning and Implementation

We adopt a preventive approach with an emphasis on hazard
management and risk assessment. We conduct internal risk
assessment and review regularly. We aim to control our risk
level by identifying risks and hazards in the course of execution
of projects and provide training and supervision to enhance
awareness of hazards and to get prepared for contingency
conditions.

We have developed and maintained a safety management
system for our operation where records of non-compliance with
safety procedures and remedial measures are properly managed
and reviewed. We have adopted an internal safety manual
highlighting the general rules and regulations applicable to our
site operations. We also require the strict implementation of our
safety system with supervision by us or the management staff of
our subcontractors.

Safety Education

We conduct safety induction training for our new employees
and subcontractors. Our subcontractors are required to provide
safety and protective equipment, such as fall arresters and safety
boots, to the workers. Our safety supervisor also ensures that all
personnel wear protective equipment at the worksite.
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We disseminate occupational health and safety information to
employees, visitors and contractors and conduct briefings on
occupational health and safety on a regular basis. We provide
safety training to all of the workers at the sites for safety
regulations compliance.

Subcontractors Communication

We require our subcontractors to abide by all relevant
legislations, codes and guidelines as well as all safety
requirements as stated in our safety manuals and project safety
plans and to comply with all current and future enactments
relating to their works. While selecting the subcontractors, we
will take into consideration their safety standards, which include
evaluating their safety management system, track records on
safety and safety training records. Fines will be imposed upon
the subcontractors if they fail to implement our internal safety
guidelines.

We hold regular meetings with our subcontractors to follow up
on any safety measures in the course of execution of the projects.
We also evaluate the safety measures regularly to improve
safety control. Subcontractors who failed to follow the safety
measures and refused or failed to rectify will be removed from
our approved subcontractors list.

Evaluation

All workplace incidents should be reported immediately to
the relevant project managers, safety officer and our executive
director and senior management subsequently. The incident
should be reported with requisite further information on the
incident, including the date and time of the incident, place of
incident and name of the injured. An investigation is to be carried
out and corrective actions should be implemented for monitoring
occupational hazards in future.

Office Safety

We implement measures to ensure the health and safety
of employees at offices. For example, (a) first aid kits and
fire extinguishers are equipped at offices; (b) pest control is
conducted annually and (c) offices are cleaned and the garbage
is handled regularly by designated personnel to maintain the
hygiene of the offices.
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Response to COVID-19 Pandemic

The challenges arising from the COVID-19 pandemic are
unprecedented. To reduce the risk of infection and the
transmission of the virus in the workplace, the Group has
established a series of COVID-19 precautionary measures and
guidelines that require all employees to follow, including but not
limited to requiring all staff to wear masks at offices, providing
hand sanitizer, implementing work from home arrangements, and
establishing reporting procedures in case of confirmed COVID-19

cases.

Safety Performance

Despite the fact that we have a comprehensive safety
management system together with various safety control
measures to mitigate safety risks, the occurrence of accidents
or injuries to workers on our sites is not uncommon due to the
nature of the works of the building construction industry. During
the reporting period, our performance relating to occupational

health and safety are as follows:

Safety Performance for the year ended 31 March
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2022 2021 2020

et et £ 2 —T-—F —E_TF

Number of work-related fatalities A T {ERSE ML T-AI A X - - -
Fatalities rate per 1,000 workers®  &F % T AFHRIFET-FK™ = - -
Lost days due to injuries EIBEAIIERH 287 203 329

The Group continues to review the existing occupational health
and safety management system and elevate the safety awareness
of the employees and subcontractors.

13

average employees and workers) x 1,000

Fatality rate per 1,000 employees and workers = (Number of fatality/Daily
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B3.

Development and Training

Policies

As stipulated in our Staff Training Policy, we expect all staff
equipped with up-to-date professional knowledge and technical
skills to support the Group's objectives. We encourage their
participation in various training courses and programs to enhance
job efficiency and working performance.

We support the training and development of our employees.
Reimbursement of the training fee will be paid to all employees
in accordance with the terms of our Staff Training Policy as well as
upon the approval of senior project managers, general manager
and directors.

We provide on-the-job training for our new staff. We also
encourage our staff to attend various training courses organised
by third-party course providers. We have also provided specific
site training to our site personnel in respect of the management
of quality, environmental protection, health and safety matters.

During the reporting period, our employees participated in
various training, including but not limited to Green Card Training,
Construction Safety Supervisor Training, Silver Card Training,
CPD Training for up-to-date leadership and strategic skills on
business management, Director Training for the Requirement
of the Listing Rules, BIM (Revit) Training, Company Secretarial
Practices Course, Health and Work Safety Talk, and Site Induction
Training.
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Performance F-3:4
The Group had a total of 52 employees received training and RmEE  AEBRAABREETHE
completed a total of 407 training hours during the reporting K - WE TEAA07/ N o BT
period. The percentage of the trained employee, and the JMETIES L REHEE LKA T
average training hours completed per employee' are as follows: IS
Percentage of Trained Employee Average Training Hours
For the year ended 31 March'® For the year ended 31 March'
HE=-A=t—-RHILEE HE=A=1t—-HLFEWN
EZEINETI RS PG E R RS
2022 2021 2022 2021
B —ET——%F B -
hours/ hours/
% % employee  employee
BT BT
By Gender By Gender
gl g el
o Male 98 87 e Male 7.67 11.02
£ 5
o Female 92 88 e Female 7.08 1.35
z =
By Employment Type By Employment Type
RIERLERR RIERER
o Senior management 100 77 e Senior management 9.50 10.38
BRERE BRERE
o Middle management 100 64 e Middle management BEO8 7.60
RARERE AR ETEE
o General staff 94 100 o General staff 8.77 7.87
—MET —RET
Total 96 88 Overall 7.54 8.45
st ]
L Data for Competence Person (Non-track) Training and AutoCAD trainings " BERALGERE) F I RAutoCADIEHIE
are excluded. BIE T EIEEA ©
15 Percentage of trained employee = Total number of employees received = BXEINIME T A =8RG BREEZEIN
training during the reporting period/Total number of employees as at the ETRH HREHRETHE -
end of the reporting period.
16 Average training hours = Total training hours during the reporting period/ i T8 | B = 5 HA R AR I B B R S A
Total number of employees as at the end of the reporting period. RETHEH -
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B4.

wE

Labour Standards

Policies

The Group prohibits any form of child labour, forced labour
and illegal labour. Our major business activities are carried out
in Hong Kong. Our suppliers do not involve in labour-intensive
activities such as manufacturing in general. To the best of
our Directors’ knowledge, there is no operations or suppliers
considered to have significant risk for incidents of child or forced
labour in terms of types of business activities and operating
locations.

In our recruitment process as stipulated in our Human Resources
Management Policy, our human resource department will inspect
and take a copy of the original of each candidate’s Hong Kong
identity card and/or other documentary evidence showing that
he/she is lawfully employable in Hong Kong. We also installed
the required identification checking device onsite to prevent
illegal workers from working in the sites.

Compliance Information

The Group strictly abides the Immigration Ordinance (Chapter
115 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and other laws and regulations
relating to employment as stated in the section headed "B1.
Employment” in this ESG Report.

During the reporting period, to the best of Directors’ knowledge,
the Group was not aware of any significant non-compliance case
in this regard.

Operating Practice

BS.

Supply Chain Management

Policies

The Group works closely with our suppliers and subcontractors
who are committed to high quality, environmental, health and
safety standards. To manage the environmental and social
risks of our suppliers and subcontractors, we formulate internal
policies and procedures, such as Management of Subcontracting
and Procurement Policy to set out the selection and evaluation of
suppliers and subcontractors. As part of our Environmental Policy,
we prefer engaging suppliers in producing environmentally
friendly products (e.g. manufacturers that use eco-friendly
coating on their products).
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Supplier Management

Our suppliers include suppliers for (a) building materials
used in our design, supply, and installation projects, such as
aluminium, steel products, and glass; (b) material fabrication
or processing services; and (c) other miscellaneous services
such as transportation, rental of machinery and equipment, and
laboratory testing services.

Supplier Selection

We maintain an approved list of suppliers. In selecting our
suppliers, we will consider their price, project credentials
and capability, the scale of operation, previous performance
and quality, and the time required to provide and deliver the
required materials or services. Where necessary and appropriate,
considerations on the impact on the environment and social risks
are also taken into consideration, such as market reputation,
waste management and environmental protection. Suppliers
with environmental protection licenses and Quality or technical
certification (ISO) are preferable. We also review and update
our approved list of suppliers from time to time. Our project
engineers will examine the quantity and quality of the materials
ordered and ensure that the delivery can meet our project
schedules and requirements.

Supplier Evaluation

After completion of the project, our project manager will assess
the performance of our suppliers based on, among others, their (a)
ability to meet the delivery schedules; (b) ability to meet the test
requirements; (c) response to our instructions; (d) ability to honour
warranties and guarantees; () commitment of management; (f)
quality of goods and services; and (g) cost competitiveness etc.

Subcontractor Management

Our subcontractors include subcontractors for (a) on-site
installation works and (b) the lease of machinery and equipment.
It is industry practice in Hong Kong for facade works and
building metal finishing works contractors to engage specialised
subcontractors for on-site installation works. These subcontractors
have their own labour force.
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Subcontractors Selection

We maintain a list of approved subcontractors, which is reviewed
by our project team on an annual basis. The established
relationship with our subcontractors enables us to have better
control over the quality and schedule of works. We select our
subcontractors based on various criteria, including their work
credentials, tender price, technical capability, and prior working
relationship with us. We also require our subcontractors to
comply with the applicable registration requirements issued by
the Construction Industry Council.

Subcontractors Monitoring

While the subcontractors are required to comply with all relevant
rules and regulations in connection with the works and their
responsibilities and policies relating to quality control, work
safety and environmental protection, we remain accountable to
our customers for the quality of services rendered by them. We
have put in place procedures and control measures to monitor
the quality of works performed by our subcontractors.

For each project undertaken by us, a project management
team will be established to oversee the general compliance
by our subcontractors with our requirements and we will also
designate a safety supervisor and/or and site supervisor to
monitor and supervise the works of our subcontractors to
ensure our subcontractors are meeting the relevant safety and
workmanship requirements. Our safety supervisors have regular
on-site inspections according to our safety and environmental
requirements. We also have regular meetings with our
subcontractors to address any material issues and to update
their knowledge on safety and environmental issues. We provide
our subcontractors with our internal guidelines on safety and
environmental requirements and closely monitor their compliance
with our internal guidelines. We also investigate the causes of any
non-compliances and establish preventive measures and maintain
records of non-compliances regarding safety, environmental and
other issues of our subcontractors.
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Furthermore, our project manager shall arrange a joint inspection
with our customers upon completion of the works done by
our subcontractors to ensure that they are consistent with the
contract design, specifications and requirements.

We strictly prohibit our subcontractors from hiring any illegal
workers and we require our subcontractors to check carefully
the identification documents of workers engaged by them to
ensure that no illegal workers are hired. We also require our
subcontractors to follow the applicable laws and regulations in
relation to occupational health and safety at the construction
site. Under the relevant statutory requirements, all personnel
employed to work at the construction sites are required to attend
the construction industry safety training session on occupational
health and safety regulations and obtain the training certificate
before they can work at the construction sites.

Subcontractors Evaluation

We evaluate and assess the performance of our subcontractors
after the completion of the project. Our project manager will
review the performance of the subcontractors based on, among
others, their (a) ability to meet the delivery schedules; (b)
ability to meet the requirements of the test; (c) response to our
instructions; (d) ability to honour the defect liability period; (e)
commitment of management; (f) quality of services; and (g) cost
competitiveness. If a subcontractor fails the assessment, general
manager or director has the discretion to remove the relevant
subcontractor from the list of approved subcontractors.
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Bé.

Supplier and Subcontractor Profile

As at 31 March 2022, we have a total of 165 suppliers and
subcontractors. The majority are from Mainland China and
Hong Kong. The geographical distribution' of our suppliers and
subcontractors are as follows:

Number of Suppliers by Geographical Regions as of 31 March

HEBR S BEHEL
R-ZE-—_F=ZA=+—8 " &AHE
165 HEF D BEE - E2REFEK
BEREE o (HER LD BENHE S H
RECINE

BE=ZH="1—HA&nE&E70HER
#H

2022

—E__—F

Hong Kong BB 60

South Korea [FaEES 3

Mainland China Fh B8] A e 68

Overseas NSEIN 34

Total st 165
Product Responsibility B6. EmE

The Group is committed to implementing and maintaining a
high-level quality management system with full compliance of
applicable laws and regulations. During the reporting period, to
the best of our Directors’ knowledge, there was no products sold
or shipped subject to recall for safety and health reasons and no
significant concern towards health and safety of customers due to
the nature of the Group's business. The Group also attaches high
importance to occupational health and safety of our employees
and workers at sites. For relevant policies and measures
undertaken by the Group, please refer to the section headed "B2.
Health and Safety” for further details.

i It is determined based on the primary location in which products and/or

services are provided by the suppliers and/or subcontractors to the Group.
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Project and Service Quality

Policies

High quality of both materials and subcontractors’ works can
contribute to the effectiveness and efficiency of the operations
of all construction projects, which is crucial to our sustainable
development, as stipulated in our Quality Control Management
Policy.

Quality Management System

To maintain consistent quality and safety of services for
customers, the Group has established a formal quality
management system which is certified to be in compliance with
the requirements of ISO 9001:2015. There is a surveillance audit
held on a half-year basis by an independent third party, who
will visit the Company and selected construction sites to carry
out audit on selected business cycles to assure the continuous
implementation of procedures as required by ISO.

Our project managers and site supervisors bear the responsibility
to monitor the overall progress and quality of works undertaken
by our material suppliers and subcontractors. Project managers
carry out annual assessment on the performance of the
fabrication plants and keep all records of review and assessment.
Subcontractors are also required to rectify works that are below
the required standards and report to project managers.

Quality Control

Our quality management system is implemented in various stages
of our projects from procurement of materials to the installation
phase.

o Procurement Phase
We maintain a list of approved suppliers, which is reviewed
by our project team and procurement team on an annual
basis. We arrange for regular visits to the fabrication and
processing factories of our suppliers to conduct inspections
and quality checks to the fabrication process to ensure the
quality of the materials supplied to us.

Our quality control staff will inspect the fabricated and
processed materials produced by our suppliers on a regular
basis, and if any problems are found, our quality control
staff will work with the suppliers promptly to resolve the
problem, in order to ensure that the fabricated/processed
materials meet the requisite quality standards.
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° Installation Phase
We impose strict quality control standards and
closely monitor the quality of the workmanship of our
subcontractors. We generally only engage subcontractors
on our approved list of subcontractors. For details,
please refer to the section headed in “B5. Supply Chain
Management” in this ESG Report.

In respect of subcontractors for installation works, we will
have regular site visits to monitor the subcontractors’ works
at the construction sites. Our project management team
have regular meetings with our subcontractors to address
and resolve material issues such as quality issues, to ensure
the works can meet the requirements of our customers.

We undertake various tests, such as tests on building
materials and fabricated/processed materials, tool
calibration tests, and tests on design performance and
installation, during and after installation of facade works
and building metal finishing works to ensure the project
meets the required quality standards and standards
required by our customers.

Complaint Handling

We will obtain feedback from our customers upon completion
of the projects to identify areas for improvement. We strive to
improve our quality of work and the satisfaction level of our
customers.

According to our Conflict Management Policy, we have a
complaint handling procedure in place, whereby upon the receipt
of a complaint, a project manager will be assigned to investigate
and communicate with the customer to find ways to solve the
problem within three working days. Corrective, improvement and
preventive actions are then taken to ensure appropriate actions
will be undertaken to the satisfaction of our customers. Senior
project manager, tender and procurement manager, or even the
Board of Directors may involve depending on the nature, scope,
complexity and impact of the issue.
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No material complaints or demand for compensation from our
customers were received by us during the reporting period in
relation to any deductions, withholding, counter-claim or set-
off due to the quality issues in relation to the work performed by
us or by our subcontractors. When the project is in progress, we
will also conduct regular meetings to review our performance,
to handle any complaints received and to discuss if any
improvement that needs to be enacted immediately.

Intellectual Property

The Group's business does not involve research and
development activities. Nonetheless, the Group has implemented
a Copyright Policy to (a) iterate our denouncement of the use
of any unlicensed software or unlicensed copyrighted works; (b)
impose individualised passwords to each of our computers to
prevent and trace any use of unlicensed software or unlicensed
copyrighted works; and (c) establish different measures to
regulate the authorised usage of computers. All current and
future employees of our Group must sign an acknowledgement
of such Policy upon their employment.

Marketing and Labelling

The Group does not rely heavily on marketing and advertising
and does not sell products. To the best of our Directors’
knowledge, the Group was not aware of any significant impact
relating to advertising and labelling on its operations. We
will closely monitor the business environment to identify any
significant risks in this area.

Protection of Employee and Client’s Privacy and Information
The Group strives to protect the privacy of its customers,
business partners and employees in the collection, processing
and use of their business or personal data. As stated in our
Employee Handbook, all employees are obliged to protect our
commercial and technical sensitive materials, and if they violate
the confidentiality policies, they will be prosecuted in accordance
with the relevant laws and regulations.

The production, sending, receiving, transmitting, using,
copying, excerpting, storing and destroying of information are
all carried out by designated personnel depending on the level
of confidentiality of information. If an employee finds that the
confidential materials has been leaked or may be leaked, he or
she should immediately take remedial measures and promptly
report to the company supervisor. In addition, confidential
agreements are required to be signed with relevant parties where
applicable.
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B7.

Compliance Information

The Group strictly abides the laws and regulations relating to
product responsibility, including but not limited to Personal Data
(Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
and Copyright Ordinance (Chapter 528 of the Laws of Hong
Kong). During the reporting period, to the best of our Directors’
knowledge, the Group was not aware of any significant non-
compliance case in this regard.

Anti-corruption

Honesty, integrity and fair competition are the core values that all
employees of the Group should uphold. The Group’s Employee
Handbook sets out the employee’s codes of conduct in dealing
with matters related to acceptance of advantages and conflicts
of interests and is communicated to all employees. To avoid
any conflict of interest, employees or other related parties are
required to sign the Declaration of Conflict of Interest. During the
reporting period, the Group has arranged an anti-corruption talk
for its Directors and employees. All Executive Directors and most
of our employees have attended the talk.

Policies

Our commitments and values are guided by the Employee
Handbook and supplemented by different policies and
procedures. These policies and procedures are regularly
reviewed and updated to ensure appropriate ethical business
practices and behaviour as well as compliance with corporate
and regulatory requirements. Our Employee Handbook sets out
principles for acting responsibly in the daily operation, including
issues related to business ethics, conflicts of interest, and bribery
in the workplace. Our Anti-fraud Policy and Anti-corruption
Policy set out our management approaches on anti-frauds and
anti-corruption. It provides the guidelines on implementation,
treatment, and identification of frauds and corruption.
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Whistleblowing Policy

The Group sets up a mechanism allowing the employees to
report any malpractices existing in the Group to the Audit
Committee under the condition of confidentiality and maps out
the investigation procedure. The Group encourages employees
to call attention to any alleged misconduct or delinquency
occurring in the Group. The Group guarantees that whistleblower
will be protected from unjust disciplinary action or harm as a
result of any valid report.

The Board and the Audit Committee have the responsibility
to monitor and review the implementation of the Policy and to
advise on investigations into reported cases. The report can be
submitted in writing or email. All reported cases are promptly
and thoroughly investigated while confidentiality is respected
to protect individuals. If the report exposes alleged criminal
offences, the case will be consulted with the legal advisor to
decide whether to refer the case to competent authorities.

Compliance Information

The Group strictly abides by the laws and regulations relating to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering in Hong Kong,
including the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). During the reporting period, to the best of
our Directors’ knowledge, the Group was not aware of any cases
of significant non-compliance or related corruption litigation in
this regard. There was no concluded legal case regarding corrupt
practices brought against the Group or our employees.
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Community

BS.

Community Investment

Policies

The Group believes that community contribution is important for
sustainable development as it helps to establish a harmonious
society. The Group aims to develop long-term relations with
stakeholders based on mutual trust, respect and integrity.
The Group also seeks to make contributions to programmes
which have positive impacts on different areas of community
development (such as art, youth education and social needs).
Employees are encouraged to volunteer and work through
collaboration with strategic giving as well as capacity-building
initiatives to try and create positive impacts in the community.

The Group had planned for organising more activities, but some
were cancelled due to COVID-19 outbreak in the first quarter
of 2022 in Hong Kong. During the reporting period, the Group
organised a beach clean-up activity with 8 employees taken
part and have contributed a total of 16 hours to the activity. The
Group also worked with Hong Kong Red Cross Blood Transfusion
Service to organise a blood donation day and 10 employees
have participated in the event. During the reporting period,
the Group's donation amounted to approximately HK$57,000
in total, for the purpose of supporting sports development and
healthcare organisation in Hong Kong.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
WA R TES S

Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
LOTUS HORIZON HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Lotus
Horizon Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 100 to 187,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 March 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA”")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’'s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are matter those that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. The matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
RRETEE

BRRETEEG)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMHEFt MR ERARETER

Recognition of revenue from the provision of design, supply and installation services for facade works and

building metal finishing works

BIRARPIMEIRREZESBHE TROR - HERZERBEHKE

We identified the recognition of revenue from the
provision of design, supply and installation services for
facade works and building metal finishing works as a
key audit matter due to their significance to the Group's
consolidated financial statements and involvement
of significant management estimates in determining
estimated outcomes of the respective construction
contracts.
BMEERREREINE IR KL BME LIRS
it HERLZERRE SRR AREREF R - ThARE
Y ERENGEUBHRAMEEEAN  ARETRBEE
BRIEERRE S REXERE GGt o

The Group recognised revenue from provision of design,
supply and installation services for facade works and
building metal finishing works to customers in Hong Kong
of HK$223,991,000 during the year ended 31 March 2022 as
set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.
WG E T BERERMFASHE  RBEE_T__F=H
=+—HILFE X SEEEIXEEEZFHRHEIMNE
IRAZECBMHETIERT  HERLZERBHNK S
223,991,000 7T °

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group recognises revenue from provision
of design, supply and installation services for facade
works and building metal finishing works progressively
over time using input method based on the proportion
of total contract costs incurred at the end of reporting
period compared to the estimated total budgeted
contract costs to complete the contract when control of
the goods or service is transferred to the customer. Since
the measurement of the revenue relies on estimations
of total budgeted contract costs, changes to estimated
total budgeted contract costs could give rise to material
variances in the amount of revenue recognised.
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Our procedures in relation to the recognition of revenue
from the provision of design, supply and installation
services for facade works and building metal finishing
works included:
BFIERAERRERMIME IR NEECEMHE TIZMNR
it R LR RGH RS2 21

o Understanding how the management of the Group

recognised the revenue from provision of design,
supply and installation services for facade works
and building metal finishing works over time using
input method and estimated the total budgeted
contract costs;
TR BEREEIERENAERE KRR ERERK
BieftIME T2 REE B E TIRAR - #E
Nz E RGO W - ARIEHEETRE & LR AR
B

o Understanding the progress of construction
services by discussing with project-in-charges and
management of the Group about the completion
status and billing status of the contracts on a
sample basis;

BREMEE SEEHEBAFAREEERSON
TERBERNFARBRETR® - T REEREHE
RIEM ;

J Checking the estimated total budgeted revenue
by agreeing the total contract values to respective
signed contracts and assessing the recognition
of significant variation orders recognised by
management of the Group by examining against
the payment certificates or correspondence issued
by or with customers on a sample basis;
BRBENEBEEMEBREIINANETLY &
EfFTNRERRER  TRAMEREEFED
N FREREZFHRE RN - 5HE EEEE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
RRETEE

FRRETEE G

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMHEFt MR ERARETER

Recognition of revenue from the provision of design, supply and installation services for facade works and

building metal finishing works (Continued)

BRARARERIMMIEREESRHE IRORGT - HERZERBH WS (E)

Checking the estimated total budgeted contract
costs against the supporting documents, including
subcontracting service agreements, purchasing
agreements or quotations, payment certificates or
invoices issued by subcontractors or suppliers of
materials, of respective construction projects, on a
sample basis;

HIREEEBBEND BIRBE HE - KB HHE IR
B AREEXDERIAMHHERAANERS
FAXM - B TAE SRR

Assessing the accuracy of the actual contract costs
incurred during the year by examining against
the payment certificates or invoices issued by
subcontractors or suppliers of materials, on a
sample basis; and
BBRENFERRE XD BE M BRI A3
R BT RFREENERSOKE : &

Evaluating the reasonableness of project-in-
charges and management of the Group making
material revisions to estimated margins of
respective construction projects, by comparing
current year's budget against the last year's budget
or actual costs incurred for major subcontractors or
suppliers of materials, on a sample basis.
BAMKLEBAFERERE FEFERESITFESB
BB ERKA - it EEEEAR
BEANEEEHHABEZEBRRNGAMNBERELE
KEBHSIENE -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group'’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
v RR R E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,

among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit

and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement

that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships

and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminated

threats or safeguards applied.

LOTUS HORIZON HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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Independent Auditor’s Report
WA R TES S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Hon Pui Yi.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 June 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

meEaRkEMEEKER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HEZZT=-—

F=A=1t—HILFE

2022 2021
—E-CHF —E-—F
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
FfaE FET AT
Revenue g 5 223,991 220,788
Cost of sales SHE A (221,518) (170,415)
Gross profit EA 2,473 50,373
Other income, gains and losses, net HapA - Was kg FEE 6 508 1,720
Net impairment losses (recognised) RHEEEBRREAIE T
reversed under expected credit loss B (R BRI EEE
model FE 7 (6,492) 1
Operating and administrative expenses A% & R1THBH X (22,360) (23,877)
Finance costs RbE R AR 8 (729) (952)
Listing expenses Nsiikab-3 - (1,311
(Loss) profit before taxation FrEERT (BT8R )5 F 9 (26,600) 25,954
Income tax credit (expense) FrisfiiEe (M) 1 3,944 (4,218)
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive FR(EE) M 2E(AX)
(expense) income for the year W iB 58 (22,656) 21,736
(Loss) earnings per shares, basic BRER(ER) B
(HK cents) (B 13 (1.13) 1.10
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mE PR R R

At 31 March 2022 R-Z-_—#F=H=+—H

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
NOTES HK$’'000 HK$'000
Bo5E FET T
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property and equipment EIE S 14 11,645 15,021
Deposit and prepayment for a life ASREBROIRE RFARHKIEA
insurance policy 15 2,290 1,805
Rental deposits HERS 16 743 728
Deferred tax assets EETR IR E 2= 23 4,280 378
18,958 17,932
Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 hEMEWEIE 16 26,497 23,604
Contract assets BHEE 17 72,819 76,834
Tax recoverable AJUL IR IR 518 476
Pledged bank deposits BRI TER 19 10,776 18,488
Bank balances and cash RITER MRS 19 46,120 72,910
156,730 192,312
Current liabilities RBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 R EAERFRIE 20 14,647 20,650
Contract liabilities BHEE 17 695 638
Lease liabilities HEAE 21 2,361 2,203
Bank borrowings SRITIER 22 21,009 4,889
38,712 28,380
Net current assets REBEEZE 118,018 163,932
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBEE 136,976 181,864
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Lease liabilities HEBaRFE 21 5,663 7,895
Other payables H bR FRIB 20 750 750
6,413 8,645
Net assets EEFE 130,563 173,219
Capital and reserves EXRFEE
Share capital [N 24 20,000 20,000
Reserves EE] 110,563 153,219
Total equity ESEE 130,563 173,219

The consolidated financial statements on pages 100 to 187 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28

June 2022.

CHU KWOK FUN

REIE
DIRECTOR
EF

TSANG CHIU WAN

2L
DIRECTOR

F10E17ENFAMBREABETEN _F
ZCFARNAZ T N\BHUERIRETE -
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—#F=A=+—HILFE

Share Share Other  Retained
capital  premium reserve profits Total
A ROEE HtREE REER Loy

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET TAT TR THET TET

(Note)
(BEE)
At 1 April 2020 RZE-ZFMHA—H - - 10,000 52,264 62,264
Profit and total comprehensive  F R & ZHEWBRE
income for the year = = = 21,736 21,736
Issue of new shares BRI 5,000 120,000 = = 125,000
Capitalisation issues (note 24) A AL 31T (Hi7E24) 15,000 (15,000) = = =
Share issuance costs A& 1R BT TRCAR = (25,781) = = (25,781)
Dividends recognised as BRAHD TRAIALE
distribution (note 12) (P5E12) - - - (10,000) (10,000)
At 31 March 2021 R-E-—4F
=A=+—H 20,000 79,219 10,000 64,000 173,219
Loss and total comprehensive S AEE R 2 HEHZ £58
expense for the year - - - (22,656) (22,656)
Dividends recognised as R R IKEAR S
distribution (note 12) (MsE12) - - - (20,000) (20,000)
At 31 March 2022 NRZTB-—F
=A=+—8H 20,000 79,219 10,000 21,344 130,563
* Less than HK$1,000 * bR,00085T

Note: Other reserve represented the difference between the share capital of the Company  Fffst : Efbf#EIEA R THEAWEELAELE(FB)BRAT

issued as consideration of acquiring ICGL Technical Works (HK) Limited (“ICGL ([GLEBER ORBMBEITHRARELEZEER -
Hong Kong"”) and issued share capital of ICGL Hong Kong on 27 March 2019 —NF=Z A+ ARBEERSHAMBITHRA ZHE
pursuant to a group reorganisation. HOERE -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERTRER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—F=A=+—HIFE

2022 2021
—E-CHF —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Operating activities REES
(Loss) profit before taxation BT (B8 ) F (26,600) 25,954
Adjustments for: HE
Interest income FLEHA (148) (319)
Interest expenses FEMAX 729 952
Depreciation on property and equipment MENREITE 3,699 3,250
Loss on write-off of property and hiE YRR EEE
equipment = 1,498
Gain arising from early termination of RERILHES QEEN WG
lease contracts - (142)
Guaranteed income from a life insurance AERBRERE
policy (92) (184)
Net impairment losses recognised FEHEEERREAIE Y
(reversed) under expected credit loss BrER(E D) RERIE
model R 6,492 6
Operating cash flows before movements in B E S ESFINELRERE
working capital (15,920) 31,012
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 K E A W GR IR N (6,272) (7,659)
Decrease in contract assets BHREERD 902 2,270
(Decrease) increase in trade and B NEMENFRIECHD) BN
other payables (5,983) 853
Increase in contract liabilities AHIBEEN 57 1,007
Cash (used in) generated from operations &% (FTA)FIBHE S (27,216) 27,483
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid ERNEBNEE = (8,958)
Net cash (used in) from operating activities &2 &8N (FT A ) FT15IR & F 58 (27,216) 18,525
Investing activities RERS
Placement of pledged bank deposits FHREERRITIER - (17,814)
Purchases of property and equipment BEYERRE (102) (6,210)
Payment of a life insurance contract AERERE TR (393) (393)
Payment of rental deposits HERE MR (15) (728)
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits REREEHARITER 7,712 4,448
Refund of rental deposits REHNEERS - 444
Interest received BUFE 148 315
Net cash from (used in) investing activities & & /RBNATIS (AT )RS F58 7,350 (19,938)

BHEBEBRERERAR /| —E__FFHK
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
MEHERER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—#F=A=+—HILFE

2022 2021
—E-CHF —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Financing activities MEEH
Proceeds from issue of shares BT BTSR0R - 125,000
New bank borrowings raised BESHIRITER 66,345 47,835
Repayments of bank borrowings BEIEITER (50,225) (77,528)
Issue costs paid B EETTRAN - (22,147)
Dividend paid BRI E (20,000) (10,000)
Interest paid BAFIE (749) (1,066)
Repayments of lease liabilities BEHEEE (2,295) (1,731)
Net cash (used in) from financing activities ~ BY&EE) (AT ) TSR & 54 (6,924) 60,363
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash Re MBS EBYORD) L INFRE
equivalents (26,790) 58,950
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FHRERREFEY
of the year 72,910 13,960
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year, £ RIR & RIRSEEY) -
representing bank balances and cash REBITHEBRER S 46,120 72,910
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Lotus Horizon Holdings Limited (the "Company”) was
incorporated and registered as an exempted company with
limited liability in the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law
Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands on 14 November 2018 and its
shares were listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 15 April 2020 (the
"Listing”). The addresses of the Company's registered office and
the principal place of business of the Company are set out in the
section headed “Corporate Information” to the annual report.

Its immediate and ultimate holding company is Platinum Lotus
Holdings Limited, a limited liability company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands (“BVI"). The ultimate controlling shareholder
of the Company is Mr. Chu Kwok Fun (“Mr. Chu”).

The Company acts as an investment holding company and the
principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) are the provision of design, supply
and installation services for facade works and building metal
finishing works.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong Dollars ("HK$"), which is also the functional currency of the
Company.

The COVID-19 pandemic has continued to adversely impact
the Group's operations. During the year ended 31 March 2022,
the Group incurred a loss attributable to equity holders of the
Company of HK$22,656,000 (2021: profit attributable to equity
holders of the Company of HK$21,736,000).

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e TR RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—F=A=+—HIFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—#F=A=+—HILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time, which
are mandatorily effective for the annual periods beginning on or
after 1 April 2021 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions

beyond 30 June 2021

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —
Phase 2

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16

In addition, the Group applied the agenda decision of the
IFRS Interpretations Committee (the “Committee”) of the
International Accounting Standards Board issued in June 2021
which clarified the costs an entity should include as “estimated
costs necessary to make the sale” when determining the net
realisable value of inventories.

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group's financial positions
and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—F=A=+—HIFE

2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

EREEMBHRE
MBHREER )z

BB R E R KRBT &
BB REER

AEEYERFEMA TS B/MERK
EREFTR] RAER] BB I IRE LA -

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the related ERVBREEN REBRA L RIEBEER]?
Amendments? B175

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual HRMBRELA R SIESE
Framework! EXUACCHIEN)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets BEMEREER  REEFHEEBENFNK

and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its FIORREAGT AECECZEANEE
Associate or Joint Venture? ZERI 2857 HESEE?
(1BFTAR)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current ERCERE 1 BEESEARDN
or Non-current and related (1BFTA) MBI RBELRE
amendments to Hong Kong E5R(ZE_FF)
Interpretation 5 (2020 HIAEREIER]?

Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies? EAGEAFE R SHERRE

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 REBUERE
BB RE
BARUEFTA)
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates? EAGTERES  EFHETTEER?
(1BFTAR)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and BEAGHEAFN HE-XFHELENEE
Liabilities arising from a Single (BFTAR) REERBNET
Transaction? 12

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment — ERESHERE 165 ME - BEREE -
Proceeds before Intended Use' (183TA) 1ERE R R PT TS

I

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of BEAGREAEIR EEEN-BIEH
Fulfilling a Contract' (1BFTAR) BB A

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs BRMBRELN AEUBMEEN=T
2018-2020" CHEN, —N\EE-T-TF

B E BGE!
C Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. ! F%ifiiifﬂ — Bz &R FEE
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. 2 Q;%:Ei_ﬂ — H sk & B F = H
B °

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned
below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have
no material impact on the consolidated financial statements in
the foreseeable future.

: WAFFIE B Hisk 2 & FsA e 4 Z BAR A o

B TSPl RO R] AR IERT BB M 5 R
HFEAYN  RAREETRHEAMAE
B a] MRIER] BB M B & ERIE ]
SRR EHGREMBRERBEEATE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—#F=A=+—HILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 “Reference to the Conceptual
Framework”

The amendments:

update a reference in HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations”
so that it refers to the “Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018" issued in June 2018 (the “Conceptual
Framework") instead of “Framework for the Preparation
and Presentation of Financial Statements” (replaced by
the “Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2010”
issued in October 2010);

add a requirement that, for transactions and other events
within the scope of HKAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets” or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21
“Levies”, an acquirer applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21
instead of the Conceptual Framework to identify the
liabilities it has assumed in a business combination; and

add an explicit statement that an acquirer does not
recognise contingent assets acquired in a business
combination.

The Group will apply the amendments prospectively to business
combinations for which the date of acquisition is on or after the
beginning of the first annual period beginning on or after 1 April

LOTUS HORIZON HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—F=A=+—HIFE

2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term
“significant accounting policies” with “material accounting policy
information”. Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information included in an entity’s
financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information
may be material because of the nature of the related transactions,
other events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial.
However, not all accounting policy information relating to
material transactions, other events or conditions is itself
material. If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial accounting
policy information, such information must not obscure material
accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Making Materiality Judgements”
(the "Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an
entity applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting
policy disclosures and to judge whether information about an
accounting policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance
and examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group but may affect the disclosures of the Group's significant
accounting policies.

2.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—#F=A=+—HILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

The amendments define accounting estimates as “monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require items in financial
statements to be measured in a way that involves measurement
uncertainty — that is, the accounting policy may require such items
to be measured at monetary amounts that cannot be observed
directly and must instead be estimated. In such a case, an entity
develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective set
out by the accounting policy. Developing accounting estimates
involves the use of judgements or assumptions based on the
latest available, reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting estimates in
HKAS 8 “Accounting Policies Changes in Accounting Estimates
and Errors” is retained with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the
purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information is
reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
the applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”)
and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of approving the
consolidated financial statements, a reasonable expectation that
the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future. Thus they continue to
adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—F=A=+—HIFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis. Historical cost is generally based on the
fair value of the consideration given in exchange of goods and

services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if the market participants would take those
characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability
at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or
disclosure purposes in the consolidated financial statements
is determined on such basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based
Payment”, leasing transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 16 “Leases” (“HKFRS 16"), and measurement that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in HKAS
36 "Impairment of Assets”.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 and 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follow:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted price (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset and liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—#F=A=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the

Company:
. has power over the investee;
° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and
o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses

and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—F=A=+—HIFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue in recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the entity’s performance as the entity
performs;

° the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

° the Group's performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer. The Group recognises revenue when
it transfers control of service to a customer. The Group's major
source of revenue is its revenue from construction contracts for
the provision of design, supply and installation services for fagcade
works and building metal finishing works.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—#F=A=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Provision of design, supply and installation services for facade
works and building metal finishing works

Recognition — over time revenue recognition

The Group provides design, supply and installation services
for facade works and building metal finishing works based on
contracts entered with the customers. Such contracts are entered
into before the services begin. Revenue from the provision of
design, supply and installation services for facade works and
building metal finishing works is recognised over time because
the Group's performance are tailor-made based on customer’s
specification which does not create an asset with an alternative
use and the Group is restricted from redirecting the facade works
and building metal finishing works to another customer, and all
the contracts provide the Group an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to the date taking into account the
contractual terms under the legal and regulatory environment in
Hong Kong.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of the Group's efforts or inputs
to the satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to the
total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services. The management of
the Group has assessed that the stage of completion determined
as the proportion of the costs incurred for the fagade works
and building metal finishing works performed to date (i.e.
subcontracting costs, materials costs and direct staff costs
incurred) relative to the estimated total budgeted contract costs
to complete the satisfaction of these services in each contract
and the margin of each contract, to the extent that the amount
can be measured reliably and its recovery is considered probable.

LOTUS HORIZON HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022

FEVBHRERNWEREER T
ERBEw®)

EREHBRE)
REAFFEMMKE(E)
BABIRERERLBME TEEHR
it~ RER ZERE
o8 — BERF TR W 2

AEERBEEFEPITLME DR MEIME
IRMEECENHETENORT - HE
K ZEIRT - %% 6 KT IR R 56 Al
RN o RRME TR R EECEHNHE T

TR RRET B R % B RS O Wk BE B
AR AAAKENBONRERP

RRESRIE  ETeRVAREMA
B BERANREXRBITSERING
TREFZECBHEIRETS —FF
BFfBEARNRTAREHESETKE
WK AR Bl TTHER - EPET R
BB ERRERRFER TR DK -

TETKRBEHNEEZEREIRERAE
itE RBEAREATKENEEZ
NHIRARTKEBRORE 2T
HIR AL ARERR A - BT A& A
R SR BN B2 B an S RS HR 4 5
EZEXBER - AEEEIEEFETK
BEERIRESNAKESAITIMGET
EREREE BHE TIZFTE £ MR
FREENDBRA  BMRARERS
TRA) S TR KR E RGO AR
BRNKABENLII DG LT
HBETE - AiE A MR SEiat
ERBAR A AYE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—F=A=+—HIFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Provision of design, supply and installation services for facade
works and building metal finishing works (Continued)

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration (i.e. variation
order), the Group estimates the amount of consideration to which
it will be entitled using either (a) the expected value method or
(b) the most likely amount, depending on which method better
predicts the amount of consideration to which the Group will be
entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is included in the
transaction price only to the extent that it is highly probable that
such an inclusion will not result in a significant revenue reversal
in the future when the uncertainty associated with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group updates the
estimated transaction price (including updating its assessment
of whether an estimate of variable consideration is constrained)
to represent faithfully the circumstances present at the end of
the reporting period and the change in circumstances during the
reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—#F=A=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Provision of design, supply and installation services for facade
works and building metal finishing works (Continued)

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration
in exchange for services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group's unconditional right to consideration,
i.e. only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

Contract asset is recognised when (i) the Group completes the
facade works and building metal finishing works under such
services contracts but yet certified by architects, surveyors
or other representatives appointed by customers, or (ii) the
customers retain retention money to secure the due performance
of the contracts. Any amount previously recognised as a contract
asset is reclassified to trade receivables at the point at which it
is invoiced to the customer and becomes unconditional. If the
considerations (including advances received from customers)
exceeds the revenue recognised to date under the input method
then the Group recognises a contract liability for the difference.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—F=A=+—HIFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Warranties

If a customer does not have the options to purchase a warranty
separately, the Group accounts for the warranty in accordance
with HKAS 37 “Provision, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets” unless the warranty provides the customer with a service
in addition to the assurance that the product complies with
agreed-upon specification.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for administrative purposes are stated in the consolidated
statements of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of
property and equipment over their estimated useful lives, using
straight line method. The estimated useful lives and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property and
equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
in profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs which are not capitalised to qualifying assets
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are
incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—#F=A=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises
as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group
with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable and are presented under

"other income, gains and losses, net”.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation,
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the
end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).

Provisions for the costs to restore leased assets to their original
condition, as required by the terms and conditions of the
lease, are recognised at the date of inception of the lease at
the directors’ best estimate of the expenditure that would be
required to restore the assets. Estimates are regularly reviewed
and adjusted as appropriate for new circumstances.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—F=A=+—HIFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS
15 "Revenue from Contracts with Customers”. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including
all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BZE=—T-_—F=-HA=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

All of the Group's financial assets are subsequently measured at
amortised cost.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired. For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—F=A=+—HIFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss ("ECL") model on financial assets and other item
(including trade and other receivables, refundable rental
deposits, pledged bank deposits, bank balances and contract
assets) which are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS
9 “Financial Instruments” ("HKFRS 9”). The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group's historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and contract assets without significant financing component.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case
the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since

initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BZE=—T-_—F=-HA=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

0]

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit ratings;

o significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

J existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—F=A=+—HIFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

0]

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past
due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—#F=A=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due

event;

() the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group's recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—F=A=+—HIFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables
and contract assets where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the

contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference

between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the

consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or

loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—#F=A=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by group entities are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised costs

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables and bank
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BZEZE—T-_—F=-H=+—HItFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment on property and equipment (including right-of-
use assets)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property and equipment (including right-
of-use assets) to determine whether there is any indication
that these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property and equipment (including
right-of-use assets) are estimated individually. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units
to which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the
carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—#F=A=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment on property and equipment (including right-of-
use assets) (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the carrying
amount of a group of cash-generating units, including the
carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with the
recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating units. In
allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The
amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of
the unit or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but to the extent that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e TR RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—F=A=+—HIFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from (loss) profit before taxation because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—#F=A=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 "Income Taxes” requirements to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences on initial
recognition of the relevant right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
are not recognised due to application of the initial recognition
exemption. Temporary differences arising from subsequent
revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of lease liabilities and
lease modifications, that are not subject to initial recognition
exemption are recognised on the date of remeasurement or
modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current

tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the
same taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—F=A=+—HIFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At
the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items that are measured in term of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, as recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of
initial application or arising from business combinations, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date
or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of warehouses that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis over
the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—#F=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in “property and
equipment”, the same line item within which the corresponding
underlying assets would be presented if they were owned.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—F=A=+—HIFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present
value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

° amounts expect to be payable by the Group under residual
value guarantee;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate
the lease.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are not included in the measurement of lease liabilities and
right-of-use assets, and are recognised as expense in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—#F=A=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case
the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment.

° the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review, in which case
the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease

if:

° the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of
the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by

making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use
asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—F=A=+—HIFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Changes in the basis for determining the future lease payments as
a result of interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the future lease
payments as a result of interest rate benchmark reform, the
Group applies the practical expedient to remeasure the lease
liabilities by discounting the revised lease payments using the
unchanged discount rate and makes a corresponding adjustment
to the related right-of-use assets. A lease modification is required
by interest rate benchmark reform if, and only if, both of these
conditions are met:

° the modification is necessary as a direct consequence of
interest rate benchmark reform; and

o the new basis for determining the lease payments is
economically equivalent to the previous basis (i.e. the basis
immediately preceding the modification).

If lease modifications are made in addition to those lease
modifications required by interest rate benchmark reform, the
Group applies the applicable requirements in HKFRS 16 (see the
accounting policy above) to account for all lease modifications
made at the same time, including those required by interest rate
benchmark reform.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) in Hong Kong as defined contribution plan are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—#F=A=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and
when employees rendered the services. All short-term employee
benefits are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS
requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an
asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such
as wages, salaries and annual leave) after deducting any amount
already paid.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the management of the Group is required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these

estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimates are revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—F=A=+—HIFE

4,

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Recognition of revenue from the provision of design,
supply and installation services for facade works and
building metal finishing works

The Group recognises revenue from the provision of design,
supply and installation services for facade works and building
metal finishing works progressively over time using input method
based on the proportion of total contract costs incurred at
the end of reporting period compared to the estimated total
budgeted contract costs to complete the contract when control
of the goods or service is transferred to the customer. The Group
reviews and revises the estimated total budgeted contract costs
to complete the satisfaction of these services and the margin of
each project as the contract progresses. Budgeted contract costs
are prepared by the management of the Group on the basis of
quotations from time to time provided by the subcontractors,
suppliers or vendors involved and the experience of the
management of the Group. In order to keep the budget accurate
and up-to-date, management of the Group conducts periodic
reviews and revisions of the budgets of contracts by comparing
the budgeted amounts to the actual amounts incurred. Since
the measurement of the revenue relies on estimations of total
budgeted contract costs, changes to estimated total budgeted
contract costs could give rise to material variances in the amount
of revenue recognised.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group generated
revenue of HK$223,991,000 (2021: HK$220,788,000) from the
provision of design, supply and installation services for facade
works and building metal finishing works.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—#F=A=+—HILFE

4,

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Impairment assessment of trade receivables and
contract assets

The management of the Group estimates the amount of loss
allowances for ECL on the trade receivables and contract
assets individually based on their credit risk, after considering
the historical default experience and the financial position of
the counterparties, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors and general economic conditions of the industry in which
the debtors operate.

When measuring ECL, the Group uses reasonable and
supportable forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. Loss given default is an estimate of the loss
arising on default. It is based on the difference between all the
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group would
expect to receive, taking into account cash flows from collateral
and integral credit enhancements. Probability of default
constitutes a key input in measuring ECL. Probability of default is
an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon,
the calculation of which includes historical data, assumptions
and expectations of future conditions. Therefore, the amount
of the impairment loss based on ECL model is measured as the
difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive. The assessment of the credit risk
of trade receivables and contract assets involves high degree of
estimation and uncertainty. When the actual future cash flows
are less than expected or more than expected due to changes
in forward-looking information, a material impairment loss or a
material reversal of impairment loss may arise accordingly.

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of trade receivables
was HK$20,429,000 (2021: HK$17,872,000) (net of loss allowances
of HK$3,673,000 (2021: HK$294,000)).

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of contract assets was
HK$72,819,000 (2021: HK$76,834,000) (net of loss allowance of
HK$5,055,000 (2021: HK$1,942,000)).
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BZEZE—T-_—F=-H=+—HItFE

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Revenue represents the fair value of amounts received and
receivable from the provision of design, supply and installation

5. WERoHER

WaEAEBEREE@IND T P RAS
H%I%E&L %%ﬁﬁﬁl%im -I— {/\

services for facade works and building metal finishing works ERZERBHEKREREKESEAF
in Hong Kong by the Group to external customers which is B HEEREEAR A KERRE AR
recognised over time using the input method and derived from FENORBAEH -
long-term contracts during the year.
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Recognised over time BB B R TR AR
Design, supply and installation services for A TNEIBRIRET « HER LE RS
— facade works —SNE T2 194,218 189,735
- building metal finishing works —BESEMMIE 29,773 31,053
223,991 220,788

The Group’s operating activities are attributable to a single
operating segment focusing on the provision of design, supply
and installation services for facade works and building metal
finishing works. This operating segment has been identified
on the basis of internal management reports that are regularly
reviewed by the chief operating decision maker (“CODM"),
being Mr. Chu, the chief executive officer and executive director
of the Company, for the purpose of resources allocation and
performance assessment. Other than revenue analysis, no
operating results and other discrete financial information is
available for the assessment of performance.

The CODM reviews the (loss) profit for the year of the Group as a
whole to make decisions about resources allocation. No analysis
of segment assets or segment liabilities is presented as they
are not regularly provided to the CODM. The operation of the
Group constitutes one single operating segment under HKFRS
8 "Operating segments” and accordingly, no separate segment
information other than entity level information is prepared.

The customers of the Group are mainly property developers
and main contractors in Hong Kong. All of the Group's provision
of design, supply and installation services for facade works
and building metal finishing works are made directly with the
customers. Contracts with the Group’s customers are mainly
fixed-price contracts.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—#F=A=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations for contracts with customers
The table below shows the aggregate amount of the transaction
price allocated to performance obligations that are unsatisfied (or
partially unsatisfied) as at the end of the reporting period.

WKk oEHER @)

TRERFENBRTENEENRS

&
TRETNBERRDEEEARETT (B
DRBITNBENEENRHERRE -

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FTExT FHET
Provision of design, supply and installation 2HEINE TIE R EELE
services for facade works and building #hE TA2AERET - B R
metal finishing works 8 PRI 355,443 569,204

These amounts disclosed above do not include transaction price
allocated to performance obligations which have been satisfied
but not yet recognised due to variable consideration constraint.

Based on the information available to the Group at the end of
the reporting period, the management of the Group expects the
transaction price allocated to the above unsatisfied (or partially
unsatisfied) contracts in respect of provision of design, supply
and installation services for facade works and building metal
finishing works as at 31 March 2022 will be recognised as revenue
during the years ending 31 March 2023 to 31 March 2025 (2021:
years ended/ending 31 March 2022 to 31 March 2024).

Geographical information

All of the Group’s revenue from external customers was
generated from customers located in Hong Kong and all of
the Group's non-current assets (excluding rental deposits and
deferred tax assets) were located in Hong Kong.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—F=A=+—HIFE

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

WKk oEHER @)

Information about major customers ERETEEFNESR
Revenue from customers individually contributing over 10% of RAFZ BRI BRI E AN EEAKEH10%
the total revenue of the Group during the year are as follows: WEPEENKENT
2022 2021
—E-CF - —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET AT
Customer A’ BPA 53,108 N/A® @R
Customer B2 BB 39,917 23,454
Customer C! EEC 32,462 N/A3 TN E A
Customer D? = FD? 23,081 N/A® i F?
Customer E! EPE N/A® FE3 43,814
Customer F' BPF N/A® B3 30,275
Customer G2 EFG? N/A® RiE 3 26,600
Notes: BisE
1. Revenue from design, supply and installation services for facade works. 1. REINELIZRRAT - HIE R LR R HI W o
2. Revenue from design, supply and installation services for facade works and 2. REIMNELE REESBE TZRG - #

building metal finishing works.

38 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total revenue
of the Group for the relevant year.

J& R 2 IR Ak A

3. FRRETETMBEAEENEHFER
Wz5#910% °
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e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—#F=A=+—HILFE

6. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 6. HA - W REEFHE

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FTExT FAT
Loss on write-off of property and equipment #5512 & & &8 = (1,498)
Gain arising from early termination of lease #EAIAIEHE S LIATE £ R W
contracts - 142
Government grants (Note) BT B (BT ) - 2,577
Bank interest income RITHEUA 148 315
Guaranteed income from a life insurance  ASRBIREWZE
policy 92 184
Sundry income FETEIA 268 =
508 1,720
Note: During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group received government MieE : RBE-T—F=A=t+—RALLFE  £~&
grants of HK$2,577,000 in respect of 2019 Novel Coronavirus related B3t — T — N RS AR R 5 A B R MR
subsidies of which HK$2,527,000 relates to Employment Support Scheme B # 812,577,000/8 7T + H 12,527,000/ 7T
provided by the Hong Kong government. BEBBRAHR AR G260 -

7. NET IMPAIRMENT LOSSES RECOGNISED 7. RHGEEEEEXEINE
(REVERSED) UNDER EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS HERR (RO R E RSB F
MODEL

2022 2021
—E-CF =B —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FAT
Net impairment losses recognised HATZIEDHR L) HRE
(reversed) on: E5i8)FEE ¢
— trade receivables — B 5 EINIA 3,379 159
— contract assets —BHEE 3,113 (160)
6,492 )
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. EMEMHAK
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FTExT FAET
Interests on: LA B ERFIE
— bank borrowings —IRITERK 306 462
— lease liabilities —HEaE 423 490
729 952
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e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—F=A=+—HIFE

9. (LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 9. PBRBIAT(EE)EF
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET T
(Loss) profit before taxation has been BT (B SRS EBRIAT
arrived at after charging: I8
Directors’ remunerations (note 10) FEHM(FFE10)
Fee e 540 519
Other emoluments =giofiea 4,374 4,370
4,914 4,889
Other staff costs Hh 8 T
Salaries and other benefits e RHAET] 28,825 26,629
Retirement benefit scheme contributions  EAh 8 TiRKERFHEIH R
for other staffs 918 823
Total staff costs 8 TR A4E%8 34,657 32,341
Auditor’s remuneration A GIEAT 1,080 1,200
Variable rents in respect of office Rt AHEEBENPNERE
equipment which are not included ATEES (M)
in lease liabilities (Note) 56 52
Depreciation on property and equipment  #13 &% BT E 3,699 3,250
and after crediting: REFtA

Guaranteed income from a life insurance ~ ASRBRFRFUEE

policy 92 184
Note: The operating lease rentals for office equipment are determined according M MAERBHECEHEHSDRBELETE
to predetermined fixed cost and the excess usage of printing pages pursuant HEEK A EABBEERETE 2 R R
to terms and conditions that are set out in respective rental agreements. GG THRBBEERVINEHERE -
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e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—#F=A=+—HILFE

10. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S 10. E%  EETTHRAEBREEN

AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS #r i

(a) Directors’, chief executive officer’'s and employees’ (a) EE BETHAEREEDN
emoluments T
Details of the emoluments paid or payable by the Group RERRNEED R AR TS

to the directors of the Company and the chief executive
officer of the Group (including emoluments for services as
employees or directors of the Group) during the year are as

ERAEEREFITERA BB M
(BREEAEEREHEEZNF

follows: BB -
Performance  Retirement
Salaries related benefit
and other incentive scheme
Fees  allowances payments contributions Total
HER REHH RIKER
e Het2a REAIR HE e @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TRT TRL TRT TRT TRL

(Note)
(FizE)
Year ended 31 March 2022 BZ-ZE-"f=H
=+-BLEEFE
Executive directors: WIES:
Mr. Chu REE(THAR)
(Chief executive officer) - 1,944 810 18 2,772
Mr. Tsang Chiu Wan LR E(BEE])

("Mr. Tsang") - 1,267 317 18 1,602
Sub-total iy - 3,211 1,127 36 4,374
Independent non-executive BV IFHTES :

directors:

Ms. Leung Yin Fai PEEL L 180 - - - 180

Mr. Ma Tsz Chun BRELE 180 - - - 180

Ms. Yuen Wai Yee REGLL 180 - - - 180
Sub-total et 540 = = = 540
Total it 540 3,211 1,127 36 4,914
Year ended 31 March 2021 §Z=Z=—f=F

=t-HLFE

Executive directors: WTES:

Mr. Chu REETHRH)

(Chief executive officer) = 1,782 810 18 2,610

Mr. Tsang BRE - 1,214 528 18 1,760
Sub-total et - 2,996 1,338 36 4,370
Independent non-executive BV IFHTES :

directors:

Ms. Leung Yin Fai B L L 173 = = = 173

Mr. Ma Tsz Chun SEHETAE 173 - - - 173

Ms. Yuen Wai Yee REBLL 173 - - - 173
Sub-total et 519 = = = 519
Total fct 519 2,996 1,338 36 4,889
Note: The performance related incentive payments are determined based MiEE - RBEBRENFBENMEFED

on the performance of the individuals and the Group and market AARAEERFARTIZRRETE -

condition for both years.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—F=A=+—HIFE

10. EE - RETHAEBREEN
£ (€]

10. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S
AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’, chief executive officer's and employees’ (a) EE - BETBRAEBREEN
emoluments (Continued) (&)
The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were FRATAITESNFHM D ERE
for their services in connection with the management of MEBRAEEEHREHRNRSE
the affairs of the Group. The independent non-executive B o EXTRBIERITEENH
directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their MFZERRERIRARIESRRE
services as directors of the Company. HE IR -
Mr. Chu was appointed as the chief executive officer and REFCEZERARAINITHER
executive director of the Company and his emoluments RHITESE - A LaHme mmE
above include those for services rendered by him as a chief RATBAEH TR RTINS -
executive officer.

(b) Employees’ emoluments (b) EEFHM

The five highest paid individuals include two (2021: two)
directors of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2022, details of whose emoluments are included above.
The emoluments of the remaining three (2021: three)
highest paid individuals who are neither a director nor chief
executive officer of the Company are as follows:

HE-_ T - —F#=A=+—HItF
- AEmaiMA LS BEER
H(ZEZ—F - WAB)ARAE
E EBREEFHOFEBEIN L
X oM T=%(ZE-_—F:=%4)
BEFMAL(LIIERATES
SR1TBRAB)MBEIT -

2022 2021

—EC-CF —E—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET AT

Salaries and other allowances e RHEAMERL 2,523 2,412
Performance related incentive FIRBMDSEENT R (PRE)

payments (Note) 911 1,365

Retirement benefit scheme BRIREFIET B
contributions 54 54
3,488 3,831

Note: The performance related incentive payments are determined based
on the performance of the individuals and the Group and market
condition for both years.

MiEE - RREARENFBEAMEFES
EARAEBRBT AR THRRETE ©
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e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—#F=A=+—HILFE

10. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S 10. E%  EETTHRAEBREEN

AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued) =10 (6

(b) Employees’ emoluments (Continued) (b) EEFM(E)
The emoluments of remaining highest paid individuals who BRI IEARRBEFNZEFHMA
are not directors of the Company were within the following THFBEE AT -
band:

Number of individuals

AE
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,0017%& 7 21,500,000/ 7T 3 <]
No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors of AEEMERNARTNEETKAAR
the Company or the five highest paid individuals (including SHEMAT(BREEERES )X
directors and employees), as an inducement to join or e - tEARSIENAREER
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of SN A& B S E) S E A BRI W (8
office. None of the directors of the Company nor the chief % AMEFE  HMEARARFES
executive officer of the Group waived or agreed to waive FAEBETBTHRAENREXRE
any emoluments for both years. MEE M E -
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—F=A=+—HIFE

11. INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE 1. FIEH(ER)EX

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET

The income tax (credit) expense comprises: T (&)X B ¢
Hong Kong Profits Tax BBNEH

Current year RERZ = 4,440
(Over)underprovision in prior years BEFEGERERE) BETE (42) 3
(42) 4,443

Deferred tax credit (note 23) RIEFEE S (I 5E23) (3,902) (225)
(3,944) 4,218

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime in Hong Kong, the BRBEFEMEHRAS  —HaER

first HK$2,000,000 of profits of one qualifying group entity will be
taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2,000,000 of that qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 16.5%. Accordingly, Hong Kong
Profits Tax of the qualifying entity is calculated in accordance with
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The profits of other group
entities in Hong Kong not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime continue to be taxed at the flat rate of 16.5%.

The income tax (credit) expense for the year can be reconciled to
the (loss) profit before taxation per statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as follows:

£ B & 88 7 #9 & 2,000,000 % 7T # 12
B25%MTRHH - MR BREEERE
2,000,000/ 7T LA _F B9 F 42 16.5% H) 1%
R - Bt - AERERNBFENE
MRBHSHARGTE - TEERZ
HANSHMANNBEECEEERE
BIRE — 16 SBEANRNEHL

REEMMEH(ER) A Ei8as R E
i 2 T W 2R PR O BR A5 A (8548 ) it 1)
HERWT ¢

2022 2021
—E-CF —E—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THT
(Loss) profit before taxation FrEiAl(E1E)m T (26,600) 25,954
Tax (credit) charge at the applicable i A TSR 16.5% T E /R 1E
income tax rate at 16.5% (o) (4,389) 4,282
Tax effect of expenses not deductible NIRRT 2
for tax purpose 493 663
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax AU AR T 7% 52 22
purpose (29) (512)
Tax effect of two-tiered profits tax rates BEBNET AR BRI 2
regime in Hong Kong = (165)
(Over)underprovision in prior years BEFE(REREBETRE (42) 3
Others Hi 23 (53)
Income tax (credit) expense for the year — FRATEH (KR )FAX (3,944) 4,218
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—#F=A=+—HILFE

12. DIVIDENDS 12. BRE
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Dividends recognised as distribution RENERBDIKMARE
during the year:
Final dividend paid for 2021 of HK cent 1.0 $t=Z = —FR{TAIREIAL B
(2021: Final dividend paid for 2020 of HK ~ &R1.0BII(ZT=—4F :
cent 0.5) per share R T _TEIRMNERERE
FR%0.5%10) 20,000 10,000
The directors of the Company do not recommend the payment ARaEFefgzkNEz—_2 =
of a final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2022. FZRA=+—HILFEHRAKE -
13. (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. BR(EHE)EF
The calculation of basic (loss) earnings per share is based on the FRER(EE) BFEA TEIERTE ¢
following data:
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET T
(Loss) earnings: (EE) &R
(Loss) profit for the year for the purpose  BLEtE EBRER(EE) BFIH
of calculating basic (loss) earnings FRER)EN
per share (22,656) 21,736
‘000 ‘000
T8 TR
Number of shares: A8 -
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ BtstEGRER(EE)2FIH
shares for the purpose of calculating AR I I B
basic (loss) earnings per share 2,000,000 1,980,822
No diluted (loss) earnings per share is presented as the Group ERAEERMEFENEDBITERE
has no potential ordinary shares in issue during both years. TR I EZYEFREE(EE) A

7 o

148 LOTUS HORIZON HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—F=A=+—HIFE

14. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 14. YPEREE
Right-of-use assets Office
kRRRE equipment
Office Office Leasehold and
equipment premises Sub-total improvements furniture Total
HENE  BAERE
BAERE  MOENE gt k6 R&H st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TR TR TR TR TR TR

cosT RA

At 1 April 2020 RZZ-TENWA-A 927 5,843 6770 1762 1367 9,899
Additions AE 1274 10914 12,190 5,854 35% 18400
Early termination of lease contracts ~ JEATIR LR EAL) (72) (5,577) (6,449) = = (6,449)
Write-off Gz - (302) (302) (2869) (170) (3,341)
At 31 March 2021 R-E-—%#=A=1-H 1,331 10878 12209 4747 1,553 18,509
Additions RE 47 174 W 61 I 33
Write-off ez 29) = 29 = - 29
At 31 March 2022 R-E--#=A=1-H 12349 11,052 12401 4,808 1,594 18,803
DEPRECIATION ik

At 1 April 2020 RZZ-TEMA-A 576 3353 3929 1418 851 6,198
Provided for the year EREE 289 1,944 2233 815 202 3250
Early termination of lease contracts 1A IEREAH (59) (3,521) @117 = - @17
Eliminated on write-off lGeiGeafs - (172) (172) (1,501) (170 (1,843)
At 31 March 2021 RZE--F#=fA=+-H 29 1,604 1873 732 883 3488
Provided for the year EnEE 300 2208 2528 953 218 369
Eliminated on write-off falEEy (29) = (29) = = (29)
At 31 March 2022 R-E--F=A=+-H 540 3832 4372 1,685 1,101 7.158
CARRYING VALUES RAGE

At 31 March 2022 RZE-—&#=A=+-H 809 7.220 8,029 3123 a9 11,645
At 31 March 2021 RZE--#=fA=+-H 1,062 9.274 10,33 4015 670 15,021
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e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BZE=—T-_—F=-HA=+—HILFE

14. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of property
and equipment, using the straight-line method, at the following
rates per annum:

Right-of-use assets Over the shorter of lease
terms or 5 years

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of lease
terms or 5 years

Office equipment and furniture 20%

14. MERRZREE®

AREBEHRTERE  URBERER
BRI R B 5 e B IR B EE K
 :

EREEE HHEE5F (JAR
RERE)

HEMERE A5 (LA
FERE)

WAEREBREM  20%

2022 2021

—EC-CF —EF-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

TET FAT

Expense relating to short-term leases B E AN = 29
Variable lease payments not included Rt AHEAGETEN

in the measurement of lease liabilities AIEHEEN K 56 52

Total cash outflow for leases HERSRHBEE 2,774 2,302

For both years, the Group leases various office premises and
office equipment for its operations. Lease contracts are entered
into for fixed term of 6 months to 5 years. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of
different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group
applies the definition of a contract and determines the period for
which the contract is enforceable.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—F=A=+—HIFE

14. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

15.

Some of the office equipment in which the Group is the lessee
contain variable lease payment terms that are based on excess
usage of printing pages. The variable lease payments depend on
the usage of printing pages for each month of the leased office
equipment. Variable lease payment terms are used to link rental
payments to actual usage of printing pages and to reduce fixed
cost. The amount of fixed and variable lease payments paid/
payable to relevant lessors for the year ended 31 March 2022:

14.

MERRE®

AEEEAERRANETRASRES
RASEENRIER - ARIERENR
BEASODEY - TEAENZE TR
ERATREEAFINEHAEME -
AR M RIERAREEREN SRR
EEFIENESAELRERTRAE - 7
BE-—T-—&#=A=+-—ALEE
B RER R FA B B T R A A
BENZEEMT -

2022 2021
—E-CF =B —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FAT
Fixed payments (& 7E SRE
— for certain office equipment with — BB T E# N FRIER
variable payment terms BETMAER 334 308
— for other lease assets —BHAMEERE 2,384 1,913
2,718 2,221
Variable payments for certain office BETHAEXREN R ENIE
equipment 56 52
2,774 2,273
Restrictions or covenants on leases FAE MR EIH2E

Lease liabilities of HK$8,024,000 (2021: HK$10,098,000) are
recognised with related right-of-use assets of HK$8,029,000 (2021:
HK$10,336,000) as at 31 March 2022. The lease agreements do
not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the
leased assets that are held by the lessors. Leased assets may not
be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Details of the lease maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set out
in note 21.

DEPOSIT AND PREPAYMENT FOR A LIFE
INSURANCE POLICY

The amount represents deposit and prepayment for a life
insurance policy for a director of the Company, namely Mr. Chu.

15.

RZEBE-_—_F=ZA=+—H " EER
THE B 1E8,024,0008 T (ZE = —4F :
10,098,000 % jT ) EE 4B B (2 FR #E & &=
8,029,000/ 7t (=& — — 4 : 10,336,000
BIL) c REAABENHELEEFTE
RIEZIN - MEBZEDHEMNERZZEE -
MEEENSRAERROERm -

HEBBENHEEI T HBENCM T
21 e

ASREBNEERANKIE

ZRREARE —RER(BIREL)HN
ABRREHRE RIANFOR -
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—#F=A=+—HILFE

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 16. EZ R HAEWFIE

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FTExT FAT
Trade receivables =) e e 24,102 18,166
Less: Allowances for impairment o ORE R (3,673) (294)
20,429 17,872
Rental deposits HEZ® 743 728
Deposits and prepayments e RIANFRIE 5,455 4,825
Other receivables H At EUGRIR 613 907
27,240 24,332

Less: Rental deposits classified as B DEAIERBH D
non-current portion e (743) (728)

Current portion of trade and other B 5 & E A W FRIER

receivables RENER D 26,497 23,604

Trade receivables represent amounts receivable for work certified
after deduction of retention money by customers.

The Group usually allows a credit period ranging from 30 to 74
days to its customers. Before accepting any new customers, the
Group will internally assess the potential customer’s credit quality
and defines credit limits by customers. Recoverability of the
existing customers is reviewed by the Group regularly.

As at 1 April 2020, the trade receivables amounted to
HK$13,874,000, net of loss allowances of HK$135,000.
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e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—F=A=+—HIFE

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 16. BE5 K H t BUCRIE (4)

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables, net
of loss allowances, presented based on the approval dates of
work certified by architects, surveyors or other representatives
appointed by the customers, at the end of the reporting period,
which are also the dates when the Group's right to consideration
became unconditional.

AT RRBEPIREREFPAMREMNRE
Bh - BB EMRRMRAEZ TIEN
it B R (TR 73 75 5= [ W ER A (B B0 R 7 B
REIRMZB) IR E 5 YRR (1
BRIEIREE) R DT -

2022 2021

—E-CF —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

0 to 30 days 0Z30H 5,254 9,530
31 to 60 days 31E60H 834 7,117
67 to 90 days 61290H 14,335 -
Over 90 days HBiE90H 6 1,225
20,429 17,872

As at 31 March 2022, included in the Group's trade receivables
balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
HK$15,018,000 (2021: HK$2,897,000) which are past due as at the
reporting date. Out of the past due balances, HK$6,000 (2021:
HK$1,644,000) has been past due 90 days or more and is not
considered as in default based on repayment records of those
customers and continuous business with the Group.

RZB-_—_F=A=+—H ' x&£E
MNESRKFIEERBERAZER
15,018,000 7o (—Z & — —4F : 2,897,000
B7r) ARiRE HHIE s ER A FEURBRZR o
B Ei4EsRT - 6,000 (T - —4F ¢
1,644,000 7T) B @ Hi90H sk A = - B
ERBEZERFPNERCHEEAEERN
SEEEGRBIEL -

Trade receivables B 2 EWFIE
Loss allowances for trade receivables have been measured at an B o RRFIBENBERERESCER
amount equal to lifetime ECL under simplified approach. EREHEREEERNSRETE

Details of the impairment assessment of trade receivables are set
out in note 18.

Otbher receivables (including refundable rental deposits)
For purpose of impairment assessment, other receivables
(including refundable rental deposits) are considered to have
low credit risk as they are not due for payment at the end of the
reporting period and there has been no significant increase in
the risk of default on other receivables since initial recognition.
Accordingly, for the purpose of impairment assessment for these
receivables, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to 12m ECL. For the year ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, the
Group assessed the ECL for other receivables were insignificant
and thus no loss allowance was recognised.

B 5 R R E R R IS R MY &
18 °

HiEWFIE (BETERREERSE)
FUREREME - EtEGRIE(BIER
ROMHEZS)REAREERR  BA
RIRERZERBLIEEHAER - B
B ] 25 T 7R 8 B b FE U GRIR Y 2 4 R B
WAAEEIL N - ALt - BZREEWGKIE
RUREREME - BEBEIEEN12
ERAEHEEFBIENSEE - HEZ
T FR-E-_—F=ZRA=+—HIt
FE - AREC R IEE XA E A ERGR
HEREEAEESE BtV ERRES
B o

BHRBEBRERERAR /| —E__FFRK

153



154

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HEZZT=-—

17. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT

F=A=1t—HILFE

17. BRNEEREGRNAE

LIABILITIES
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET T
Analysed for reporting purposes, on a net MIMEBH - ZHEEEL
basis for each respective contract: SFEEEEITON
Contract assets BREE
— facade works —HIME T2 68,070 66,357
- building metal finishing works —EECBHm IE 9,804 12,419
77,874 78,776
Less: Allowances for impairment W RERE
— facade works —SNE TR (5,039) (1,883)
- building metal finishing works —EESEMEIRE (16) (59
(5,055) (1,942)
72,819 76,834
Contract assets, net of allowances for BRIEE(MBRRERE)
impairment
— facade works — AN T2 63,031 64,474
- building metal finishing works BESEMHEIE 9,788 12,360
72,819 76,834
Contract liabilities AREE
— facade works —SMNE T2 (216) (638)
— building metal finishing works —BRETEMHEmIIZ (479) =
(695) (638)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—F=A=+—HIFE

17. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT

LIABILITIES (Continued)

17. BHNEEREGHNEE®)

2022 2021
—EC-CF —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET T
Analysed on a gross basis for each respective FHEEG 4 ABRREEELT
contract: Pax ik
Contract assets BREE
— facade works —HIME T2 73,129 66,445
- building metal finishing works —RES B IR 10,526 12,966
83,655 79,411
Less: Allowances for impairment W B E
— facade works —SNE TR (5,039) (1,883)
- building metal finishing works —EESEMEIRE (16) (59
(5,055) (1,942)
78,600 77,469
Contract assets, net of allowances for BRIEE(MBRRERE)
impairment
— facade works —HNE T2 68,090 64,562
- building metal finishing works —BRECEEmLE 10,510 12,907
78,600 77,469
Contract liabilities AREE
— facade works —SNE T2 (5,275) (726)
- building metal finishing works —RESEMEIE (1,201) (547)
(6,476) (1,273)

BHREBIERERAR / —EFFH
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17. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT

LIABILITIES (Continued)

Contract assets

Contract assets arise when the Group has right to consideration
for completion of design, supply and installation of facade works
and building metal finishing works and not yet billed under the
relevant contracts, and its right is conditioned on factors other
than passage of time. Any amount previously recognised as a
contract asset is reclassified to trade receivables when such right
becomes unconditional other than the passage of time.

In addition, contract assets arise when customers withhold certain
certified amounts payable to the Group as retention money to
secure the due performance of the contracts.

Retention receivables, included in contract assets, represent the
money withheld by the customers to secure the due performance
of the contracts. The customers normally withhold 10% of the
certified amount payable to the Group as retention money
(accumulated up to maximum 5% of contract sum). 50% of
retention receivable is normally recoverable upon the issuance
of the certificate of practical completion by the architects for
the completion of respective projects. The remaining 50% is
recoverable after the completion of defect liability period of
the relevant contracts or in accordance with the terms specified
in the relevant contracts, ranging from 1 to 2 years from the
date of completion of respective projects. Any amount of
retention receivables previously recognised as a contract asset is
reclassified to trade receivables at the point at which it becomes
unconditional and is invoiceable to the customer. The retention
money does not have any significant financing component for
financing benefit. The amounts are unsecured and interest-free.

As at 1 April 2020, the contract assets amounted to
HK$79,579,000 on a gross basis for each respective contract,
net of loss allowances of HK$2,102,000, and amounted to
HK$79,313,000 on a net basis for each respective contract, net of
loss allowances of HK$2,102,000, respectively.

LOTUS HORIZON HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—#F=A=+—HILFE

17. BHNEEREGHNEE®)

BREE

EAKEERMTRIME TRRREES
BhE Ti2M R - HERLTERKRR
B maAREABEHLAZER A
HHE R T BRUR 7 B R A DA S O B &R
- ELERNEE - EEBEMNKE
B (RRRARINE - AR R
EBHEENTNEHEEFROIELRESRE
YRR

o ERFHERNAKENETE
RECRERRESUERZERITE
e ELRNEE -

FEUREE (FFAGHNEE) REFPHIE
REEZEITANMIMENTIIE - BF —
BHERNAEENEZESRI0%ER
REE(RESERNEERES%) ° &
W iR B © 8950% — MR AT R 2 SERD 3L AR A IR
BRTHELANERRTIERER KD -
#R T 50% R XN AERE A K RIEBTTARIR AR
EHRESHIANER(HREERTA
HEEFT T 1229 ) [ - ERTER RS
#VE EM M YR E 2 AN EK R
BEMARATPHARERERIEE
B 5 RWHIA - RE S W ETA A ES
BENGMERBREMAKED - XL 8
REERRRE

MW_ZE-ZTFENB—B - SHEEAHIN
REBEELENEHEERT,579,000/%8
TT (H1E B 1B B 452,102,00058 7T ) & A&
AN FREETENENEER
79,313,000 7t (30 B &5 48 # 452,102,000
BT °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—F=A=+—HIFE

17. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 17. BREERENAE®)

LIABILITIES (Continued)

Contract assets (Continued)

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amounts of retention
receivables, included in contract assets, net of loss allowances,

held by customers for contract works amounting to
HK$28,143,000 (2021: HK$28,619,000).

The retention receivables, net of loss allowances, are to be
settled as follows:

BHEEE)
RZEBE-_ZF=A=+—H8 - EKRREA
CHEAEREEFRANIERAWN
BHEE(FIRREEEE) 528,143,000/
T(ZE=—4 : 28,619,000/7T) °

FEM IR Bl & (FNRR B IR BE) #S3Z T 51
AEE

2022 2021

—E-CF —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FER FAT

On demand or within one year BRENRKY—F A 12,190 15,114
After one year —F1& 15,953 13,505
28,143 28,619

Details of the impairment assessment of contract assets are set
out in note 18.

Contract liabilities

Contract liabilities primarily relate to the Group's obligation to
transfer project works services to customers for which the Group
has received consideration from the customers in advance. The
contract liabilities as at 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021 have been
recognised as revenue for the year ended 31 March 2021 and 31
March 2022, respectively. The contract liabilities as at 31 March
2022 will be recognised as revenue for the year ending 31 March
2023.

BREERENMENFBHNHEES

=¥ Sh-Ni
AHEBEFERAEEREFAPFERIEE
TRREHETER  AEEEHRZE
FEEATFWRRNAE -RZT=ZZTF
MA—HEZZE=Z—4F=A=+—80H
AHEAENBRABE-_ZS-_—F=
A=+—BR=-TE-_—Ff=A=+—
BEFEMRZE - RZTE-_—_F=H
=+t HHNEYNEaEBERAEEE-Z
T=F=ZA=1+—HILFEHIES -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BZE=—T-_—F=-HA=+—HILFE

17. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (Continued)
Contract liabilities (Continued)
The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised
in the current year relates to carried-forward contract liabilities.

. BREEREHNER®)

BREEE)
TRERAE S ORAEE R U 25 52

RESGNRERR -

2022 2021
—EC-CF —E—F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
TET FAET
Revenue recognised that was included FORTAZHEANIALE
in the contract liabilities balance on a gross ~ EEENEHABLEHA
basis for each respective contract at the B RIS
beginning of the year 1,273 266

Changes of contract assets and contract liabilities during the year
ended 31 March 2022 were mainly due to (i) changes on progress
of contract works when the Group satisfies the performance
obligations under the contracts or when the relevant services
were completed but not yet been certified by architects,
surveyors or other representatives appointed by the customers
at the end of the reporting period; or (i) reclassification to trade
receivables when the Group has unconditional right to the
consideration.

As at 1 April 2020, the contract liabilities amounted to HK$266,000

on a gross basis for each respective contract and amounted to
HK$Nil on a net basis for each respective contract, respectively.

LOTUS HORIZON HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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REMERAHNTIREZES  Hii)E
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T ABRHEEANNFRELEFENS
MEBERTEIT -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e TR RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—F=A=+—HIFE

18. IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENTS OF TRADE
RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT ASSETS

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group makes periodic
individual assessments on the recoverabilities of trade
receivables and contract assets and develops and maintains the
Group's credit risk grading to categorise exposures according
to their degree of risk of default. The credit rating information is
supplied by independent rating agencies where available and, if
not available, the management of the Group uses other publicly
available financial information and the Group’s own trading
records to rate its major customers and other debtors.

18. EZRWRERSNEERE

A

STEREREEERR  AKETEHY
B 5 U IA R A K& E R A Bl 1
TEBFE  AHERREAEBEE
RBREFAR - ARBEE W E R IEE AR
B - EEFRERTIRB TR
BREMWE)  BAAKEEEES®E
REMARASHNTHEER RAKE R
SNE ST BWXIBERPMEMER
NG

Internal credit rating Description Basis for recognising ECL
A EBIEERTAR Ei:pus BRANFEBERENEE
Strong The counterparty, as the department within the Lifetime ECL — not

government, has a low risk of default

credit-impaired

e R GEF (VERBITEFD) E LN R RIRE EHEMEEEE -
FEEERE
Good The counterparties, as listed companies with strong Lifetime ECL — not
financial background based on the published credit-impaired
financial information publicly available in the
market, credibility and good repayment record,
has a low risk of default
RiF RHEFERBEREEN S R(RBNRTS AR S HTEREEER -

ABHETIEMBER) - ERERRYE

ERRADHENERRE

BN FHEERE

Satisfactory The counterparties, having no balances past due over  Lifetime ECL — not

30 days or occasionally having certain balances credit-impaired

past due over 30 days and with good repayment

record, has moderate default risk

mE RHHF(TEaPBEANERABARETEHRE 2HEREEEE -
HAER B30 A BB AR R 4F ) BV & KRB AN FEEERE

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL — credit-
credit-impaired impaired

i BREBERTNABEECBREEERE A EEEE -

EERE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in Amount is written off
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery

s BREBEREBABABREVHRE L ANEETRR MBS

B 1& R B A B3R

BHRBEBRERERAR /| —E__FFRK
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—#F=A=+—HILFE
ESRWREREHNEERE

18. IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENTS OF TRADE 18.

RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT ASSETS
(Continued)

In determining the ECL, the management of the Group has
taken into account the historical default experience and the
financial position of the counterparties, adjusted for factors that
are specific to the debtors and general economic conditions
of the industry in which the debtors operate, in estimating
the probability of default of each of the trade receivables and
contract assets occurring within their respective loss assessment
time horizon, as well as the loss upon default in each case.

The table below provides information about the exposure to
credit risk and ECL for trade receivables and contract assets
which are assessed individually based on internal credit rating
as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 within lifetime ECL (not credit-
impaired).

E2r16)

BETEMEERER  AEEEEED
EZRR ST HBER KR LT BN
o WHHEBFAMEEENRERE
BARERETENEREEREFN
AE - NEAEZEBERFRBARGNEE
EERERBBATEEEERNELE
EHOATREN - URBBRATHENRE
5o

TR EEABEGRUGRBERGHNEE
MEERBEBEHREEBENER - %
ZENMBBER T __FR=_FT=_—F
A=+ HMEHEREEEEGEE
BERE) RHABEE TR ETERRE
fth o

Average Gross carrying Impairment
Internal credit rating loss rate amount losses
REBEEFFR FHEEER IREAE L EE 18
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET

As at 31 March 2022 R-B-_=—H=A=+—H
Strong G 0.04% 7,974 3
Good Rf 0.56% 52,672 294
Satisfactory WA 2.41% 39,086 943
99.732 1,240

As at 31 March 2021 R-B-—-H=ZA=+—H
Strong G 0.34% 8,988 31
Good REF 0.68% 34,920 237
Satisfactory A 2.15% 52,836 1,135
96,744 1,403
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—F=A=+—HIFE

18. IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENTS OF TRADE 18. EZEWRERENEERE

RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT ASSETS
(Continued)

The ECL on trade receivables and contract assets are estimated
individually by reference to past default experience of the debtor
and an analysis of the debtor's current financial position, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of
conditions at the reporting date.

A trade receivable or contract asset is written off when there
is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when
the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, or when the trade receivables are over
two years past due, whichever occurs earlier. As at 31 March 2022,
trade receivables and contract assets in a total of HK$6,655,000
which have been written off is subject to enforcement activities.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the year in assessing the
loss allowances for the trade receivables and contract assets. The
individual assessment is regularly reviewed by the management
of the Group to ensure relevant information about the specific
debtor is updated.

E2r16)

BHRUFERANEENTENEERS
BER G EF2EEHANBER
R M BB ARE P BRI DT (5L
EHBARBBAREMETEERER
AR ERIELBE)ARREER
HRAER RS e ORI 0 R R

MHIRERBEREEAEBRENFR
$ BYEEHRWKEINES  HIHEHFA
EITBERUFINWEFRA  EEZRE
WHREAHBBMT (UREREESR
) BHRWBFIEREHEEBHM
HW-RN-T-_—FE=A=+—HB" 2
oA HIMEBUA TRV GE E 5 IEUREE &
BHVEEA $£6,655,00078 7T °

RAFE  HEEZEBKRARBRGNE
EERBEEENATRMTERR
RIEEH - @R EHRAREEIER
EHEN  UERABBTESANE
BMEMS TEH -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—#F=A=+—HILFE

18. IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENTS OF TRADE 18. EZEBRERESNEERE
RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT ASSETS A ()
(Continued)
The movement of the impairment losses in respect of trade REXN - BERBESERWRIBERENEE
receivables and contract assets during the year is as follows: BREEEESHT
Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
not credit-impaired credit-impaired
2HEBEERR - 2HRMEEEE-
FEERE FERE
Trade Contract Trade Contract
receivables assets  receivables assets Total
) S BHNEE EZEUTE BNEE #ct

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET AT THET TET THET
At 1 April 2020 RZZ-FFNA—A 135 789 - 1,313 2,237
Reversal of impairment losses due B BIFR —Z =240 A
to financial assets recognised at  —BHERNEBEE
1 April 2020 MELHBERR (135) (675) - (480) (1,290
New financial assets recognised  FABERHFT R FEE —
during the year - impairment ERRAEER

losses recognised 294 995 = = 1,289
At 31 March 2021 RZZ-—F=A=1+—H 294 1,109 - 833 2,236
Transfer to Lifetime ECL - BREZ2HRNEESE-

credit-impaired EERE - (193) - 193 =
Reversal of impairment losses ~ BEIER =T =—4

due to financial assets HA—BRRNEREE

recognised at 1 April 2021 MESRNRERR (294) (744) = = (1,038)

New financial assets recognised ~ FRBERHFT R EE —

during the year - impairment ERRAEER

losses recognised 379 689 3,294 3,168 7,530
At 31 March 2022 RZZEZZF=A=1—H 379 861 3,294 4,194 8,728
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e TR RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—F=A=+—HIFE

18. IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENTS OF TRADE 18. ESEWRERENEERE
RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT ASSETS A ()
(Continued)
Changes in the impairment losses in respect of trade receivables B ZERRFIERGHNEENRER
and contract assets are mainly due to: BHBESHEEHN -
2022 2021
—E-CF T —F
Increase (decrease) Increase (decrease)
in lifetime ECL in lifetime ECL
EHRHBEE ZHITREEE
51838 i O 2> ) B moRd)
Not credit- Credit- Not credit- Credit-
impaired impaired impaired impaired
FEERE FERE FEERE EERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET AT FAT

Settlement in full of trade B4 SRMEAEE
receivables with a gross 418,166,000/ 7T

carrying amount of (Z==——%F:

HK$18,166,000 (2021: 14,009,000/ 7T)

HK$14,009,000) (294) - (135) -
Transfer of contract assets 2 HATEEEEEE

in lifetime ECL — not FEERENEL

credit-impaired to credit- EBE#EBE(EERE

impaired (193) 193 = =

Transfer of contract assets & HEEERE

to trade receivables with  BREIEE A

a gross carrying amount 60,214,000/ 7T

of HK$60,214,000 (2021: —E-—F:

HK$62,637,000) 62,637,000/ 7T) (744) - (675) (480)
New trade receivables REREAS

and contract assets with 99,094,000/ 7T

gross carrying amount T —F:
of HK$99,094,000 (2021: 85,659,000/ 7T )
HK$85,659,000) 1,068 6,462 1,289 =
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—#F=A=+—HILFE

19.

20.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES
AND CASH

As at 31 March 2022, the pledged bank deposits of
HK$10,776,000 (2021: HK$18,488,000), which carry interest rate at
a range from 0.01% to 0.60% (2021: 0.03% to 0.75%) per annum,
have been pledged to secure the banking facilities granted
to the Group and surety bonds of an aggregate balance of
HK$7,102,000 (2021: HK$10,488,000) given by banks as disclosed
in notes 22, 31 and 32.

Bank balances and cash represent cash held by the Group and
short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three
months or less at an average interest rate of 0.09% (2021: 0.03%)
per annum as at 31 March 2022.

Details of impairment assessment of pledged bank deposits and
bank balances are set out in note 29.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

19.

SRR ITER RITERK
He
NZZEZZF=A=+—8 - #Hw=
22~ 3T MB2FTHEE - AFFENF0.01%
Z0.60%(ZF=—4F : 0.03%%F0.75%) &t
ErE IR TF510,776,0007 7T (=
T — —4F : 18,488,00058 7T ) O {EHE A -
DERAZEBRITE TP AEERNIRITHM
B MBS 57,102,000 T ( —FE = —
£ 110,488,000/ 7T ) B HIRBE ©

RITHEBEASEAEERENRE R
REBEA=ERHATHOERTTF
FRZEZZF=A=1+—HKHTEH
FFER0.09%(ZF_—%F : 0.03%) °

EEMIRITFRRIRITERBEFEF
BRI EE29

20. BEZ R HABRARIA

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FExT FA&T
Trade payables B S EMNFE 10,195 13,987
Retention payables ERES 2,227 3,668
Other payables H AR = 410
Provision for reinstatement cost 1B R A 750 750
Accrued expenses FEFTR S 2,225 2,585
15,397 21,400

Less: provision classified as B DBRRIERBE D B
non-current portion (750) (750)

Current portion of trade and other payables B 5 & H b & 5 IEH

mENEB S 14,647 20,650
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20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—F=A=+—HIFE

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables based on

FENFRIRRRER DT -

the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

20. ES R EMENSRIE )
NTARBREDRABRERZAHNNE S

2022 2021
B _F —E—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET
0 to 30 days 0Z30H 8,891 13,746
31 to 60 days 31E60H 1,304 241
10,195 13,987
The credit period of trade payables is usually ranging from 0 to BEORNRENGEEHBRENF0EI0

30 days.

Trade payables are denominated in currency other than the
functional currency of the respective group entity is set out
below.

H e

EHRNARAEDAEASEERYES
BUASNNEREHE - #IIE -

2022 2021

—E-CF T —4F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Renminbi ("RMB”) ARE(TAR%]D 1,456 726

Retention payables to subcontractors of contract works are
interest-free and payable by the Group after the completion of
maintenance period of the relevant contracts or in accordance
with the terms specified in the relevant contracts for a period
ranging from 1 to 2 years after completion of the relevant works
to the customers.

FBNEHNTIESEEANREEZSRER
BRASERNEEANRERTKIERK
AR B AP AV IR - N REIN
FEPHBIREREI Z26 8 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—#F=A=+—HILFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 20. EZREHMENRE®
The retention payables are to be settled at the end of the 1 17 S 5 B OR 45 5 89 IR - AR (B & 51) X 4
reporting period as follows: 3k
2022 2021
—EB-_F —E—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
On demand or within one year BRERSH—FR 1,016 2,180
After one year — & 1,211 1,488
2,227 3,668
The movement of provision for reinstatement cost during the RERN - ERKABENES 0T :

year is as follows:

HK$'000
FHET
At 1 April 2020 RZZEZZTFMA—H 265
Utilisation of provision BRRE (265)
Provision recognised BRI 750
At 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2022 RZEBZ—F=A=1+—AK
—E-_—F=A=+—H 750
The provision for reinstatement cost relates to the estimated cost Wk 18 B 7S 188 1 B 177 TE DA SR IR R RE S X
of work agreed to be carried out for handing back the Group's SEPRAEYEMETH TIROMETK
office premises in its original condition. These amounts have not AEM ZEHUEBAEIREHAR
been discounted for the purposes of measuring the provision for BEHETAER  RRAEBEEY T =
reinstatement cost as the effect is insignificant. Ko

166 LOTUS HORIZON HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZEZZT=-—

21. LEASE LIABILITIES

F=A=1t—HILFE

21. HESE

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Lease liabilities payable: HEBBEERNATFHRER
— within one year ——FNRX 2,361 2,203
— more than one year but not exceeding ——F LA HEMFIAR
two years 2,371 2,260
— more than two years but not exceeding —MFLAHEBERFIAR
five years 3,292 5,635
8,024 10,098
Less: Amount due for settlement within B mENBEE TR
12 months shown under 1218 A A EIEE R &9
current liabilities IR (2,361) (2,203)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months ~ FERBIEEIE T7RAY12(8 A
shown under non-current liabilities B EIBRERMFRIA 5,663 7,895

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to

lease liabilities is 4.7% (2021: 4.7%).

As at 31 March 2022, the lease liabilities of HK$7,182,000 (2021:
HK$9,014,000) are secured by rental deposits with carrying values
of HK$743,000 (2021: HK$728,000) as set out in note 31.

F& P X 0 & B 18 /Y D0 T 15 45 & 5 KR

REATH(ZBEZ—F : 47%) °

HER S o

SANMTEETFRE, - B
=+—H HEAHE7,182,000% T (=
T —F 19014000 L) AREEA
743,000/ 7C( =& = —4F : 728,000/ 7C)

—T=-=

S N —
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22. BANK BORROWINGS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—#F=A=+—HILFE

22. SRITER

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Variable-rate, secured and guaranteed bank 22 - BRI L EERRT
borrowings, repayable within one year* B AR —FANEER" 21,009 4,889

* The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the

loan agreements.

The above variable-rate bank borrowings as at 31 March 2022
bear interests ranging from Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
("HIBOR") plus 1.8% to 2.0% per annum (2021: HIBOR plus 2.0%
to 2.75% per annum and Lender’'s Hong Kong Dollar Standard
Bill Rate minus 1.5% per annum).

The range of effective interest rates (which are also equal to
contracted interest rates) on the Group's borrowings is as follows:

* RIBRE R AP E AT BIE R A BE R -

R-ZE-_—FZA=+—H " LEilUZE
RITERENFERBRTAEREE
BRITEIERE L) IN.8%ZE2.0%8FF|
R(ZEZ—F: FERTERFEMN
2.0%ZE2.75%MEFE RERANBTE
HEEBR TR 5B FFE)FE ©

AEBREFOERME(TFER
R)BELWT -

np
25
=

2022 2021
—E__F B

CUCEIER
BRI

Effective interest rates per annum:
Variable-rate bank borrowings

1.9%-2.7% 2.3%-4.4%

As at 31 March 2022, the pledged bank deposits of HK$3,000,000
(2021: HK$8,000,000) have been pledged to secure the banking
facilities granted to the Group as set out in notes 19 and 31.

As at 31 March 2022, the aggregate carrying amount of bank
borrowings with a repayment on demand clause amounted to
HK$21,009,000 (2021: HK$4,889,000).
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e TR RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BZEZE—T-_—F=-H=+—HItFE

23. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 23. BEBIREEE
The following are the major deferred tax assets recognised and TRHEFINFARRBNETBREHIAE
movements thereon during the year: ENEEH :
Loss Loss
allowances  allowances Decelerated
Tax for trade  for contract tax
losses  receivables assets depreciation Total
B 5 WA BHEE R
BEARE BERE BERA BERE #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TAT TAT TAT THET
As at 1 April 2020 RZE-TFNA—H 2 131 = 153
Credit to profit or loss JISEEEIIN 26 52 147 225
As at 31 March 2021 RZF--45=A=1-H 48 183 147 378
Credit (charge) to profit or loss E@éﬁfﬁﬂ\@ﬂﬁ?) 3,819 15 @n 109 3,902
As at 31 March 2022 RZEZZE=A=1—H 3819 63 142 256 4,280

As at 31 March 2022, the Group has unused tax losses of
HK$23,148,000 available for offset against future profits.
A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
HK$23,148,000 of such losses. As at 31 March 2021, the Group

has no unused tax losses available for offsetting future profits.

24. SHARE CAPITAL

24.

The share capital as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 represented the

share capital of the Company.

R-—ZE-_—_F#=ZA=+—8  £5H
AHEHEARENO RS AREE
185231480008 7T - D S E B
23,148,000/ TTHERBELERIBEE - K=
T FZAZ+—H AEBEWTEX
EFFIAR B AR R IOEH)

[N
R-E-_—_FR_E-_—F=ZA=+—
H 8RR A AR R AR AN o

Shown in
consolidated
Number of financial
shares Amount statements as
RGBT
RHOEE K] ESE LTI
HK$ HK$'000
T FA&T
Ordinary share of HK$0.01 each &A%0.01ETTH)E B
Authorised: JETE
At 1 April 2020, 31 March RZZE-_TFWPA—H -
2021 and 31 March 2022 T —F=A=+—H
F_ZT__F=H
=+—H 10,000,000,000 100,000,000 N/A N3

BHRBEBRERERAR /| —E__FFRK

169



170

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—#F=A=+—HILFE

24. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

24, BBRA&(E)

Shown in
consolidated
Number of financial
shares Amount statements as
e
R EE ot wERAP IR
‘000 HK$ HK$'000
T BIT AT
Issued and paid: BEIT MR
At 1 April 2020 R-ZZE-TFMA—H 200 2 —#
Issue of shares pursuant to the  RIFE AL EITEITRR G
capitalisation issue (note a) GED) 1,499,999,800 14,999,998 15,000
Issue of shares pursuant to BB ARBEEETRND
the public offer (note b) (MEEb) 500,000,000 5,000,000 5,000
At 31 March 2021 and R-ZZE-—F=A=+—H
31 March 2022 M_ZT__—F=H
=+—H 2,000,000,000 20,000,000 20,000
# Less than HK$1,000 L DFN,0008 7T
Notes: MisT -
(a) The share premium account of the Company was credited as a result of the (a) ARARBMDBERAEA LT MERSHEE - A2

Listing, the Company capitalised an amount of HK$14,999,998 standing to
the credit of the share premium account of the Company and applied in
paying up in full at par a total of 1,499,999,800 shares for allotment and issue
to the shareholders of the Company on 15 April 2020.

(b) On 15 April 2020, the Company allotted and issued 500,000,000 new shares (b)
of par value of HK$0.01 each at offer price of HK$0.25 each, credited as fully

paid, pursuant to the public offer.

LOTUS HORIZON HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022

AHG AR B B9 5 B BR i BR 5 5814,999,998
BILERNE  THFRAEZEHREGH
1,499,999,800 4 f% 15 - MR =T =T &M A
THBEERETTFAARRE -

RZZ-TEWA+AAB » KAFREA
FREERREBER5B TR ERET
500,000,000% &A% FEI{E0.01 78 7T KO FT AR 1D (A
IRSIBHR) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BZEZE—T-_—F=-H=+—HItFE

25.

26.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group operates a MPF Scheme for all qualifying employees
in Hong Kong. The assets of the scheme are held separately from
those of the Group, in funds under the control of an independent
trustee. The Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs to the
scheme, which contribution is matched by employees but subject
to a maximum amount of HK$1,500 per month for each employee
to the scheme.

The total contributions to the MPF scheme charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are set out in notes 9 and 10.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

In order to provide incentives or rewards to participants of the
share option scheme including the directors of the Company
and eligible employees of the Group, the shareholders of the
Company passed an ordinary resolution at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 5 March 2020 to approve
the adoption of a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”). No share options were granted under the Share
Option Scheme since its adoption on 5 March 2020. The major
terms of the Share Option Scheme are summarised as follows:

(@) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide an
incentive or a reward to participants for their contribution
to the Group.

(b) Eligibility

Eligible participants include employees (any full-time or
part-time employees, including executive directors and
independent non-executive directors) and advisers and
consultants of the Group.

25.

26.

R EFETE
AEBAFEEBEAREENALE

S8 RHEHEERARENEE
AR BT EEALHOEHEE -

REE K& EHZEBEABRS%MALE
St BERETEMHRN ER AT ERE
Elﬂ’|,500/%7|: °

RiFEBRaEMEME2ERERTKRAR
e EIH RN EEI R0 -

BREsta
ARBRET BIN2 RE (BEAAAN

FELAEENAERIED) ST HDR
#) AAFREEAATR-E-F

FZARARTHORRBFRE LAB
—HEERRAR  AHERA—IEBR
rrel (I BRESTE])  -an=_F=%F
FZADARMBEIESTEIAK - B8
RIFREBE T 81 M B - B
T a8 E 25T T

(a) BRETEZBH
BRETEIZ B R AAKEE
HE R 2 BB T B 2R -

(b) &
RERZ2BREREAKEREE (&
wmERSRBES  BEATES
P IFMITES ) AR Mk
AN ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—#F=A=+—HILFE

26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Maximum number of shares

(c)

(d)

(i)

(iii)

The Company may not grant any options if the
number of shares exceeds 30% of the shares in issue
from time to time.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon
the exercise of all options to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and other schemes must not,
in aggregate, exceed 10% of the shares in issue as of
the listing date, 15 April 2020 (“Listing Date”). On the
basis of 2,000,000,000 shares in issue on the Listing
Date, the scheme mandate limit will be equivalent to
200,000,000 shares, representing 10% of the shares in
issue as of the Listing Date.

Subject to the approval of shareholders in general
meeting, the Company may refresh the scheme
mandate limit to the extent that the total number
of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and other schemes under the scheme
mandate limit as refreshed must not exceed 10% of
the shares in issue as of the date of such shareholders’
approval.

Period of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will be valid and effective for a

period of ten years commencing on the Listing Date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BZEZE—T-_—F=-H=+—HItFE

26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(e)

Maximum number of options to any one individual

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to a participant under the
Share Option Scheme and other share option schemes
(including both exercised and outstanding options) in
any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the shares
in issue from time to time. Where any further grant of
options to a participant (the “Further Grant”) would result
in the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
all options granted and to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and other share option schemes to such
participant (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) in the 12-month period up to and including the
date of the Further Grant representing in aggregate over
1% of the shares in issue from time to time, the Further
Grant must be separately approved by the shareholders of
the Company in general meeting with such participant and
his close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) (or his
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) if the participant is
a connected person) abstaining from voting.

In relation to the Further Grant, the Company must send a
circular to the shareholders and the circular must disclose
the identity of the relevant participant, the number and
the terms of the options to be granted (and options
previously granted to such participant under the Share
Option Scheme and other share option schemes) and
the information required under the Listing Rules. The
number and terms (including the exercise price) of options
to be granted to such participant must be fixed before
Company's shareholders’ approval and the date of meeting
of the board of directors of the Company for proposing
the Further Grant should be taken as the offer date for the
purpose of calculating the exercise price.

26. B RESHEI (@)

(e)

) R8BI A 1% HH B IR FE Y
A LR

PERN2E A BRE - RRIERERE
AR R EMBRE RS2 EER
HEBRE(BRETERARITE
B BTEMEBTRETE
TR AR - TRBBTRDE
TR B 1% © A 2 RERIMNE H
B R (AR ) 8 B 1218
AREEZEIINRL A (B2EZ
B)RREBRESE R EBER
RETERARSEERE B TE
LM EBRE(RERTE B
AR ARITER ) EITEME
BT TEITHRND - S HEB
T ERITAMEN1% - RIRRIME
VABARNABRRRBRRAE L5
T @ L2EENAETHE
ACEZER EmARAD) (HEBEA
(EERETRA)  WERSEE
REEANLT) BARRKRER -

SBIMRE T - AR R SERRK
REFZEL - MBRSERERR
SEENGN B TROBREZ

218 KA (R L ATAR R AR T
R EMBRE S MER2EE
Rz BiE) AR EWRAIR
EZEFR - ABR2EERTRH
ZIERHER B KGR (BREITEE)
JER AR R AL Z BIHEE ©
BERREZBINRENARTNESS
ERAMEMAETEEREREAR
RHBH -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—#F=A=+—HILFE

26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
(f) Payment on acceptance of the option
HK$1 is payable by the grantee to the Company on
acceptance of the share option offer. The share option offer
will be offered for acceptance for a period of 28 days from
the date on which the offer is granted.
(g) Subscription price for shares
The subscription price of a share in respect of any particular
option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be a
price determined by the board of directors of the Company
at least the higher of:

(i) the closing price of the shares; and

(i)  the average closing price of the shares for the five
consecutive business days immediately preceding the
offer date.

(h) The remaining life of the share option
8 years (expiring on 14 April 2030).

No options were granted, lapsed or exercised during the current
year and no share options were outstanding as at 31 March 2022
and 2021.

27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere
in the consolidated financial statements, the Group entered into
the following related party transactions:

The remuneration of key management personnel, including
executive directors of the Company and other key executives of
the Group, during the year is as follows:

26.

27.

BRESTE®)

() FREBRENTR
PR AR 0 A B 40 RS B ) R
ATZHUET - BRESHTR
1% B4 B ERAE T 28 R HART 0 T A
B o

A3 FRIBE

RIBREBEST SR W ERRER
PR BB D RB B R AR A
EXCEENER  EEREARS
TIMEFNRSE

(9)

() KEmE: &

(i) BORBEEZHE R AE
BEEFEANTHETHE -

BIRAEAVER T F 1
BE(R_ZF=FFNA+TAE
H) e

(h)

MEBRENAFERL - RAKIT
& TEERER-_ZF-__FK=F
——F=A=t—BHHEAKTE-

BB S R 5
BREARNBRRAMESHBENZS R
AN RAEEETTATHBARS -

TEERAR(BEAARSTESRA
£ A BATHA B ) RAE I 05 B
T

2022 2021

—EC-CF —E—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTET T

Short-term employee benefits SEE =R =T 9,589 9,158
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RINEFET B 145 116
9,734 9,274

The remuneration of key management personnel is determined
by the management of the Group having regard to the
performance of individuals and market trends.
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28.

29.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the group entities
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes lease liabilities and bank borrowings, net of cash
and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves as
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure
regularly. The Group considers the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital, and will balance its overall
capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share
issues as well as the raising of net debts or the repayment of the
existing debts.

28.

EXRERER

FEEEEEESR  DREEETES
AR S FIREIE BB AT R
WS BAREOR - AEEG L4
LR R I T o

AEBNEARARBERREERFE - 25t
BHERBNRRITESR  HIKRERR
SEHEEYVRARRHEEARGED (2
RAEVBRRAEENCBITRARE
)

AEEEEBTHRSEARRE - A%
BEBEARAREBEELAARNE
% WEBXMIE - BITHRMDIA KL
EREBFRAEERFEHTEORRE
BARRE -

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 29. €MT A
Categories of financial instruments LRI AER
2022 2021
—E-C—F =B
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT THET
Financial assets EREE
Financial assets at amortised cost REEA AT RN SR EE 78,681 110,905
Financial liabilities o N=L
Amortised cost BHEHR A 33,431 22,954
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and
other receivables, refundable rental deposits, pledged bank
deposits, bank balances and cash, trade and other payables,
lease liabilities and bank borrowings. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include market risk (including
currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk,
and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management of the Group manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on
a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

Currency risk

The functional currency of the group entities is HK$, the currency
in which most of the transactions are denominated. The carrying
amounts of the foreign currency denominated monetary liabilities
of the group entity at the end of the reporting period are
disclosed in note 20.

The management of the Group considers that the currency
risk of those monetary liabilities is not significant to the Group.
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.
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29. €M I B
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29.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

The Group is mainly exposed to fluctuation in exchange rate
of RMB against HK$. The following table details the Group's
sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in respective functional
currency (i.e. HK$) against the relevant foreign currency (i.e. RMB).
10% is the sensitivity rate used which represents the Group's
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change
in a foreign exchange rate. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items
and adjusts their translation at the year end for a 10% change
in a foreign currency rate. A positive number below indicates a
decrease in post-tax loss (2021: an increase in post-tax profit)
where HK$ strengthens 10% against RMB. For a 10% weakening
of HK$ against RMB, there would be an equal and opposite
impact on the post-tax loss (2021: post-tax profit) and the amount
below would be negative.

29. €M I B

MHREREEREREEE)

misEk(%E)

B (E)
AEBTEAT ARE LB ITHEXRK
BRER - TRFAANEERE BN
B (AN TT) SAAREINE (BDARYE) 7
ERAZE10%MEURE © 10%2H KRR
AEEEEBHERAEHR/ERZL
MRHERSREL X - REDSITER
BARBIMNEHEERIER - RERR
10%E RS FHEEHBE - TXH LR
RABTLAARETHE10%E - BRBREE
WM (ZFZ—F  BRREGFIEZM)
BT ARBRZEI0% - RIRTRER
(ZZF=—F  BRBREEN) B HEEE
BRANTZE  URTXHNERERE
2 -

2022
—E__F

2021
—E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000

FET THET

RMB against HK$ ARBHET

122 61

Interest rate risk

The cash flow interest rate risk relate primarily to the Group's
variable-rate bank borrowings which were linked to HIBOR,
Lender’s Standard Bill Rate and bank balances at the prevailing
market deposit rate. The Group is also exposed to fair value
interest rate risk in relation to the Group's fixed-rate pledged
bank deposits and lease liabilities. The Group currently does not
have an interest rate hedging policy. However, the management
of the Group monitors interest rate exposure and will consider
hedging significant interest rate exposure should the need arise.

/f/-‘?-?El/f-fe‘

i//mﬂtﬂ T EZERASEEFE
RITRAZERE - ERARERENXH
FAHF BIRTT B R RIZIB 1T T 57 5RA
KT BEVIRITHEERR © K%lﬁﬁﬁ%*ﬁﬁ%

AT ER - A A )
BHAREE - AT AEEERFER
FIRER LA B BB E R EAF
A o
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The management of the Group consider the Group's exposure of
bank balances to interest rate is not significant as interest bearing
bank balances are within short maturity period. The Group’s
sensitivity to interest rate risk had been determined based on
the exposure to interest rates for variable-rate bank borrowings
at the end of the reporting period. The analysis was prepared
assuming amount outstanding at the end of the reporting period
was outstanding for the whole year. The Group's sensitivity to
interest rate risk at the end of the reporting period while all other
variables were held constant is as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BZE=—T-_—F=-HA=+—HILFE

29. ERMTHA®)
HBEREERERBEEE)
A ()

FIEmpR ()

AEBERERS  AEEBETEBAH
HEOFIRARYTEX - A2 R
FREBEIEEE - AEENFIREAR
@@gam##ﬁiﬁxmguﬁﬁ1

RAEEBRMEE - RO HREN K
iﬁﬁﬁiﬂigﬁﬁﬁﬁiii@ﬂiﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ
o NATAHEMAIZRRRFTENE

T o AR B R R & B R R R &L 8
REEANT

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
Reasonably possible change in interest rate ~ FIRAIBAJEEH) 50 50

basis points basis points
{RIE AR, B RS
2022 2021
—E-CF B —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET AT
(Increase) decrease in post-tax loss for FRRTEER (G N) R
the year (2021: (decrease) increase in (Z2=—F : FAKRTIE
post-tax profit for the year) A R A ) 1)
— as a result of increase in interest rate —HBRFE A (88) (20)
— as a result of decrease in interest rate —HBRFIETRE 88 20

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause
a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an
obligation by the counterparties is arising from the carrying
amounts of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 29. €M I B

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers and
contract assets

As at 31 March 2022, the Group has concentration of credit
risk on trade receivables as 68% (2021: 36%) of the total trade
receivables was due from the Group's largest customer and 94%
(2021: 62%) of the total trade receivables were due from the
Group's five largest customers.

The management of the Group has made periodic assessment
as well as individual assessment on recoverability of trade
receivables and contract assets based on historical settlement
records and adjusted for forward-looking information. In
determining the lifetime ECL for trade receivables and contract
assets, the management of the Group has taken into account the
historical default experience and forward-looking information,
as appropriate. Details of the impairment assessment on trade
receivables and contract assets are set out in note 18.

The directors of the Company manages the credit risk of trade
receivables arising from contracts with customers and contract
assets by closely monitoring the instalment settlement prior to
dates close to each agreed settlement dates, and obtaining the
credit-related information about the customer. Before the end
of the reporting period, through continuous dialogue with the
customer, the Group has been informed the delay in payments
for the instalments due in the coming twelve months. At the
same time, in order to minimise the credit loss to the Group, the
Group has prepared to take legal action against such customer to
recover the overdue amounts. Therefore, the Group recognised
an impairment loss of approximately HK$6,655,000 in respect of
the entire balance of trade receivables and retention receivables
due from a customer as at 31 March 2022.
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WAEBRAEFHRIE  AEAEEN
B SR GEEERBRES -

AEEEEBENBEGECITE T
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers and
contract assets (Continued)

The delay in payment is caused by the significant change in the
Hong Kong market resulting in a significant financial difficulty
faced by the customer and therefore, the trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers and contract assets is regarded as
default. Therefore, ECL is measured on a lifetime credit-impaired
basis. The measurement of ECL of trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers and contract assets is determined
based on the expectation of cash flows to be recovered from
the customer. In this process, the management has taken into
account quantitative and qualitative information that are specific
to the customer, including macroeconomic factors which are
relevant to the customer’s operations that could significantly
affect the customer’s ability to fulfill its repayment obligations.

Other receivables
Details of the impairment assessment on other receivables
(including refundable rental deposits) are set out in note 16.

Pledged bank deposits and bank balances

The management of the Group considers the bank balances that
are deposited with financial institutions with high credit rating to
be low credit risk financial assets. The management of the Group
considers the probability of default is negligible and accordingly,
no loss allowance is recognised.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by the management of the Group to finance the Group's
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.
The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant source
of liquidity and the management of the Group monitors the
utilisation of bank borrowings and ensure compliance with loan
covenants. The Group’s management believes that the Group
will have sufficient working capital for its future operational
requirement.
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The table below details the Group’s and the Company’s
remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up to reflect the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the
earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.
Specifically, bank borrowings with a repayment on demand
clause are included in the earliest time band regardless of the
probability of the banks choosing to exercise their rights. The
maturity date for other non-derivative financial liabilities are
based on the agreed repayment dates. The table includes both
interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest

29.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—F=A=+—HIFE

E€WMITHE)
R EEEERBERE)

RBETERE(E)

TRAFBANEERARBITESRA
BEHRTANIHER - TRRREBA
BEARBRRESRE - ANREBEAKER
RANRNKRFRHEEL - AEME -
P 7 422 B SRABUE IRV IRTT IR GH AR
BEREA > TWwiRITES A RETE
Higd - HETA M B ENIHA
BUAMENERBMRE - TREEH
BRAERERE - WHNERERZ
B REREBARIRE RS HROF

o

C

P

flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from
interest rate at the end of the reporting period.

More than
Weighted  On demand 3 months Total
average  or less than but less than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 3 months 1 year 1-5years  cash flows amount
it S22 RERY, HEB=fEA REH
HME  ORZER EIR-F —ELE BERELE SREE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% THL TAL TAL TAL TAL
Non-derivative financial liabilities JEfT4£¢BERE

At 31 March 2022 RZE-=F=A=+—-H
Trade and other payables 5 RAMEMNTE N/A TR 10,631 580 1,211 12,422 12,422
Bank borrowings RITER 2.2 21,009 - - 21,009 21,009
Lease liabilities HEAR 47 676 2,000 5,966 8,642 8,024
32,316 2,580 1171 42,073 41,455

Non-derivative financial liabilities ##74 &R & &

At 31 March 2021 W-ZE-—%=ZA=+-H
Trade and other payables BHRHEMENTE N/A R 15,072 1,505 1,488 18,065 18,065
Bank borrowings RITHER 31 4,889 - - 4,889 4,889
Lease liabilities HERR 47 656 1,964 8510 11,130 10,098
20,617 3,469 9,998 34,084 33,052
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the “on demand or less than 3 months” time band in
the above maturity analysis. As at 31 March 2022, the aggregate
carrying amounts of these bank borrowings amounted to
HK$21,009,000 (2021: HK$4,889,000). Taking into account the
Group's financial position, the management of the Group does
not believe that it is probable that the banks will exercise their
discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. The
management of the Group believes that such bank borrowings
will be repaid in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates
set out in the loan agreements.

For the purpose of managing liquidity risk, the management of
the Group reviews the expected cash flow information of the
Group's variable-rate bank borrowings as at 31 March 2022 and
2021 based on the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements as set out in the table below:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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MHREREEREREEE)

/JIbE}]ﬁﬁHFﬁ(f&)

MEZREREZBGRARNBITERGTAL
‘ﬂ%E”WWﬂﬁgiiém:MHJ
B R —_F=ZA=+—"H %
ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁM$E@@%mowom%ﬁ
T —4F 1 4,889,00087T) - EEE
K?‘%lﬁ’]ﬁﬁiﬂk/ﬂ ZKE.EEEFHL/\
RITETHFEREREONERZKAEER
MEERK  AEEEERERE %5
ﬁﬁ%#%ﬁﬁg Kk PTE A E BN
HEAMEER

fNa

REERDECRAR  AEEEEER
RERXBEAHBEETERBREHA
SER_FT-__FR-_FT-_—F=A
=+t HHFERITEFEFRERE
B AN TR

Weighted Total Total
average Less than 3 months undiscounted carrying
interest rate 1month  1-3 months to1year  cash flows amount
AR
nEFERE  AR-BR -ZE=@A ZEAZ-F RENELE | BEAE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn
Variable-rate bank borrowings  FEBTHEH
As at 31 March 2022 RZB--#=A=1-H 2.2 8,277 9,649 3,193 21,119 21,009
As at 31 March 2021 RZZZ-F=A=1-H 3.1 4915 - 4915 4,889

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments
for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to change if
changes in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of
interest rates determined at the end of the reporting period.

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

The management of the Group considers that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and liabilities recorded at amortised
cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate their
fair values at the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—F=A=+—HIFE

30. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising
from financing activities including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in
the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows
from or used in financing activities.

Bank Leases
borrowings liabilities
BiTER  HEERR
HK$'000 HK$'000

30.

BMEEBMELRBEIHR

TREMAEEREEDHELRES
£H(RERSRABLED) - WEF
B ELEHARSNE R RRICR
SHERRAEARARSHERRE

RABERPMBIMARSRENAE -

Accrued

interest Dividend Accrued

expenses payable issue costs Total
s RISER EARE FESR{TAA At

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Tin Tin T TiHn THr T
At 1 April 2020 RZE-ZFNA—-AH 34,582 2,863 135 - 1,370 38,950
Financing cash flows HERERE (29,693) (2,221) (576) (10,000) (22,147) (64,637)
Dividends recognised RED AR
as distribution = = = 10,000 = 10,000
Interest expenses FERY = 490 462 = = 952
Recognition of new leases BAHEE = 11,440 = = = 11,440
Early termination of lease contracts 2P ILHERH = (2,474 = = = (2.474)
Issue cost accrued JESHE1TAR - - - - 20,777 20777
At 31 March 2021 W-E-_—%=R=+-H 4,889 10,098 2 - - 15,008
Financing cash flows BERLRE 16,120 2.718) (326) (20,000) - (6,924)
Dividends recognised BRARDRNRE
as distribution = = = 20,000 = 20,000
Interest expenses FERY = 423 306 = = 729
Recognition of new leases RHHE = 21 = = = 21
At 31 March 2022 R-E-—E=A=+-H 21,009 8,024 1 - - 29,034
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183



184

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z—ZE_-_—#F=A=+—HILFE

31.

32.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2022, the pledged bank deposits of HK$10,776,000
(2021: HK$18,488,000) have been pledged to secure the banking
facilities granted to the Group and surety bonds of an aggregate
balance of HK$7,102,000 (2021: HK$10,488,000) given by banks as
disclosed in notes 19, 22 and 32.

As at 31 March 2022, the lease liabilities of HK$7,182,000 (2021:
HK$9,014,000) are secured by rental deposits with carrying values
of HK$743,000 (2021:HK$728,000) as set out in note 21.

PERFORMANCE GUARANTEES

As at 31 March 2022, surety bonds of an aggregate balance of
HK$7,102,000 (2021: HK$10,488,000) were given by a bank in
favour of the Group's customers as security for the performance
and observance of the Group's obligations under the construction
contracts entered into between the Group and the customers.
If the Group fails to provide satisfactory performance to the
customers to whom the performance guarantees have been
given, such customers may demand the bank to pay to them the
sum or sum stipulated in such demand. The Group will become
liable to compensate such bank accordingly. The performance
guarantees will be released upon completion of the contract
works. The performance guarantees were granted under letters
of guarantees of the Group and were secured by the Group's
pledged bank deposits of HK$7,776,000 (2021: HK$10,488,000).

As at 31 March 2022, the Company provided a guarantee (the
“Parent Company Guarantee”) for the performance of all
obligations and liabilities of a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company (the “Sub-Contract Subsidiary”) under a construction
contract (the “Sub-Contract”) entered into between the Sub-
Contract Subsidiary and the contractor (the “Main Contractor”)
of the Sub-Contract. The maximum liability of the Company
under the Parent Company Guarantee shall be limited to
HK$22,830,000, which is approximately 10.0% of the contract
sum of the Sub-Contract. The Parent Company Guarantee will be
released upon the date of completion stated in the certificate of
completion in accordance with the main contract signed between
the Main Contractor and the employer of the Main Contractor.

The management of the Group does not consider it is probable

that a claim will be made against the Group in respect of the
above performance guarantees.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BZEZE—T-_—F=-H=+—HItFE

33. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 33. TEHBERS
During the year ended 31 March 2022, right-of-use assets with a BE_T__F=-A=+—HILFE -
total capital value of HK$221,000 (2021: HK$12,190,000), with the EHRREREER221,0008T(ZF = —
corresponding amount of lease liabilities of HK$221,000 (2021: 112,190,000 7T) K F REEE - 18
lease liabilities of HK$11,440,000 and provision of reinstatement EHEEEESFEA221,0008 T(ZE=—
costs of HK$750,000) were recognised. & AE A E11,440,0007 7T M 1B R AL A
F&485750,00078 7T ) °
34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 34. X T BBARR &K
THE COMPANY
2022 2021
—E-C—F T4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Non-current assets EMBNEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—ENERARRE 1 1
Amount due from a subsidiary FEU— IR B A R RIE 28,000 28,000
28,001 28,001
Current assets MENEE
Other receivables E fib e U kI8 1,572 2,892
Amount due from a subsidiary FEW—RIM B A RIFIA 73,084 94,841
Bank balances and cash IRITEBR RS 272 392
74,928 98,125
Current liabilities mEEE
Other payables H A e FIR 83 306
Amounts due to a subsidiary JE A — BT B & R IE 1 1
84 307
Net current assets MENEEFE 74,844 97,818
Net assets BEFE 102,845 125,819
Capital and reserves BAR R
Share capital (note 24) A& AR (B 5E24) 20,000 20,000
Reserves S 82,845 105,819
Total equity HEmERR 102,845 125,819
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BZE=—T-_—F=-HA=+—HILFE

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 34. KRB ARR TR @)
THE COMPANY (Continued)

Movement in the Company's reserves: RARIEEES
Share Retained
premium profits Total
R4 51E R B m A st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHET FHET
At 1 April 2020 N_ZE_FFMHA—H - 11,186 11,186
Profit and total comprehensive & P FI| I 2 AU S 4258
income for the year - 25,414 25,414
Dividends recognised as HRAD RS (FFFE12)
distribution (note 12) = (10,000) (10,000)
Issue of new shares BT GD 120,000 = 120,000
Capitalisation issues (note 24)  &EA{bZ77(Hi3E24) (15,000) = (15,000)
Share issuance costs f& (7B 1 TR AN (25,781) = (25,781)
At 31 March 2021 RZZEZ—F=H=+—H 79,219 26,600 105,819
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FREIE R ZHEF L BEE
expense for the year = (2,974) (2,974)
Dividends recognised as HRAD RS (FIFE12)
distribution (note 12) = (20,000) (20,000)
At 31 March 2022 R-_T__F=A=+—H 79,219 3,626 82,845
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e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &

E= S

35. PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company'’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2022 and

2021 are as follows:

F=A=1t—HILFE

35. MEBARFHE

R_E - R T —F=ZA=+—

A - AR TONBRFESHT :

Place and Issued and
date of Place of fully paid Equity interests
Name of subsidiary incorporation operation share capital attributable to the Group  Principal activities
WELARER EMETEERAS SEnH BRTRMRERE REEEERE IERRRED
2022 2021
—EC-CE “E--F
% %
Directly held:
ERKA:
Plateau Star Limited BVI Hong Kong US$100 100 100 Investment holding
3May 2018
Plateau Star Limited EREMREE B 100 7T RERR
—Z-/\#RA=A
Indirectly held:
BEER
ICGL Hong Kong Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100 100 Design, supply and installation
4 May 2007 services of fagade works and
building metal finishing works
hRER &R &R 10,000,000 7T SMETRREESBHE Lz
“ZZLFhAMA et~ HERZERS
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the RImER - BEMBARBBEITEM
end of the reporting period. BIES °
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Financial Summary

MBGHE

A BB 5 A A B B S B (8%
B ARERRBRER)BIIMT -

The financial summary of the Group for the last five financial years,
as extracted from this annual report and the Prospectus, is set forth

below.
CONSOLIDATED RESULTS me¥E
2022 2021 2019 2018 2017
—ECCF D2 —F ZE2-NF ZT)N\F ZZT—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FATT FAT T FAT
Revenue g 223,991 220,788 243,453 202,786 166,751
Gross profit EF 2,473 50,373 70,958 61,784 50,778
(Loss)/profit before taxation BrFiAT(E1E) 5 (26,600) 25,954 43,398 44,996 38,961
Income tax credit (expense)  FTEHR%E (FAX) 3,944 (4,218) (9,240) (8,5006) (6,4006)
(Loss)/profit and total FR(EE),SE5F &
comprehensive (expense) 2HE (M) WmiEsE
income for the year (22,696) 21,736 34,158 36,490 32,555
CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HEEEREAEE
2022 2021 2019 2018 2017
ZBIZF T2 —T-hEF ZE)N\F ZZT—LF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FA&T FAT FH&T FAT
Total assets WEE 175,688 210,244 125,029 104,144 44,676
Total liabilities BveE 45,125 37,025 62,765 76,038 26,709
Total equity i e 130,563 173,219 62,264 28,106 17,967
Notes: BE -
1. The summary of the consolidated results and financial position of the Group for the 1. AERHE_Z—NF - T \ER_ZT—+F=

years ended 31 March 2019, 2018 and 2017 are extracted from the Prospectus. A=+—RIFENGEEE MBI E TR

BIERER -

2. The summary above does not form part of the audited consolidated financial 2.
statements.

B ED TEREERGAPERERN—HD
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